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The management of Canadian Imperial Bank of 
Commerce (CIBC) is responsible for the preparation 
of the Annual Accountability Report, which 
includes the consolidated fi nancial statements and 
management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), and 
for the timeliness and reliability of the information 
disclosed. The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles as well as 
the requirements of the Bank Act (Canada). The 
MD&A has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of applicable securities laws.

The consolidated financial statements and 
MD&A, of necessity, contain items that refl ect the 
best estimates and judgments of the expected effects 
of current events and transactions with appropriate 
consideration to materiality. All fi nancial information 
appearing throughout the Annual Accountability 
Report is consistent with that in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements.

Management has developed and maintains 
effective systems, controls and procedures to ensure 
that information used internally and disclosed 
externally is reliable and timely. During the past 
year, we have continued to improve, document 
and test the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control over external financial reporting. 
The results of our work have been subjected to 
audit by the shareholders’ auditors. As at year-
end, we have determined that internal control 
over fi nancial reporting is effective and CIBC has 
achieved compliance with the requirements set by 
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
under Section 404 of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
(SOX). In compliance with Section 302 of SOX, 
CIBC’s Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial 
Officer provide to the SEC a certification related 
to CIBC’s annual disclosure document in the U.S. 
(Form 40-F). The same certifi cation is provided to the 

Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) pursuant to 
Multilateral Instrument 52-109.

The Chief Auditor and his staff review and report 
on CIBC’s internal controls, including computerized 
information system controls and security, the overall 
control environment, and accounting and fi nancial 
controls. The Chief Auditor has full and independent 
access to the Audit Committee.

The Board of Directors oversees management’s 
responsibilities for fi nancial reporting through the 
Audit Committee, which is composed of directors 
who are not officers or employees of CIBC. The 
Audit Committee reviews CIBC’s interim and annual 
consolidated fi nancial statements and MD&A and 
recommends them for approval by the Board of 
Directors. Other key responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee include monitoring CIBC’s system 
of internal control, monitoring its compliance 
with legal and regulatory requirements, selecting 
the shareholders’ auditors and reviewing the 
qualifi cations, independence and performance of 
shareholders’ auditors and internal auditors.

Ernst & Young LLP, the shareholders’ auditors, 
obtain an understanding of CIBC’s internal controls 
and procedures for fi nancial reporting to plan and 
conduct such tests and other audit procedures as 
they consider necessary in the circumstances to 
express their opinions in the reports that follow. The 
shareholders’ auditors have full and independent 
access to the Audit Committee to discuss their audit 
and related matters.

The Offi ce of the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions (OSFI), Canada, examines and enquires 
into the business and affairs of CIBC as deemed 
necessary to ensure that the provisions of the Bank Act 
(Canada), having reference to the safety of depositors 
and creditors of CIBC, are being duly observed and 
that CIBC is in sound fi nancial condition.

 Financial Reporting Responsibility

Gerald T. McCaughey Tom D. Woods
President and Chief Executive Offi cer Chief Financial Offi cer December 5, 2007
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We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of 
Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC) as at 
October 31, 2007 and 2006 and the consolidated 
statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ 
equity, comprehensive income and cash fl ows for 
each of the years in the three year period ended 
October 31, 2007. These financial statements 
are the responsibility of CIBC’s management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
fi nancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and 
the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
fi nancial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
fi nancial position of CIBC as at October 31, 2007 
and 2006 and the results of its operations and its 
cash fl ows for each of the years in the three year 
period ended October 31, 2007 in conformity with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated 
fi nancial statements, in fi scal 2007, CIBC adopted 
the requirements of the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants     Handbook, Section 1530 
“Comprehensive Income”, Section 3251 “Equity”, 
Section 3855 “Financial Instruments – Recognition 
and Measurement”, Section 3861 “Financial 
Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation”, and 
Section 3865 “Hedges”.

We have also audited, in accordance with 
the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness 
of CIBC’s internal control over fi nancial reporting as 
of October 31, 2007, based on criteria established 
in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
December 5, 2007 expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon.

Independent Auditors’ Reports to Shareholders

Report on Financial Statements

Ernst & Young LLP
Chartered Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada
December 5, 2007
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We have audited Canadian Imperial Bank of 
Commerce’s (CIBC) internal control over financial 
reporting as at October 31, 2007, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). CIBC’s 
management is responsible for maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
fi nancial reporting included on page 79 of this Annual 
Accountability Report. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on CIBC’s internal control over fi nancial 
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over fi nancial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining 
an understanding of internal control over fi nancial 
reporting, assessing the risk that material weakness 
exists, testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures 
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial 
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of fi nancial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over fi nancial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 

records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
refl ect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of fi nancial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the fi nancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal 
control over financial reporting may not prevent 
or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods 
are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or 
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, CIBC maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of October 31, 2007 based on the 
COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and 
the standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheets of CIBC as at October 31, 2007 and 
2006 and the consolidated statements of operations, 
changes in shareholders’ equity, comprehensive 
income and cash fl ows for each of the years in the 
three year period ended October 31, 2007 and 
our report dated December 5, 2007 expressed an 
unqualifi ed opinion thereon.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Ernst & Young LLP
Chartered Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
Toronto, Canada
December 5, 2007
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheet

 $ millions, as at October 31  2007  2006

ASSETS
Cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with banks  $  1,457  $ 1,317 

Interest-bearing deposits with banks   12,290   10,536

Securities  (Note  4)     
Trading  (Note 1 2)   58,779   62,331
Available-for-sale (AFS)   17,430   n/a
Designated at fair value (FVO)  (Note 1 3)   10,291   n/a
Investment   n/a   21,167

   86,500   83,498

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements   34,020   25,432

Loans  (Note  5)     
Residential mortgages   91,664   81,358
Personal   29,213   28,052
Credit card   9,121   7,253
Business and government  (Notes 1 2 and 1 3)   34,099   30,404
Allowance for credit losses   (1,443)   (1,442)

   162,654   145,625
Other     
Derivative instruments  (Note  14)   24,075   17,122
Customers’ liability under acceptances   8,024   6,291
Land, buildings and equipment  (Note  7)   1,978   2,032
Goodwill  (Note  8)   1,847   982
Other intangible assets  (Note  8)   406   192
Other assets  (Note  9)   8,927   10,957

   45,257   37,576

 $  342,178  $ 303,984 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
Deposits  (Note  10)  
Personal  $  91,772  $ 81,829 
Business and government  (Note 1 3)   125,878   107,468
Bank   14,022   13,594

   231,672   202,891
Other  
Derivative instruments  (Note  14)   26,688   17,330
Acceptances   8,249   6,297
Obligations related to securities sold short  (Notes 1 2 and 1 3)   13,137   13,788
Obligations related to securities lent or sold under repurchase agreements   28,944   30,433
Other liabilities  (Note 1 1)   13,728   14,716

   90,746   82,564

Subordinated indebtedness  (Note 1 6)   5,526   5,595

Preferred share liabilities  (Note 1 7)   600   600

Non-controlling interests   145   12

Shareholders’ equity  
Preferred shares  (Note 1 7)   2,331   2,381
Common shares  (Note 1 7)   3,133   3,064
Treasury shares   4   (19)
Contributed surplus   96   70
Retained earnings   9,017   7,268
Accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI)  (Note 1 8)   (1,092)   (442)

   13,489   12,322

 $  342,178  $ 303,984 

n/a  Not applicable. Beginning November 1, 2006, certain new accounting categories have been created pursuant to adoption of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) handbook sections 
3855, 3865, 1530, 3251 and 3861. These sections were adopted on a prospective basis with no restatement of prior year information, apart from foreign currency translation adjustments, which were 
reclassifi ed to AOCI for prior years. See Note 1 for additional details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.

Gerald T. McCaughey Gary F. Colter
President and Chief Executive Offi cer Director
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 Consolidated Statement of Operations

 $ millions, for the year ended October 31  2007  2006  2005

Interest income
Loans  $  9,738  $ 8,526  $ 7,640
Securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements    2,131   1,568   1,107
Securities    3,105   2,745   2,173
Deposits with banks    807   430   336

   15,781   13,269   11,256

Interest expense      
Deposits    8,050   6,105   4,346
Other liabilities    2,838   2,398   1,668
Subordinated indebtedness    304   300   239
Preferred share liabilities  (Note 1 7)    31   31   66

   11,223   8,834   6,319

Net interest income    4,558   4,435   4,937

Non-interest income
Underwriting and advisory fees    745   619   730
Deposit and payment fees    791   778   794
Credit fees    287   334   343
Card fees    270   251   317
Investment management and custodial fees    535   479   420
Mutual fund fees    872   799   739
Insurance fees, net of claims    234   224   212
Commissions on securities transactions    875   869   912
Trading revenue  (Note 1 2)    328   1,129   801
Investment securities gains, net  (Note  4)   n/a   71   601
AFS securities gains, net  (Note  4)    521   n/a   n/a
    FVO  revenue  (Note 1 3)    156   n/a   n/a
Income from securitized assets    489   484   338
Foreign exchange other than trading    390   300   555
Other    1,015   579   799

   7,508   6,916   7,561

Total revenue    12,066   11,351   12,498

Provision for credit losses  (Note  5)    603   548   706

Non-interest expenses
Employee compensation and benefi ts    4,392   4,288   4,324
Occupancy costs    602   562   641
Computer and offi ce equipment    1,104   1,111   1,166
Communications    317   297   324
Advertising and business development    246   222   260
Professional fees    178   163   325
Business and capital taxes    137   135   118
Other    636   710   3,707

   7,612   7,488   10,865

Income before income taxes and non-controlling interests    3,851   3,315   927
Income tax expense  (Note  22)    524   640   789

   3,327   2,675   138

Non-controlling interests    31   29   170

Net income (loss)  $  3,296  $ 2,646  $ (32)

Earnings (loss) per share  (in dollars) (Note 2 3) – Basic  $  9.30  $ 7.50  $ (0.46)
 – Diluted  $  9.21  $ 7.43  $ (0.46)
Dividends per common share  (in dollars) (Note 1 7)  $  3.11  $ 2.76  $ 2.66

n/a Not applicable. See the “Consolidated balance sheet” for additional details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Shares Amount
$ millions, except number of shares, 
for the year ended October 31  2007  2006  2005  2007  2006  2005

Preferred shares  (Note 1 7)

Balance at beginning of year  $ 2,381  $ 2,381  $ 1,783
Issue of preferred shares   750   –   731
Redemption of preferred shares   (800)   –   –
Conversion of preferred shares    –   –   (133)
Balance at end of year  $ 2,3 31  $ 2,381  $ 2,381

Common shares  (Note 1 7)   
Balance at beginning of year  336,276,806  334,014,638  347,350,531  $ 3,064  $ 2,952  $ 2,958
Issue of common shares  1,753,648  2,262,168  2,866,907   98   112   134
Purchase of common shares for cancellation  (3,073,500) –  (16,202,800)   (29)   –   (140)
Balance at end of year   334,956,954  336,276,806  334,014,638  $ 3, 133  $ 3,064  $ 2,952

Treasury shares
Balance at beginning of year  (300,159)  (7,012)  137,941  $ (19)  $ –  $ 11
Purchases  (62,971,050)  (44,923,755)  (85,945,976)   (6,070)   (3,429)   (5,924)
Sales  63,302,834  44,630,608  85,801,023   6,093   3,410   5,913
Balance at end of year   31,625  (300,159)  (7,012)  $  4  $ (19)  $ –

Contributed surplus  
Balance at beginning of year  $ 70  $ 58  $ 59
Stock option expense   4   6   8
Stock options exercised   (8)   (9)   (9)
Net premium on treasury shares and other   30   15   –
Balance at end of year  $  96  $ 70  $ 58

Retained earnings
Balance at beginning of year, 

as previously reported  $ 7,268  $ 5,667  $ 7,745
Adjustment for change in accounting policies    (50) (1)   –   10(2)

Balance at beginning of year, as restated   7,2 18   5,667   7,755
Net income (loss)   3,296   2,646   (32)
Dividends  (Note 1 7)   (1,183)   (1,056)   (1,027)
Premium on redemption of preferred shares 

classifi ed as equity    (32)   –   –
Premium on purchase of common shares

for cancellation   (277)   –   (1,035)
Other   (5)   11   6
Balance at end of year  $  9,017  $ 7,268  $ 5,667
A OCI, net of tax  (Note 1 8)   
Balance at beginning of year(3)  $ (442)  $ (327)  $ (376)
Adjustment for change in accounting policies(1)    123   –   –
Other comprehensive  (loss) income   (773)   (115)   49
Balance at end of year  $ ( 1,092)  $ (442)  $ (327)

Retained earnings and AOCI  $  7,925  $ 6,826  $ 5,340
Shareholders’ equity at end of year  $  13,489  $ 12,322  $ 10,731

(1) Represents the transitional adjustment on adoption of the CICA handbook sections 3855, 3865, 1530 and 3251. See Note 1 for additional details.
(2) Represents the effect of implementing the CICA Accounting Guideline (AcG) 15, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”.
(3)  The opening balance for the years ended October 31, 2006 and 2005 represent the net foreign currency translation adjustments. These balances were reclassifi ed to AOCI in accordance with the new 

CICA handbook section 3251.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

$ millions, for the year ended October 31  2007  2006  2005

Net income (loss)  $  3,296  $ 2,646  $ (32)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI), net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Net (losses) gains on investment in self-sustaining foreign operations   (2,924)   (676)   585
Net gains (losses) on hedges of foreign currency translation adjustments   2,279   561   (536)

   (645)   (115)   49

Net change in AFS securities
Net unrealized gains on AFS securities   42   n/a   n/a
Transfer of net gains to net income   (79)   n/a   n/a

   (37)   n/a   n/a

Net change in cash fl ow hedges
Net losses on derivatives designated as cash fl ow hedges   (133)   n/a   n/a
Net losses on derivatives designated as cash fl ow hedges transferred to net income   42   n/a   n/a

   (91)   n/a   n/a

Total other comprehensive income (loss)(1)    (773)   (115)   49
Comprehensive income  $  2,523  $ 2,531  $ 17

(1) Includes non-controlling interest of $1 million (2006: nil; 2005: nil).
n/a Not applicable. See the “Consolidated balance sheet” for additional details.

Consolidated Financial Statements

The income tax (expense) benefi t allocated to each component of other comprehensive income is presented in the table below:

$ millions, for the year ended October 31  2007  2006  2005

Foreign currency translation adjustments
Changes on investment in self-sustaining foreign operations  $  6  $ 9  $ (81)
Changes on hedges of foreign currency translation adjustments   (1,123)   (277)   201

Net change in AFS securities   
Net unrealized gains on AFS securities   (30)   n/a   n/a
Transfer of net gains to net income   39   n/a   n/a

Net change in cash fl ow hedges   
Changes on derivatives designated as cash fl ow hedges   71   n/a   n/a
Changes on derivatives designated as cash fl ow hedges transferred to net income   (22)   n/a   n/a

 $  (1,059)  $ (268)  $ 120

n/a Not applicable. See the “Consolidated balance sheet” for additional details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

 $ millions, for the year ended October 31  2007  2006  2005
Cash fl ows provided by (used in) operating activities    
Net income (loss)   $  3,296  $ 2,646  $ (32)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash fl ows provided by (used in) operating activities:    

Provision for credit losses   603   548   706
Amortization of buildings, furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements   214   206   214
Amortization of other intangible assets   39   29   12
Stock-based compensation   20   30   5
Future income taxes   346   356   252
AFS/investment securities gains, net   (521)   (71)   (601)
Gains on divestitures   –   –   (115)
Losses ( gains)  on disposal of land, buildings and equipment   1   –   (8)
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities       

Accrued interest receivable   (88)   (203)   21
Accrued interest payable   (311)   542   393
Amounts receivable on derivative contracts   (6,774)   3,187   3,404
Amounts payable on derivative contracts   9,147   (2,798)   (3,900)
Net change in trading securities   5,096   (8,909)   (259)
Net change in FVO securities   (3,951)    n/a   n/a 
Net change in other FVO assets and liabilities   (811)    n/a   n/a 
Current income taxes   (963)   181   173
Other, net   (777)   (2,714)   (398)

   4,566   (6,970)   (133)
Cash fl ows provided by (used in) fi nancing activities
Deposits, net of withdrawals   16,243   10,157   2,157
Obligations related to securities sold short   (1,187)   (1,095)   2,663
Net obligations related to securities lent or sold under repurchase agreements   (1,489)   16,108   (2,465)
Issue of subordinated indebtedness   347   1,300   1,300
Redemption/repurchase of subordinated indebtedness   (537)   (770)   (65)
Issue of preferred shares   750   –   598(1)

Redemption of preferred shares   (832)    –   (445)
Issue of common shares   98   112   134
Purchase of common shares for cancellation   (306)    –   (1,175)
Net proceeds from treasury shares  sold (purchased)   23   (19)   (11)
Dividends   (1,183)   (1,056)   (1,027)
Other, net   (226)   489   282

   11,701   25,226   1,946
Cash fl ows provided by (used in) investing activities
Interest-bearing deposits with banks   970   6   287
Loans, net of repayments   (15,304)   (12,933)   (13,927)
Proceeds from securitizations   7,309   8,549   10,187
Purchase of AFS/investment securities   (11,038)   (15,593)   (8,238)
Proceeds from sale of AFS/investment securities   7,526   6,095   7,162
Proceeds from maturity of AFS/investment securities   4,354   2,744   2,894
Net securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements   (8,588)   (6,918)   (349)
Proceeds from divestitures   –   –   347
Net cash used in acquisition(2)   (1,040)   (75)   – 
Purchase of land, buildings and equipment   (247)   (110)   (263)
Proceeds from disposal of land, buildings and equipment   1   8   28

   (16,057)   (18,227)   (1,872)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with banks   (70)   (22)   (5)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with banks 

during year    140   7   (64)
Cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with banks at beginning of year   1,317   1,310   1,374
Cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with banks at end of year  $ 1, 457  $ 1,317  $ 1,310 
Cash interest paid  $  11,534  $ 8,292  $ 5,926 
Cash income taxes paid  $  1,140  $ 103  $ 364 

(1)  Includes issue of $331 million Class A Series 29 Preferred Shares (consisting of $133 million conversion of Class A Series 28 Preferred Shares and $198 million in cash on exercise of Series 29 Purchase Warrants).
(2) Primarily relates to acquisition of FirstCaribbean International Bank and acquisition of the remaining non-controlling interest in INTRIA Items Inc.
n/a Not applicable. See the “Consolidated balance sheet” for additional details.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fi nancial statements.
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC), including its subsidiaries 
prepares its consolidated fi nancial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

A reconciliation of the impact on assets, liabilities, shareholders’ 
equity, net income and other comprehensive income (OCI) arising 
from differences between Canadian and U.S. GAAP is provided in 
Note 28.

The following paragraphs describe our signifi cant accounting 
policies, including the changes to our accounting policies effective 
November 1, 2006, upon the adoption of the CICA handbook sections 
3855 “Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”, 
3865 “Hedges”, 1530 “Comprehensive Income”, 3251 “Equity”, 
and 3861 “Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation”.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements include the assets, liabilities, 
results of operations and cash fl ows of all subsidiaries and variable 
interest entities (VIEs) for which we are  considered to be the primary 
beneficiary. A primary beneficiary is the enterprise that absorbs 
a majority of the VIEs expected losses or receives a majority of the 
VIEs expected residual returns, or both. Inter-company balances and 
transactions are eliminated. Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 
and consolidated VIEs are included as a separate line item on the 
consolidated balance sheet and statement of operations.

An entity is a VIE if it does not have suffi cient equity at risk 
to permit it to fi nance its activities without additional subordinated 
financial support, or in which equity investors do not have the 
characteristics of a controlling fi nancial interest. The VIE guidelines 
also exempt certain entities from its scope including qualifi ed special 
purpose entities (QSPEs).

Investments in companies over which we have significant 
infl uence are accounted for by the equity method, and are included 
in “Other assets”. Our share of earnings from these investments is 
included in “Non-interest income – other”.

Investments over which we exercise joint control are accounted 
for using the proportionate consolidation method.

Use of estimates and assumptions
The preparation of fi nancial statements in accordance with GAAP 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the recognized and measured amounts of assets, liabilities, 
net income and related disclosures. Estimates and assumptions are 
made in the areas of accounting for fi nancial instruments, allowance 
for credit losses, securitizations and VIEs, asset impairment, income 
taxes, contingent liabilities and employee future benefi ts. Actual 
results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into the functional currencies of operations at prevailing 
exchange rates at the dates of the consolidated balance sheet. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities are translated into functional currencies 
at historical rates. Revenue and expenses are translated using average 
monthly exchange rates. Realized and unrealized gains and losses 
arising from translation into functional currencies are included in the 
consolidated statement of operations.

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations with a functional 
currency other than the Canadian dollar are translated into Canadian 

dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at balance sheet dates, while 
revenue and expenses of these foreign operations are translated into 
Canadian dollars at the average monthly exchange rates. Exchange 
gains and losses arising from the translation of foreign operations and 
from the results of hedging these positions, net of applicable taxes, 
are reported in “Foreign currency translation adjustments”, which is 
 included in    OCI.

A future income tax asset or liability is not recognized in respect 
of a translation gain or loss arising from an investment in a foreign 
subsidiary, where the gain or loss is not expected to be realized in the 
foreseeable future.

An appropriate portion of the accumulated exchange gains 
and losses and any applicable taxes in  AOCI are recognized into 
income where there is a reduction in the net investment in a foreign 
operation.

Classifi cation and measurement of fi nancial assets 
and liabilities
Commencing November 1, 2006, all fi nancial assets must be classifi ed 
at initial recognition as trading, available-for-sale (AFS), designated 
at fair value (FVO),  held-to-maturity (HTM), or loans and receivables 
based on the purpose for which the instrument was acquired and its 
characteristics. Consequently, the investment securities classifi cation 
previously used is no longer applicable under the new standards. 
We have not currently designated any financial assets as HTM. 
Reclassifi cation of fi nancial instruments into and out of trading or 
FVO is not  permitted. In addition, the new standards require that all 
fi nancial assets  and all derivatives be measured at fair value with the 
exception of loans and receivables, debt securities classifi ed as HTM, 
and AFS equities that do not have quoted market values in an active 
market.  All fi nancial liabilities are carried at amortized cost other than 
derivatives, obligations related to securities sold short, or liabilities to 
which the FVO has been applied, in which case they are carried at fair 
value. Interest expense is recognized on an accrual basis using the 
effective interest rate method.

 Trading fi nancial instruments
Both prior and subsequent to November 1, 2006, trading fi nancial 
instruments are assets and liabilities held for trading activities and are 
measured at fair value as at the balance sheet date. Gains and losses 
realized on disposition and unrealized gains and losses from changes 
in fair value are reported in income as “Trading revenue”. Dividends 
and interest earned and interest incurred are included in “Interest 
income” and “Interest expense”, respectively.

AFS/Investment securities
AFS securities
Commencing November 1, 2006, all fi nancial instruments previously 
classifi ed as  investment securities were designated as AFS securities. 
AFS securities also include investments in limited partnerships which 
were included in “Other assets” prior to November 1, 2006.

Except for equities that do not have quoted market values in 
an active market, AFS securities are carried at fair value whereby the 
unrealized gains and losses are included in AOCI until sale or other-
than-temporary impairment is recognized,  at which point cumulative 
unrealized gains or losses are transferred to the consolidated 
statement of operations. Equities that do not have quoted market 
values in an active market are carried at cost. Realized gains and losses 

Note 1 Summary of Signifi cant Accounting Policies
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on sale, determined on an average cost basis, and write-downs to 
refl ect other-than-temporary impairments in value are included in 
“AFS securities gains, net”. Dividends and interest income from these 
securities are included in “Interest income”.

Investment securities
Prior to November 1, 2006, equity securities were stated at cost 
and debt securities at amortized cost other than mortgage-backed 
securities created by the securitization of residential mortgages which 
were stated at fair value. Changes in fair value were recognized in 
“Non-interest income – other”.

Realized gains and losses on disposal, determined on an 
average cost basis, and write-downs to refl ect other-than-temporary 
impairments in value were included in “Investment securities 
gains, net”. Dividends and interest income, including the amortization 
of premiums and discounts on debt securities were included in 
“Interest income”. Realized and unrealized gains on securities used 
in hedging activities were included in earnings in the same period as 
the earnings from the items hedged.

Commencing November 1, 2006, the investment securities 
classifi cation is no longer available.

Designated at fair value fi nancial instruments (FVO)
Commencing November 1, 2006, FVO fi nancial assets and fi nancial 
liabilities are those that an entity designates on initial recognition 
as instruments that it will measure at fair value on the consolidated 
balance sheet. In addition to the requirement that reliable fair values 
are available, there are regulatory restrictions imposed by the Offi ce 
of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI) on the use of 
this designation .

Gains and losses realized on dispositions, unrealized gains and 
losses from  changes in fair value, and gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value of derivatives that are managed in conjunction 
with FVO fi nancial assets and liabilities are included in “FVO  revenue ”. 
Dividends and interest earned and interest incurred on FVO assets and 
liabilities are included in “Interest income” and “Interest expense”, 
respectively.

Loans and receivables
Both prior and subsequent to November 1, 2006, loans and receivables 
are recorded at amortized cost net of allowance for credit losses. 
Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis, unless impaired, 
using the effective interest rate method. See “Impairment of fi nancial 
assets”  below for details on our impairment methodology.

  Date of recognition
We account for all financial instruments using settlement date 
accounting for the consolidated balance sheet. Trade date accounting 
is used for all fi nancial instruments for the consolidated statement of 
operations.

Transaction  costs
Transaction costs related to trading and FVO  fi nancial instruments 
are expensed as incurred. Transaction costs  for all other fi nancial 
instruments  are generally capitalized and are then amortized over 
the expected life of the instrument using the effective interest rate 
method. Prior to November 1, 2006, transactions costs associated 
with certain fi nancial liabilities were expensed as incurred.

Effective interest rate
Interest income and expense for all fi nancial instruments measured at 
amortized cost and  for AFS debt securities is recognized in “Interest 
income” and “Interest expense” using the effective interest rate 
method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life 
of the fi nancial instrument or, where appropriate, a shortened period, 
to the net carrying amount of the fi nancial asset or liability. 

Prior to November 1, 2006, transaction costs in excess of deferred 
fees related to originating or acquiring a loan were recognized within 
“Other assets” and amortized to interest income over the term of the 
loan. Subsequent to November 1, 2006, the excess deferred amount 
is instead classifi ed with the associated loan as part of its amortized 
cost.

Fees related to loan origination, including commitment, 
restructuring and renegotiation fees, are considered an integral 
part of the yield earned on a loan and are accounted for using the 
effective interest rate method. Fees received for commitments that are 
not expected to result in a loan are included in non-interest income 
over the commitment period. Loan syndication fees are included in 
non-interest income on completion of the syndication arrangement, 
provided that the yield on the portion of the loan we retain is at least 
equal to the average yield earned by the other lenders involved in the 
fi nancing; otherwise, an appropriate portion of the fee is deferred as 
unearned income and amortized to interest income using the effective 
interest rate method.

 Securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements and obligations related to securities lent 
or sold under repurchase agreements
Securities purchased under resale agreements are treated as 
collateralized lending as they represent the purchase of securities 
effected with a simultaneous agreement to sell them back at a future 
date, which is generally near term. Interest income is accrued and 
separately disclosed in the consolidated statement of operations. 
Obligations related to securities sold under repurchase agreements 
are treated as collateralized borrowing and represent the borrowing 
equivalent of securities purchased under resale agreements. Interest 
expense is accrued and reflected in “Interest expense – other 
liabilities”.

The right to receive back cash collateral paid and the obligation 
to return cash collateral received on borrowing and lending of 
securities is recorded as securities borrowed and securities lent under 
repurchase agreements, respectively. We monitor the market value of 
the securities borrowed and lent on a daily basis and call for additional 
collateral when appropriate. Interest on cash collateral paid and 
received is recorded in “Interest income” and “Interest expense”, 
respectively.

Impairment of fi nancial assets
Impaired loans and allowance for credit losses
We classify a loan  as impaired when, in our opinion, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have 
occurred  with a negative impact on the estimated future cash fl ows 
of the  loan. Evidence of impairment  includes indications that the 
borrower  is experiencing signifi cant fi nancial diffi cult ies, or a default 
or delinquency  has occurred. Generally, loans on which repayment of 
principal or payment of interest is contractually 90 days in arrears are 
automatically considered impaired unless they are fully secured and in 
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the process of collection. Notwithstanding management’s assessment 
of collectibility, such loans are considered impaired if payments are 
180 days in arrears. Exceptions are as follows:

Credit card loans are not classifi ed as impaired but are instead fully • 

written off when payments are contractually 180 days in arrears.
Loans guaranteed or insured by the Canadian government, the • 

provinces or a Canadian government agency are classified as 
impaired only when payments are contractually 365 days in 
arrears.

When a loan is classifi ed as impaired, accrual of interest ceases. 
All uncollected interest is recorded as part of the loan’s carrying value 
for the purpose of determining the loan’s estimated realizable value 
and establishing allowances for credit losses. A loan is returned to 
performing status when all past due amounts, including interest and 
any prior write-off has been recovered , and it is determined that 
the principal and interest are fully collectible in accordance with the 
original contractual terms of the loan. No portion of cash received on 
any impaired loan is recorded as income until the loan is returned to 
performing status.

 An impaired loan   is carried at  its estimated net realizable value  
determined by discounting the expected future cash fl ows at the 
interest rate inherent in the loan. When the amount and timing of 
future cash fl ows cannot be estimated reliably, the loan is carried at 
either the fair value of the security underlying the loan or the fair 
value of the loan.

We establish and maintain an allowance for credit losses that we 
consider the best estimate of probable credit-related losses existing 
in our portfolio of on- and off-balance sheet fi nancial instruments, 
giving due regard to current conditions. The allowance for credit 
losses consists of specifi c and general components.

Loans are written off against the related allowance for credit 
losses if there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all 
collateral has been realized or transferred to CIBC. In subsequent 
periods, any recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
to the allowance for credit losses.

Specifi c allowance
We conduct ongoing credit assessments of the business and 
government loan portfolio on an account-by-account basis and 
establish specifi c allowances when impaired loans are identifi ed. 
Residential mortgages, personal and credit card loans, and certain small 
business loan portfolios consist of large numbers of homogeneous 
balances of relatively small amounts, for which specifi c allowances are 
established by reference to historical ratios of write-offs to balances 
in arrears and to balances outstanding.

General allowance
The general allowance is provided for losses which we estimate 
are inherent in the portfolio at the balance sheet date, but not yet 
identifi ed and, therefore, not yet captured in the determination of 
specifi c allowances. It applies to on- and off-balance sheet credit 
exposures that are not carried at fair value.

 The general allowance is established with reference to expected 
loss rates associated with different credit portfolios at different risk 
levels and the estimated time period for losses that are present but yet 
to be specifi cally identifi ed, adjusting for our view of the current and 
ongoing economic and portfolio trends. The parameters that  affect 
the general allowance calculation are updated regularly, based on our 
experience and that of the market in general.

Expected loss rates for business loan portfolios are based on 
the risk rating of each credit facility and on the probability of default 
factors associated with each risk rating, as well as estimates of loss 
given default. The probability of default factors refl ects our historical 
experience over an economic cycle, and is supplemented by data 
derived from defaults in the public debt markets. Loss given default 
estimates are based on our experience over past years. For consumer 
loan portfolios, expected losses are based on our historical loss rates 
and aggregate balances.

Other-than-temporary impairment for securities
We conduct a quarterly review to identify and evaluate securities 
(both debt and equity) that show objective indications of possible 
impairment. An impairment is charged to income if the fair value 
of a security falls below its cost/amortized cost, and the decline is 
considered other-than-temporary. Factors considered in determining 
whether a loss is other-than-temporary include the length of time and 
extent to which fair value has been below cost; fi nancial condition 
and near-term prospects of the issuer; and our ability and intent to 
hold the investment for a period of time suffi cient to allow for any 
anticipated recovery.

Securitizations
Securitizations are accounted for as sales when we surrender control of 
the transferred assets and receive consideration other than benefi cial 
interests in the transferred assets. When such sales occur, we may 
retain interest-only strips, one or more subordinated tranches and, 
in some cases, a cash reserve account, all of which are considered 
retained interests in the securitized assets.

Gains or losses on securitizations accounted for as sales are 
recognized in “Income from securitized assets”. The amount of the 
gain or loss recognized depends on the previous carrying values of 
the receivables involved in the transfer, allocated between the assets 
sold and retained interests based on their relative fair values at the 
date of transfer. As market prices are generally not available for 
retained interests, we estimate fair value based on the present value of 
expected future cash fl ows. This requires us to estimate  credit losses, 
 rate of prepayments, forward yield curves, discount rates, and other 
factors that infl uence the value of retained interests.

Prior to November 1, 2006, retained interests in securitized assets 
were classifi ed as investment securities and stated at amortized cost. 
Commencing November 1, 2006, retained interests are classifi ed as 
AFS securities. Retained interests are reviewed for impairment on a 
quarterly basis.

 Income from securitized assets comprises income from retained 
interests and servicing income, and is reported separately in the 
consolidated statement of operations.

Derivatives held for trading purposes
Our derivative trading activities are primarily driven by client trading 
activities. We also take limited proprietary trading positions in the 
interest rate, foreign exchange, debt, equity and commodity markets, 
with the objective of earning income.

All fi nancial and commodity derivatives held for trading purposes 
are stated at fair value at the balance sheet date both before and after 
the adoption of the new fi nancial instrument standards that were 
adopted on November 1, 2006. Realized and unrealized trading gains 
and losses are included in “Trading revenue”. Derivatives with positive 
fair value are reported as assets, while derivatives with negative 
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fair value are reported as liabilities, in both cases as “Derivative 
instruments”.

Derivatives held for asset/liability management (ALM) 
purposes
We use derivative instruments for ALM purposes  to manage fi nancial 
risks, such as  movements in interest and foreign exchange rates.

Derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting
We apply hedge accounting for derivatives held for ALM purposes 
that meet the criteria specified in the CICA handbook section 
3865 (commencing November 1, 2006) and the CICA Accounting 
Guideline (AcG) 13 (prior to November 1, 2006). There are three 
types of hedge accounting: fair value, cash fl ow and hedges of net 
investments in self-sustaining foreign operations (NIFO). When hedge 
accounting is not applied, the change in the fair value of the derivative 
is always recognized in income. This includes instruments used for 
economic hedging purposes such as seller swaps that do not meet 
the requirements for hedge accounting.

In order for derivatives to qualify for hedge accounting, the 
hedge relationship must be designated and formally documented at 
its inception in accordance with the CICA handbook section 3865 or 
AcG-13.   The particular risk management objective and strategy, the 
specifi c asset, liability or cash fl ow being hedged, as well as how 
hedge effectiveness is assessed is  documented. Hedge effectiveness 
requires a high correlation of changes in fair values or cash fl ows 
between the hedged and hedging items.

We assess the effectiveness of derivatives in hedging relationships, 
both at inception and on an ongoing basis. Ineffectiveness results 
to the extent that the changes in the fair value of the hedging 
derivative differ from changes in the fair value of the hedged risk 
in the hedged item; or the cumulative change in the fair value of 
the hedging derivative differs from the cumulative change in the fair 
value of expected future cash fl ows of the hedged item.  Commencing 
November 1, 2006, the amount of ineffectiveness of hedging 
instruments is recorded immediately in income. Prior to November 1, 
2006, the ineffectiveness was only recognized over time or upon the 
termination of the hedge.

Hedge accounting commencing November 1, 2006
Derivatives are carried at fair value and are reported as assets where 
they have a positive fair value and as liabilities where they have a 
negative fair value, in both cases as “Derivative instruments”.

Fair value hedges
We designate fair value hedges primarily as part of interest rate 
risk management strategies that use derivatives to hedge changes 
in the fair value of fi nancial instruments with fi xed interest rates. 
 Changes in fair value attributed to the hedged risk are accounted 
for as basis adjustments to the hedged fi nancial instruments  and are 
recognized in “Net interest income”.  Changes in fair value from the 
hedging derivatives are also recognized in “Net interest income” . 
Accordingly, any hedge ineffectiveness, representing the difference 
between changes in fair value of the hedging derivative and  changes 
in the basis adjustment to the hedged item, is also recognized in “Net 
interest income”.

Similarly, for foreign exchange hedges, changes in fair value from 
the hedging derivatives and non-derivatives are recognized in “Foreign 
exchange other than trading (FXOTT)”. Changes in fair value of the 

hedged item from the hedged foreign exchange risk are accounted 
for as basis adjustments and are also recognized in “FXOTT”.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised, or where the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the hedge relationship is terminated and the basis 
adjustment applied to the hedged item is then amortized over the 
remaining term of the original hedge. If the hedged item is sold, the 
unamortized basis adjustment is recognized immediately in income.

Cash fl ow hedges
We designate cash fl ow  hedges primarily as part of interest rate 
risk management strategies that use derivatives and other fi nancial 
instruments to mitigate our risk from variable cash fl ows by effectively 
converting certain variable rate fi nancial instruments to fi xed rate 
fi nancial instruments and for hedging forecasted foreign currency 
denominated cash fl ows.

The effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative 
instrument is offset through OCI until the variability in cash fl ows 
being hedged is recognized in income in future accounting periods, 
at which time an appropriate portion of the amount that was in 
the AOCI is reclassifi ed into income. The ineffective portion of the 
change in fair value of the hedging derivative is recognized either in 
“Net interest income” or in “FXOTT” immediately as it arises. If the 
hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or 
where the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
the hedge relationship is terminated and any remaining amount 
in AOCI remains therein until it is recognized in income when the 
variability in cash fl ows hedged or the hedged forecast transaction 
is ultimately recognized in income. When the forecasted transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, the related cumulative gain or loss in 
AOCI is immediately recognized in income.

Transition adjustment
Upon the adoption of the new standards we re-established various 
 hedging relationships pursuant to which certain deferred hedge 
balances have been included as a  basis adjustment to the hedged 
item for fair value hedges and as an adjustment to  AOCI for cash 
fl ow hedges. The accumulated ineffectiveness related to these hedges 
has been recognized in retained earnings together with deferred 
hedge balances related to hedging relationships that have not been 
continued or would not qualify for hedge effectiveness under the 
new standards.

Hedges of net investments in self-sustaining 
foreign operations (NIFO)
We designate NIFO hedges to  mitigate the foreign exchange risk on 
our investments in self sustaining operations .

These hedges are accounted for in a similar manner to cash 
fl ow hedges   . The effective portion of the changes in fair value of 
the hedging derivative instruments based on changes in spot rates is 
included in OCI until reduction in the net investment at which time 
any gains or losses in AOCI are recognized in “FXOTT”. The ineffective 
portion of the change in fair value of the hedging derivative is 
recognized immediately in “FXOTT”.

Hedge accounting prior to November 1, 2006
Derivative instruments designated within effective hedge relationships 
were generally included at their accrued values in “Other assets” or 
“Other liabilities”.
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For interest rate swaps, hedge accounting treatment generally 
resulted in interest income or expense on non-trading  assets and 
liabilities being refl ected in the consolidated statement of operations 
at their hedged rates rather than their original contractual interest 
rates.

Certain deposits, whose values are determined based on an 
underlying non-equity based index or asset, were accounted for on 
a modifi ed accrual basis. Under this method, the carrying value of 
these deposits was adjusted to refl ect changes in the current value 
of the underlying index or asset, subject to a minimum guaranteed 
redemption value, if any. These adjustments were recorded as “Interest 
expense”. Derivatives that hedged the fair value of these deposits 
were carried at fair value. Amounts arising from these derivatives were 
deferred and recognized in “Interest expense” to offset changes in 
the carrying value of those deposits.

Foreign currency derivative instruments that hedge foreign 
currency exposures arising from foreign currency denominated assets 
and liabilities were revalued together with the hedged item each 
month, using the spot foreign exchange rate. Resulting gains and 
losses were recognized as “FXOTT”.

Foreign currency forward contracts that hedge NIFO were 
revalued each month, using the spot foreign exchange rate. Resulting 
gains and losses, net of applicable taxes, were recognized in “Foreign 
currency translation adjustments”. Any premium or discount resulting 
from differences between the contracted forward and spot foreign 
exchange rates due to interest rate differentials was amortized in 
“FXOTT”.

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments 
used to hedge fi rm commitments or anticipated transactions were 
deferred and recognized as income when the committed or anticipated 
transactions occurred.

Premiums paid for options used for hedging purposes were 
generally amortized over the life of the contract or the term of the 
hedge, as appropriate.

If a hedge relationship was terminated, any difference between 
the fair value and the carrying value of the hedging derivatives upon 
termination was deferred in “Other assets” or “Other liabilities”. 
The deferred amount was recognized into income or expense on the 
same basis as income and expense of the previously hedged item, 
generally by amortization over the remaining term of the hedged 
asset or liability.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Commencing November 1, 2006, the change in fair value of derivatives 
not designated as accounting hedges but used to economically 
hedge FVO assets or liabilities is included in “FVO revenue”.  Both 
before and after November 1, 2006, the change in fair value of other 
derivatives not designated as accounting hedges but used for other 
economic hedging purposes is included in either “FXOTT” or “Non-
interest income – other”.

Embedded derivatives
Commencing November 1, 2006, all derivatives embedded in other 
fi nancial instruments are valued as separate derivatives when their 
economic characteristics and risks are not clearly and closely related 
to those of the host contract; the terms of the embedded derivative 
are the same as those of a free standing derivative; and the combined 
contract is not held for trading or designated at fair value. These 
embedded derivatives are classifi ed together with the host instrument 
and measured at fair value with changes therein recognized in the 

consolidated statement of operations. We elected to apply this 
accounting treatment to all host contracts containing such embedded 
derivatives at November 1, 2006.

Prior to November 1, 2006, we only recognized embedded 
derivatives on equity-linked GICs or equity-linked notes deposit 
obligations. Both before and after November 1, 2006, the embedded 
derivative is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recorded 
in “Non-interest income – other”. The discounted deposit instrument 
is accreted on an effective interest rate basis to par principal value at 
maturity with the expense recorded in “Interest expense”.

Gains at inception on derivatives embedded in financial 
instruments bifurcated for accounting purposes are not recognized 
at inception, instead they are amortized over the life of the hybrid 
instrument.

Mortgage commitments
Mortgage interest rate commitments are extended to our retail clients 
at no charge in contemplation of borrowing to fi nance the purchase 
of homes under mortgages to be funded by CIBC in the future. These 
commitments are usually for periods of up to 90 days and generally 
entitle the borrower to receive funding at the lower of the interest 
rate at the time of the commitment and the rate applicable at funding 
date. We use fi nancial instruments, such as interest rate derivatives, 
to economically hedge our exposure to an increase in interest rates. 
Both before and after November 1, 2006, we present  our liability to 
the retail clients (based on an estimate of the commitments expected 
to be exercised) and the associated economic hedges at fair value on 
the consolidated balance sheet. Changes in fair value  are recorded in 
“Non-interest income – other”. In addition, as the commitments are 
an integral part of the mortgage, their initial fair value is recognized 
over the life of the resulting mortgage s.

Prior to November 1, 2006, the fair value of the mortgage 
commitment upon funding, if any, was recognized over the life of 
the mortgage. Subsequent to November 1, 2006, the fair value of the 
mortgage commitment upon funding, if any, is  released into  income 
 to offset the difference between the mortgage amount advanced 
and its fair value.

Guarantees
Guarantees include contracts that contingently require the guarantor 
to make payments to a guaranteed party based on (a) changes in an 
underlying economic characteristic that is related to an asset, liability 
or an equity security of the guaranteed party; (b) failure of another 
party to perform under an obligating agreement; or (c) failure of a 
third-party to pay its indebtedness when due.

Guarantees are initially recognized at fair value, being the 
premium received, on the date the guarantee was given. No 
subsequent remeasurement of fair value is required unless the 
guarantee qualifi es as a derivative,  upon which it is remeasured at fair 
value and included in “Derivative instruments” in assets or liabilities, 
as appropriate.

Accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI)
Commencing November 1, 2006, AOCI is included on the consolidated 
balance sheet as a separate component (net of tax) of shareholders’ 
equity, and includes net unrealized gains and losses on AFS securities, 
the effective portion of gains and losses on derivative instruments 
designated within effective cash fl ow hedges, and unrealized foreign 
currency translation gains and losses on self-sustaining foreign 
operations net of gains or losses on related hedges (“foreign currency 
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translation adjustments”). Prior years’“Foreign currency translation 
adjustments” have been reclassifi ed to AOCI .

Liabilities and equity
Preferred shares that are convertible into a variable number of 
common shares at the option of the holder are classifi ed as liabilities 
on  the consolidated balance sheet. Dividend payments and premium 
on redemptions arising from such preferred shares are reported as 
“Interest expense”.

Offsetting of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities
Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are presented net when we 
have a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts 
and intend to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Acceptances and customers’ liability under acceptances
Acceptances constitute a liability of CIBC on negotiable instruments 
issued to third parties by our customers. We earn a fee for guaranteeing 
and then making the payment to the third parties. The amounts owed 
to us by our customers in respect of these guaranteed amounts are 
refl ected in assets as “Customers’ liability under acceptances”.

Land, buildings and equipment
Land is reported at cost. Buildings, furniture, equipment and leasehold 
improvements are reported at cost less accumulated amortization.

Amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis as follows:
Buildings 40 years• 

Computer equipment and software 2 to 10 years• 

Offi ce furniture and other equipment 4 to 15 years• 

Leasehold improvements Over estimated useful life• 

Gains and losses on disposal are reported in “Non-interest income – 
other”.

Goodwill and other intangible assets
We use the purchase method of accounting for all business 
combinations. Identifi able intangible assets are recognized separately 
from goodwill and included in other intangible assets. Goodwill 
represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of 
the net tangible and other intangible assets acquired in business 
combinations. Goodwill is allocated to the reporting unit that is 
expected to benefi t from the synergies of the business combination. 
Reporting units comprise business operations with similar economic 
characteristics and strategies. Goodwill and other intangible assets 
with an indefinite life are not amortized but are subjected to 
impairment review at least annually and, if impaired, are written down 
to fair value.

The impairment test for goodwill is based on a comparison of 
the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including the allocated 
goodwill, with its fair value. When the carrying amount of a reporting 
unit exceeds its fair value, any impairment of goodwill is measured 
by comparing the carrying value of the goodwill with its implied fair 
value. The implied fair value of goodwill is the excess of the fair value 
of the reporting unit over the fair value of its net tangible and other 
intangible assets.

The impairment test for other intangible assets with an indefi nite 
life is based on a comparison of its carrying amount with its fair value.

Other intangible assets with a defi nite life are amortized over 
their estimated useful lives, generally not exceeding 20 years, and are 
also subjected to an assessment for impairment periodically.

Future income taxes
We use the asset and liability method to provide for income taxes. 
The asset and liability method requires that income taxes refl ect the 
expected future tax effect of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets or liabilities and their tax bases. Future 
income tax assets and liabilities are determined for each temporary 
difference and for unused losses for tax purposes, as applicable, at 
rates expected to be in effect when the asset is realized or the liability 
is settled. A valuation allowance is established, if necessary, to reduce 
the future income tax asset to an amount that is more likely than not 
to be realized.

Employee future benefi ts
We are the sponsor of a number of employee benefi t plans. These 
plans include both defi ned benefi t and defi ned contribution pension 
plans, and various other post-retirement and post-employment 
benefi t plans.

Defi ned benefi t plans
We accrue our obligations for defi ned benefi t plans and related costs, 
net of plan assets. The cost of pensions and other post-retirement 
benefi ts earned by employees is actuarially determined using the 
projected benefi t method prorated on service and our best estimate 
of expected return on plan assets, salary escalation, retirement 
ages of employees, mortality, and expected health-care costs. The 
discount rate used to value liabilities is based on market rates as at 
the measurement date.

The expected return on plan assets is based on our best estimate 
of the long-term expected rate of return on plan assets and a market-
related value of plan assets. The market-related value of plan assets is 
determined using a methodology where the difference between the 
actual and expected market value of plan assets is recognized over 
three years.

Past service costs from plan amendments are amortized on 
a straight-line basis over the expected average remaining service 
period over which employees become fully eligible for benefi ts, since 
it is expected that we will realize economic benefi t from these plan 
changes during this period.

Net actuarial gains and losses that exceed 10% of the greater 
of the accrued benefi t obligation or the market-related value of plan 
assets are also amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected 
average remaining service life of covered employees. Experience will 
often deviate from the actuarial assumptions resulting in actuarial 
gains or losses.

The expected average remaining service life of employees covered 
by the defi ned benefi t pension plans is  10 years (2006: 10 years). The 
expected average remaining service life of employees covered by the 
other benefi t plans is  12 years (2006: 12 years).

The accrued benefi t asset or liability represents the cumulative 
difference between the expense and funding contributions and is 
included in “Other assets” and “Other liabilities”.

A valuation allowance is recognized when the accrued benefi t 
asset for any plan is greater than the future economic benefi t expected 
to be realized from sponsoring the plan. A change in the valuation 
allowance is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations 
for the period in which the change occurs.
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When the restructuring of a defi ned benefi t plan gives rise to 
both a curtailment and a settlement of obligations, the curtailment is 
accounted for prior to the settlement.

Defi ned contribution plans
Costs for defi ned contribution plans are recognized during the year 
in which the service is provided.

Stock-based compensation
We provide compensation to directors and certain employees in the 
form of stock options and/or share-based awards.

We use the fair value-based method to account for stock options 
granted to employees. The value is recognized over the applicable 
vesting period, or to the eligible retirement age of the employee if 
sooner, as an increase to compensation expense and contributed 
surplus. When the options are exercised, the proceeds we receive, 
together with the amount in contributed surplus, are credited to 
common share capital. No expense was recognized for stock options 
granted prior to November 1, 2001; when these options are exercised, 
the proceeds received are recorded as common share capital.

Up to 50% of options relating to the Employee Stock Option Plan 
granted prior to 2000 can be exercised as stock appreciation rights 
(SARs). SARs obligations, which arise from changes in the market price 
of CIBC’s common shares, are recorded in the consolidated statement 
of operations with a corresponding offset in other liabilities. If SARs 
are exercised as purchases of shares, the exercise price, together with 
the relevant amount in other liabilities, representing the value of 
shares at the market price, is credited to common share capital.

Compensation expense in respect of share-based awards under 
the Restricted Share Program which meet certain criteria, is recognized 
in the year for which the grant is made, in an amount equal to the total 
to be transferred to the trust in respect of the current year allocations. 
Compensation expense in respect of special grants is recognized over 
the applicable vesting period, or to the eligible retirement age of the 
employee if sooner. In the event of forfeitures of unvested grants, any 
market gains or losses arising from the forfeiture event are recorded 
in contributed surplus.

Compensation expense in respect of awards under the 
Performance Share Unit (PSU) program which meet certain criteria 
are recognized in the year for which the grant is made. The amount 
recognized is based on management’s best estimate of the expected 
number of PSUs to vest.

Amounts paid under the directors’ plans are charged to 
compensation expense. Obligations relating to deferred share units 
under the directors’ plans change with CIBC’s common share price, 
and the change is recognized as a compensation expense or credit in 
the year in which the change occurs.

Our contribution under the Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESPP) 
is expensed as incurred.

Fee and commission income
Underwriting and advisory fees and commissions on securities 
transactions are recognized as revenue when the related services 
are performed. Deposit and payment fees and insurance fees are 
recognized over the period that the related services are provided.

Card fees primarily include interchange income, late fees, cash 
advance fees, and annual fees. Card fees are recognized as billed, 
except for annual fees which are earned over a 12-month period.

Investment management and custodial fees are primarily 
investment, estate and trust management fees and are recorded on 
an accrual basis. Prepaid fees are deferred and amortized over the 
contract term.

Mutual fund fees are recorded on an accrual basis.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is determined as net income minus 
dividends and premiums on preferred shares, divided by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding for the period.

Diluted EPS is determined as net income minus dividends and 
premiums on preferred shares, divided by the weighted-average 
number of diluted common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted 
common shares refl ect the potential dilutive effect of exercising the 
stock options based on the treasury stock method. The treasury stock 
method determines the number of incremental common shares by 
assuming that the average outstanding stock options, whose exercise 
price is less than the average market price of CIBC’s common stock 
during the period, are exercised and then reduced by the number 
of common shares assumed to be repurchased with the exercise 
proceeds. Year-to-date incremental common shares are computed by 
taking a weighted-average of the number of incremental common 
shares included in each interim period.

Impact of accounting changes
As required, the adoption of the CICA handbook sections 
3855 “Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement”, 
3865 “Hedges”, 1530 “Comprehensive Income”, and 3251 “Equity” 
as described above have been applied as an adjustment to opening 
retained earnings and AOCI as at November 1, 2006. Prior period 
balances have not been restated other than the reclassifi cation of 
“Foreign currency translation adjustments” to AOCI. The impact of 
adopting these standards was as follows:
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The $16,006 million of fi nancial assets classifi ed as AFS included 
$15,429 million (AFS value $15,391 million) and $615 million 
(AFS value $615 million) of fi nancial assets previously classifi ed as 
investment securities and other assets, respectively. The $6,340 million 
of FVO securities included $5,738 million (fair value $5,799 million) 
and $541 million (fair value $541 million) of fi nancial assets previously 
classifi ed as investment securities and trading securities, respectively.

The overall impact to net income from the adoption of the 
new standards for the year was not signifi cant and included the 
recognition of the hedge ineffectiveness disclosed in Note  15. 
However, there were various reclassifi cations within our consolidated 
statement of operations, including the recognition of amounts within 
“FVO revenue” and “AFS securities gains, net” that were previously 

recognized in “Trading revenue” and “Investment securities gains, 
net”, respectively.

Prior year fi nancial information
During the year, we revisited our presentation of certain revenue 
and expense items for prior periods to better refl ect the nature of 
these items. Accordingly, certain prior year fi nancial information 
has been reclassifi ed to conform with the presentation adopted in 
the current year.

Future accounting policy changes
A description of future Canadian accounting policy changes is 
provided in Note 29. A description of future U.S. accounting policy 
changes is provided in Note 28.

$ millions As at Oct. 31, 2006
Adjustment upon adoption 

of new standards
As at 

Nov. 1, 2006

ASSETS
Securities

Investment  $ 21,167  $ (21,167)  $ –
AFS   –   16,006   16,006
Trading   62,331   (552)   61,779
FVO   –   6,340   6,340

  83,498   627   84,125

Loans   145,625   136   145,761
Derivative instruments   17,122   1,585   18,707
Other assets   10,957   (1,701)   9,256
Impact on total assets  $ 257,202  $ 647  $ 257,849

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Deposits  $ 202,891  $ (44)  $ 202,847
Derivative instruments   17,330   1,565   18,895
Other liabilities   14,716   (947)   13,769
Impact on total liabilities   234,937   574   235,511

Shareholders’ equity    
Retained earnings   7,268   (50)   7,218
Accumulated other comprehensive income      

Foreign currency translation adjustments   (442)   –   (442)
Unrealized gains (losses) on AFS securities   –   (29)   (29)
Gains (losses) on cash fl ow hedges   –   152   152

Impact on shareholders’ equity   6,826   73   6,899

Impact on liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 241,763  $ 647  $ 242,410

Note 2 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The tables that follow present the fair value of both on- and off-
balance sheet financial instruments, based on the fair valuation 
approach set out below.

Fair value represents our estimate of the price at which a fi nancial 
instrument could be exchanged in an orderly market as an arm’s 
length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties, under 
no compulsion to act. Fair value is best evidenced by an independent 
quoted market price in an active market. 

Where quoted markets exist and are considered active, these 
quoted prices are used to calculate fair value. Commencing November 
1, 2006, bid or ask prices, where available in an active market, are 
used to determine the fair value of security positions as appropriate, 
whereas closing price was previously used for securities in an active 
market.

Quoted market prices are not available for a signifi cant portion of 
our on- and off-balance sheet fi nancial instruments because of the lack 
of traded markets and even where such markets do exist, they may not 
be considered suffi ciently active to be used as a basis for fair value.

In those instances where traded markets do not exist or are not 
considered suffi ciently active, our measure of fair value is estimated, 
using a variety of valuation techniques and models which require 
assumptions regarding the amount and timing of estimated future 
cash fl ows and discount rates. In determining those assumptions, we 
use observable market parameters such as interest and currency rates 
and price volatility wherever possible. We also consider the change 
in credit quality where we are exposed to the credit risk of an issuer, 
borrower or counterparty. Where we use models based on estimated 
cashfl ows or other input parameters, our overriding objective is to use 
the information to estimate the fair value  at which market participants 
would transact .

Valuation adjustments are an integral component of our fair 
valuation process. To the extent necessary, we make valuation 
adjustments for market risks for derivatives and non derivatives and 
for counterparty credit risk and administration cost for derivatives.

Due to the judgment used in applying a wide variety of acceptable 
valuation techniques and models, as well as the use of estimates 
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inherent in this process, estimates of fair value of the same or similar 
assets may differ among fi nancial institutions. The calculation of fair 
values is based on market conditions as at October 31, 2007, and may 
not be refl ective of ultimate realizable value.

We have an ongoing process of enhancing our valuation 
techniques and models. Where enhancements are made, they are 
applied prospectively, so that fair values reported in prior periods are 
not recalculated on the new basis.

Methods and assumptions
Financial instruments with fair value equal to book value
Where we consider any difference between fair and book values of 
on-balance sheet fi nancial instruments to be insignifi cant, the fair 
value of these on-balance sheet fi nancial instruments is assumed to 
equal their book value. These categories are: cash and non-interest-
bearing deposits with banks; short-term interest-bearing deposits with 
banks; securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements; 
customers’ liability under acceptances; acceptances; obligations 
related to securities lent or sold under repurchase agreements and 
other liabilities.

Securities
The fair value of securities and obligations related to securities sold 
short are based on quoted bid or ask market prices where available; 
otherwise, fair values are estimated using independent bid or ask 
quoted market prices for similar securities or other third-party 
evidence, as available.

The quoted market price used to value publicly traded AFS/
Investment equity securities does not take into account any 
adjustments for resale restrictions that expire within one year or for 
future expenses.

For privately issued debt and equity securities, we estimate fair 
value using recent market transactions, where available. Otherwise, 
fair values are derived from valuation models using a market, or 
income approach. These models consider various factors including 
projected cash fl ows, earnings, revenue or other third-party evidence 
as available. The fair value of limited partnership investments is 
based upon net asset values published by third-party fund managers 
and is adjusted for more recent information where available and 
appropriate.

Loans
The fair value of variable-rate mortgages, which are largely prime 
rate based, are assumed to equal their book value. The fair value of 
fi xed-rate mortgages are estimated, using a discounted cash fl ow 
calculation that uses market interest rates currently charged for 
mortgages with similar remaining terms. The valuation model used 
for mortgages takes into account prepayment optionality including 
consumer behaviour.

The fair value of variable-rate loans and those that reprice 
frequently are assumed to be equal to their book value. The fair 
value for fi xed-rate loans is estimated, using a discounted cash fl ow 
calculation that uses market interest rates currently charged for loans 
with similar terms and credit risks. The fair value of loans is reduced 
by the specifi c and general allowances for impaired loans and loans 
not yet specifi cally identifi ed as impaired. The fair value of loans is 
not adjusted for the value of any credit derivatives used to manage 
the credit risk associated with them. The fair value of these credit 
derivatives is disclosed separately.

Other assets
Other assets  mainly comprise accrued interest receivable, brokers’ 
client accounts, equity-accounted investments, limited partnerships 
(in 2006 only as they were reclassifi ed to AFS securities in 2007, as 
indicated in Note 1) and accounts receivable.

Except as noted, the fair value of all other assets is assumed to 
be cost or amortized cost because we consider any difference not to 
be signifi cant. For equity-accounted investments, we estimate fair 
value using quoted market prices or other recent market transactions, 
where available. Otherwise, fair value is derived from valuation models, 
except for instances where the benefi ts of estimating fair value for 
unquoted equity-accounted investments do not outweigh the related 
costs, then fair value is assumed to equal book value.

Deposits
The fair value of fl oating-rate deposits and demand deposits are 
assumed to be equal to their amortized cost. The fair value of fi xed-
rate deposits are determined by discounting the contractual cash 
fl ows using market interest rates currently offered for deposits of 
similar terms. The fair value for deposit liabilities with embedded 
optionality (cashable option) includes the fair value of those options. 
The fair value for equity and commodity linked notes includes the fair 
value of embedded equity and commodity options.

Subordinated indebtedness
The fair value is determined by reference to market prices for the same 
or similar debt instruments.

Preferred share liabilities
The fair value of these obligations is determined by reference to 
market prices for the same or similar fi nancial instruments.

Derivative instruments
The fair value of derivatives is based on quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes, where available. Otherwise,  a suitable market proxy or fair 
value is estimated on the basis of pricing models that incorporate 
current market measures for interest rates, currency exchange rates, 
equity prices and indices, credit spreads, corresponding market 
volatility levels and other market-based pricing factors.

Fair value refl ects a valuation adjustment for market, model and 
credit risks, as well as administrative costs, as appropriate. Specifi cally, 
credit risk adjustments are based on current and expected future 
credit exposure taking into account both collateral and netting 
arrangements. Administrative cost adjustments refl ect the expected 
future costs to maintain the derivative to maturity.

Mortgage commitments
The fair value of mortgage commitments, included in derivatives 
held for ALM, is for fi xed-rate residential and commercial mortgage 
commitments and is based on changes in market interest rates 
between the commitment and the balance sheet dates. The valuation 
model takes into account the expected probability that outstanding 
commitments will be exercised.

Credit commitments
Other commitments to extend credit are primarily variable rate and, 
consequently, do not expose CIBC to interest rate risk, although they 
do expose CIBC to credit risk. These commitments generally contain 
provisions whereby drawn credit commitments are priced based on 
the credit quality of the obligor at the date funds are drawn. As noted 
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above, the credit exposure on loan commitments is included in our 
assessment of the specifi c and general allowances and, hence, no 
further adjustments are made.

Valuation technique –  non- market  observable  inputs
We have determined that in situations where key market data for our 
positions is not observable, sensitivity analysis is not meaningful. 

The total loss recognized in the consolidated fi nancial statements 
on the fi nancial instruments outstanding as at the balance sheet date, 
whose fair value was estimated using a valuation technique requiring 
unobservable market parameters, was $774 million. 

Signifi cant events
Collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) and other positions based on 
U.S. residential mortgage-backed securities do not currently have 
readily observable fair values in an active market. We estimated these 
fair values based on all available data including internal models, 
indicative broker quotes and proxy index levels. This exercise involved 

the application of signifi cant judgment. As at October 31, 2007, our 
gross unhedged notional exposure to U.S. residential mortgages of 
approximately US$1.6 billion  was written down to an estimated fair 
value of US$784 million ($741 million). These positions were included 
in valuation technique – non-market observable inputs.

The use of management judgment in the valuation of certain 
derivatives, including credit default swaps that reference the U.S. 
residential mortgage market, increased considerably during the second 
half of 2007, as market conditions severely limited the availability of 
quoted market prices that may otherwise have been available.

Canadian market asset-backed commercial paper (ABCP) issued 
by our sponsored conduits of $3.1 billion were valued at par. Canadian 
market non-bank issued ABCP with a par value of $358 million were 
valued at $297 million using models and assumptions incorporating 
all available data. These non-bank issued ABCP were included in 
valuation technique – non-market observable inputs.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Book value 
(includes AFS 

securities at 
amortized cost) Fair value

Fair value 
over (under) 

book value Book value Fair value

Fair value 
over (under) 
book value

Financial Assets
Cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with banks  $  1,457  $  1,457  $ –  $ 1,317  $ 1,317  $ –
Interest-bearing deposits with banks   12,290   12,290   –   10,536   10,536   –
Securities   86,587   86,959   372   83,498   83,680   182
Securities borrowed or purchased under 

resale agreements   34,020   34,020   –   25,432   25,432   –
Loans             

Residential mortgages   91,623   91,669    46   81,333   81,657   324
Personal   28,638   28,626    (12)   27,427   27,427   –
Credit card   8,862   8,862    –   7,046   7,046   –
Business and government   33,531   33,548    17   29,819   29,856   37

Derivative instruments(1)   24,075   24,075   –   17,122   17,122   –
Customers’ liability under acceptances   8,024   8,024   –   6,291   6,291   –
Other assets(2)   6,325   6,368    43   6,155   6,529   374

Financial Liabilities             
Deposits             

Personal  $ 91,772  $ 91,429  $ (343)  $ 81,829  $ 81,756  $ (73)
Business and government   125,878   125,881   3   107,468   107,405   (63)
Bank   14,022   14,027   5   13,594   13,595   1

Derivative instruments(1)   26,688   26,688   –   17,330   17,330   –
Acceptances   8,249   8,249   –   6,297   6,297   –
Obligations related to securities sold short   13,137   13,137   –   13,788   13,788   –
Obligations related to securities lent or sold under 

repurchase agreements   28,944   28,944   –   30,433   30,433   –
Other liabilities   9,766   9,766   –   9,977   9,977   –
Subordinated indebtedness   5,526   5,732   206   5,595   5,963   368
Preferred share liabilities   600   623    23   600   642   42

ALM derivatives not carried at fair value(1)(3)(4)   n/a   n/a   n/a  $ (94)  $ (179)  $ (85)

(1) Prior to 2007, only ALM derivatives carried at fair value and trading derivatives were included in derivative instruments. Commencing in 2007, all derivatives are included in derivative instruments.
(2) Excludes FirstCaribbean with a book value of $790 million as at October 31, 2006.
(3)  Prior to 2007, the book value included both the ALM derivatives not carried at fair value (2006: net $(234) million) and unamortized hedge-related deferred balances (2006: net $140 million), which were 

included in other assets and other liabilities.
(4)  Prior to 2007, the fair value over (under) book value included deferred gains (2006: $222 million) related to derivative hedges for anticipated transactions in respect of certain deposit programs 

and expenses.
n/a Not applicable due to the adoption of the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards.
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Fair Value of Derivative Instruments
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006 

Positive Negative Net Positive Negative Net
Held for trading(1)

Interest rate derivatives
Forward rate agreements  $  9  $  7  $  2  $ 11  $ 2  $ 9
Swap contracts   5,197   4,898    299   6,428   5,867   561
Purchased options   542   –    542   647   –   647
Written options   –   479    (479)   –   658   (658)

Total interest rate derivatives    5,748    5,384    364   7,086   6,527   559

Foreign exchange derivatives             
Forward contracts   2,127   2,372   (245)   511   454   57
Swap contracts   5,204   5,252   (48)   3,739   3,098   641
Purchased options   162   –   162   98   –   98
Written options   –   156   (156)   –   74   (74)

Total foreign exchange derivatives    7,493    7,780    (287)   4,348   3,626   722

Credit derivatives             
Swap contracts   77   751   (674)   48   95   (47)
Purchased options   4,333   249   4,084   93   154   (61)
Written options   157   3,970   (3,813)   197   43   154

Total credit derivatives    4,567    4,970    (403)   338   292   46

Equity derivatives(2)   3,487   4,844   (1,357)   3,543   5,009   (1,466)

Precious metal derivatives(3)   48   69   (21)   84   62   22

Other commodity derivatives(3)   1,347   1,161   186   1,406   1,375   31

Total held for trading(4)    22,690    24,208    (1,518)   16,805   16,891   (86)

Held for ALM(5)           
Interest rate derivatives             

Forward rate agreements   –   1   (1)   1   –   1
Swap contracts   864   638   226   933   745   188
Purchased options   2   –   2   20   –   20
Written options   –   16   (16)   –   4   (4)

Total interest rate derivatives    866    655    211   954   749   205

Foreign exchange derivatives             
Forward contracts   137   35   102   38   3   35
Swap contracts   277   1,772   (1,495)   120   622   (502)
Written options   –   –   –   –   1   (1)

Total foreign exchange derivatives    414    1,807    (1,393)   158   626   (468)

Credit derivatives             
Swap contracts   5   –   5   –   –   –
Purchased options   90   14   76   39   45   (6)
Written options(6)   –   –   –   1   –   1

Total credit derivatives    95    14    81   40   45   (5)

Equity derivatives(2)   10   4   6   19   43   (24)

Other commodity derivatives(3)   –   –   –   35   43   (8)

Total held for ALM(4)    1,385    2,480    (1,095)   1,206   1,506   (300)

Total fair value   24,075   26,688   (2,613)   18,011   18,397   (386)
Less: effect of master netting agreements   (10,736)   (10,736)   –   (10,799)   (10,799)   –

 $  13,339  $  15,952  $  (2,613)  $ 7,212  $ 7,598  $ (386)
Average fair value of derivatives held for trading(7)             
Interest rate derivatives  $  6,559  $  6,099  $  460  $ 7,588  $ 7,065  $ 523
Foreign exchange derivatives   4,960   4,396   564   4,963   4,308   655
Credit derivatives   1,184   1,230   (46)   218   176   42
Equity derivatives   3,425   4,487   (1,062)   3,236   4,200   (964)
Precious metal derivatives   51   78   (27)   107   95   12
Other commodity derivatives   1,307   1,162   145   2,307   2,222   85

 $  17,486  $  17,452  $  34  $ 18,419  $ 18,066  $ 353

(1) Includes positive and negative fair values of $ 1.9 billion (2006: $1.5 billion) and $ 1.7 billion (2006: $1.6 billion), respectively, for exchange traded options.
(2) Comprises swaps and options.
(3) Comprises forwards, swaps and options.
(4) Derivative instruments held for trading and ALM derivative instruments carried at fair value (included in footnote 5 below) are reported as derivative instruments on the consolidated balance sheet.
(5)  Prior to 2007, only ALM derivatives carried at fair value were included in derivative instruments. These derivative instruments were carried at fair value because they were ineligible for hedge accounting 

under AcG-13. Since these derivative instruments mitigate market risks, we consider them to be economic hedges for the corresponding risks of underlying positions. In addition, this category includes 
derivatives, such as seller swaps, whose risks are managed in the context of ALM activities. Derivatives held for ALM purposes as at October 31, 2006, included positive and negative fair values of 
$318 million and $439 million, respectively, in respect of derivative instruments held for economic hedging purposes. Commencing 2007, all derivatives are included in derivative instruments at fair 
value.

(6) Reported as guarantees in Note 2 4.
(7) Average fair value represents monthly averages.
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FirstCaribbean International Bank
Step 1 Acquisition
On December 22, 2006, we obtained control of FirstCaribbean 
International Bank (FirstCaribbean) by acquiring 90% of Barclays Bank 
PLC’s (Barclays) interest in FirstCaribbean, which represented a further 
39.3% ownership interest. As a result of this transaction (“the Step 
1 Acquisition”), we owned approximately 83.0% of the common 
shares of FirstCaribbean with the remaining common shares held by 
both Barclays and other minority shareholders. The common shares 
were acquired at US$1.62 each plus accrued dividends for total cash 
consideration of US$989 million ($1,153 million) paid to Barclays. In 
addition, we incurred transaction costs, net of tax, of US$7 million 
($8 million).

Step 2 Acquisition
On February 2, 2007, pursuant to a tender offer at the same price 
for the remaining common shares held by Barclays and the other 

Note 3 Acquisition of FirstCaribbean International Bank and Future Disposition

minority shareholders, we acquired an additional 8.5% interest in 
FirstCaribbean (“the Step 2 Acquisition”) in exchange for additional 
cash consideration of US$212 million ($250 million), bringing our total 
ownership to 91.5%. In addition, we incurred additional transaction 
costs, net of tax, of US$2 million ($2 million).

The Step 1 Acquisition and the Step 2 Acquisition transactions 
have been accounted for using the purchase method. The results 
of FirstCaribbean’s operations have been included within CIBC 
Retail Markets strategic business line in the consolidated fi nancial 
statements since December 22, 2006. Prior to that date, we accounted 
for our 43.7% interest in FirstCaribbean using the equity method of 
accounting.

The allocation of the purchase equation was fi nalized in the third 
quarter of 2007. Details of the aggregate consideration given and the 
fair value of net assets acquired are as follows:

$ millions
Step 1 

Acquisition
Step 2 

Acquisition
Closing 

adjustments Total

Aggregate consideration
Purchase consideration (paid in cash)  $ 1,153  $ 250  $ –  $ 1,403
Transaction costs, net of tax   8   2   –   10
Carrying value of equity investment in FirstCaribbean prior to acquisition   840   –   –   840

 $ 2,001  $ 252  $ –  $ 2,253

Fair value of net assets acquired
Cash and deposits with banks  $ 3,107  $ –  $ –  $ 3,107
Securities   3,934   –   8   3,942
Loans   6,667   –   (27)   6,640
Goodwill   958   84   19   1,061
Other intangible assets   267   45   (6)   306
Other assets   876   8   –   884

Total assets acquired   15,809   137   (6)   15,940

Deposits   10,921   –   –   10,921
Other liabilities   2,386   4   (6)   2,384
Subordinated indebtedness   232   –   –   232
Non-controlling interest   269   (119)   –   150

Total liabilities assumed   13,808   (115)   (6)   13,687
Net assets acquired  $ 2,001  $ 252  $ –  $ 2,253

Subsequent to the Step 2 Acquisition transaction, the total other 
intangible assets acquired include a core deposit intangible of 
$282 million and the FirstCaribbean brandname of $24 million. The 
core deposit intangible is amortized at 12% per annum using the 
declining balance method, while the brand has an indefi nite life and 
is not amortized.

Goodwill recognized as part of the acquisition is not deductible 
for tax purposes.

As a result of subsequent transactions, including the sale of two 
million shares of our holding to FirstCaribbean’s compensation trusts, 
our ownership interest as at October 31, 2007 declined to 91.4%.

Proposed sale of some of our U.S. businesses
On November 2, 2007, we signed an agreement to sell our U.S. 
based investment banking, equities, leveraged fi nance and related 
debt capital markets businesses, our Israeli investment banking and 

equities businesses, and certain of our other U.S. capital markets-
related businesses located in the U.K. and Asia (the “transferred 
businesses”) to Oppenheimer Holdings Inc. (Oppenheimer). In 
consideration, Oppenheimer will provide us warrants for 1 million 
shares exercisable at the end of fi ve years, and will pay us a deferred 
purchase price of at least US$25 million at the end of fi ve years 
based on the earnings of the transferred businesses. We will provide 
indemnities in respect of certain costs that Oppenheimer may incur 
in integrating the transferred businesses. 

CIBC restricted share awards (RSAs) held by employees transferred 
to Oppenheimer will continue to vest in accordance with their original 
terms. To support this compensation arrangement,  Oppenheimer will 
reimburse CIBC for the cost of these RSAs as they vest. 

Pursuant to the agreement, CIBC will invest in a $100 million 
subordinated debenture issued by Oppenheimer and will provide 
certain credit facilities to Oppenheimer and its investment banking 
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Note 4 Securities

Residual term to contractual maturity

Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years 5 to 10 Years Over 10 Years
 No specifi c
 maturity 2007 Total 2006 Total

$ millions, as at October 31
Carrying 

value Yield(1)
Carrying 

value Yield(1)
Carrying 

value Yield(1)
Carrying 

value Yield(1)
Carrying 

value Yield(1)
Carrying 

value Yield(1)
Carrying 

value Yield(1)

AFS/Investment securities(2)

Securities issued or guaranteed by:
Canadian federal government  $  2,283  3.1% $  2,267  3.8% $ –  –% $  66  8.0% $ –  –% $  4,616   3.5%  $ 7,797  3.5%
Other Canadian governments   4  3.3   54  4.4   –  –   464  5.8   –  –   522  5.6   474  5.6
U.S. Treasury   539  4.5   236  4.7   3,696  3.6   –  –   –  –   4,471  3.8   4,682  3.6
Other U.S. agencies   –  –   –  –   –  –   –  –   –  –   –  –   157  6.9
Other foreign governments   146  7.0   246  6.9   159  10.5   53  7.4   14  5.0   618  7.9   246  7.2

Mortgage-backed securities(3)   8  1.0   508  3.9   1  4.0   286  4.1   –  –   803  4.0   5,423  4.0
Asset-backed securities   3,394  5.3   229  4.7   37  4.9   38  6.1   –  –   3,698  5.3   1,110  5.7
Corporate debt   93  4.9   892  5.0   95  7.0   32  7.5   –  –   1,112  5.2   201  4.9
Private debt   22  10.3   23  12.0   4  17.0   77  6.7   2  8.0   128  8.6   446  8.2

Total debt securities   6,489    4,455    3,992    1,016    16    15,968    20,536(4)  

Corporate equity(5)   –  –   –  –   9  4.4   –  –   240  –   249  –   251  –
Private equity(6)   –  –   –  –   –  –   –  –   1,213  –   1,213  –   380  –
Total equity securities   –    –    9    –    1,453    1,462    631(4)  

Total AFS/Investment securities  $  6,489   $  4,455   $  4,001   $  1,016   $  1,469   $  17,430   $ 21,167  

Trading securities                      
Securities issued or guaranteed by:                      

Canadian federal government  $  1,343   $  2,549   $  294   $  439   $  –   $  4,625   $ 7,063  
Other Canadian governments   242    781    823    599    –    2,445    2,461  
U.S. Treasury and agencies   4,113    404    105    59    –    4,681    6,070  
Other foreign governments   31    73    116    –    –    220    235  

Mortgage-backed securities(7)   5    13    108    1,738    –    1,864    1,210  
Asset-backed securities   39    51    307    1,542    –    1,939    2,165  
Corporate debt   4,682    1,917    1,149    796    –    8,544    9,289  
Corporate equity   –    –    –    4    34,457    34,461    33,838  
Total trading securities  $  10,455   $  5,788   $  2,902   $  5,177   $  34,457   $  58,779   $ 62,331  

FVO securities                      
Securities issued or guaranteed by:                      

Canadian federal government  $  156   $  33   $  88   $ –   $ –   $  277    n/a  
U.S. Treasury and agencies   –    139    –    –    –    139    n/a  

Mortgage-backed securities(8)   1    9,473    –    88    –    9,562    n/a  
Asset-backed securities   –    –    5    308    –    313    n/a  

Total FVO securities  $  157   $  9,645   $  93   $  396   $ –   $  10,291    n/a  
Total securities(9)  $  17,101   $  19,888   $  6,996   $  6,589   $  35,926   $  86,500   $ 83,498  

(1)  Represents the weighted-average yield, which is determined by applying the weighted average of the yields of individual fi xed income securities and the stated dividend rates of corporate and private 
equity securities.

(2)  As discussed in Note 1, as at November 1, 2006, investment securities amounting to $15,429 million (AFS value $15,391 million) and $5,738 million (fair value $5,799 million) were reclassifi ed to 
AFS securities and FVO securities, respectively. The investment securities reclassifi ed to AFS securities include private equities accounted for at cost. In addition, investment in limited partnerships of 
$615 million (AFS value $615 million) previously included in other assets were reclassifi ed to AFS securities as at November 1, 2006.

(3) Includes securities issued or guaranteed by government, having an amortized cost  of $541 million and fair value of $540 million (2006: carrying and fair value $4.7 billion).
(4) Fair value of $20,418 million and $931 million, respectively.
(5) The fair value does not take into account any adjustments for resale restrictions that expire within one year or for future expenses.
(6)  Includes  shares of Visa Inc.  received in October 2007 in exchange for  certain membership interests in Visa Canada and Visa International,  pursuant to the global restructuring of Visa. These are all restricted 

shares.
(7) Includes securities issued or guaranteed by government $ 133 million (2006: $33 million).
(8) Includes securities issued or guaranteed by government $ 9.5  billion.
(9) Includes securities denominated in U.S. dollars $ 29.0 billion (2006: $34.8 billion) and securities denominated in other foreign currencies $ 2.7 billion (2006: $3.1 billion).
n/a Not appliciable due to the adoption of the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards.

clients to facilitate Oppenheimer’s business, with each loan subject 
to approval by CIBC’s credit committee. 

The transaction, which remains subject to regulatory approval, 
is expected to close in the fi rst quarter of 2008.

The transferred business contributed the following to our results 
over the past three years:

$ millions, for the year 
ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Net interest income  $  6  $ 11  $ 8
Non-interest income   477   428   463
Total revenue   483   439   471
Non-interest expenses   464   488   544
Income (loss) before taxes 

and non-controlling 
interests   19   (49)   (73)

Income tax expense 
(benefi t)   13   (15)   (26)

Net (loss) income  $ 6  $ (34)  $ (47) 
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Fair Value of AFS/Investment Securities
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Amortized 
cost

Gross 
unrealized 

gains

Gross 
unrealized 

losses
Fair

value
Carrying 

value

Gross 
unrealized 

gains

Gross 
unrealized 

losses
Fair

value

Securities issued or guaranteed by:
Canadian federal government  $   4,631  $   11  $   (26)  $   4,616  $ 7,797  $ 20  $ (6)  $ 7,811
Other Canadian governments    481   41   –    522   474   67   –   541
U.S. Treasury   4,619   –   (148)    4,471   4,682   –   (305)   4,377
Other U.S. agencies   –   –   –    –   157   10   –   167
Other foreign governments   618   –   –    618   246   19   –   265

Mortgage-backed securities(1)   807   1   (5)    803   5,423   12   (4)   5,431
Asset-backed securities   3,731   5   (38)    3,698   1,110   33   –   1,143
Corporate debt   1,107   6   (1)    1,112   201   2   –   203
Corporate equity(2)(3)   202   53   (4)   251   251   145   (2)   394
Private debt   108   20   –    128   446   35   (1)   480
Private equity(4)   1,213   460   (3)    1,670   380   182   (25)   537

 $   17,517  $   597  $   (225)  $   17,889  $ 21,167  $ 525  $ (343)  $ 21,349

(1) Includes securities issued or guaranteed by government, with an amortized cost            of $ 541  million (2006: carrying value $4.7 billion) and a fair value of $ 540   million (2006: $4.7 billion).
(2) 2007 includes certain restricted securities with fair value exceeding book value by $2 million.
(3)  Includes certain securities hedged by forward sale contracts with maturities in November 2006. The unrealized gains related to these securities decreased by $40 million in 2006 as a result of these 

hedges.
(4) Carried at amortized cost on the consolidated balance sheet as these do not have quoted market values in an active market.

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

Fair
value

Gross 
unrealized 

losses
Fair

value

Gross 
unrealized 

losses
Fair 

value

Gross 
unrealized 

losses
Fair

value

Gross 
unrealized 

losses
Fair

value

Gross 
unrealized 

losses
Fair

value

Gross 
unrealized 

losses
AFS/Investment securities
Securities issued or guaranteed by:

Canadian federal government  $   2,331  $   (25)  $  1,861  $   (1)  $  4,192  $   (26)  $ 3,795  $ (5)  $ 1,056  $ (1)  $ 4,851  $ (6)
Other Canadian governments   55   –   4   –   59   –   29   –   –   –   29   –
U.S. Treasury   1   –   3,696   (148)   3,697    (148)   1   –   4,274   (305)   4,275   (305)
Other U.S. agencies   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –
Other foreign governments   –   –   –   –   –   –   11   –   –   –   11   –

Mortgage-backed securities   524   (3)   50   (2)    574    (5)   154   (2)   41   (2)   195   (4)
Asset-backed securities   66   (38)   15   –    81    (38)   19   –   –   –   19   –
Corporate debt   81   (1)   –   –    81    (1)   56   –   –   –   56   –
Corporate equity   118   (4)   –   –    118    (4)   –   –   19   (2)   19   (2)
Private debt   –   –   –   –   –   –   7   (1)   5   –   12   (1)
Private equity   23   (3)   –   –    23    (3)   43   (11)   45   (14)   88   (25)

 $   3,199  $   (74)  $   5,626  $   (151)  $   8,825  $   (225)  $ 4,115  $ (19)  $ 5,440  $ (324)  $ 9,555  $ (343)

$ millions, for the year 
ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Realized gains  $  637  $ 148  $ 725
Realized losses  (67)  (19)  (41)
Impairment write-downs    

Debt securities  (17)  (11)  (6)
Equity securities  (32)  (47)  (77)

 $  521  $   71  $ 601 

For AFS/investment securities where the fair value is less than the amortized cost  (2006: carrying value), the following table presents current fair 
value and associated unrealized losses for periods less than 12 months and 12 months or longer:

As at October 31, 2007, the amortized cost  (2006: carrying value)  of 
116  AFS securities (2006: 97 investment securities) exceeded their 
fair value by $ 225 million (2006: $343 million). The securities that 
have been in a gross unrealized loss position for more than a year 
include  38  securities (2006: 23 securities), with a gross unrealized loss 
of $ 151  million (2006: $324 million). We have determined that any 
unrealized losses on our AFS securities are temporary in nature.

The following table presents realized gains, losses and impairment 
write-downs on AFS/investment securities:



 CIBC Annual Accountability Report 2007 103

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 5 Loans(1)(2)

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006
Gross 

amount
Specifi c 

allowance
General 

allowance
Total 

allowance
Net 

total
Gross 

amount
Specifi c 

allowance
General 

allowance
Total 

allowance
Net 

total
Amortized cost
Residential mortgages  $   91,664  $   30  $   11  $   41  $   91,623  $ 81,358  $ 13  $ 12  $ 25  $ 81,333
Personal(3)   29,213   207   368    575    28,638   28,052   245   380   625   27,427
Credit card   9,121   122   137    259    8,862   7,253   105   102   207   7,046
Business and government   31,074   194   374    568    30,506   26,763   179   406   585   26,178

   161,072    553    890    1,443    159,629   143,426   542   900   1,442   141,984

Designated at fair value            
Business and government    3,025   –   –   –    3,025   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a
Trading            
Business and government   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   3,641   –   –   –   3,641

 $   164,097  $   553  $   890  $   1,443  $   162,654  $ 147,067  $ 542  $ 900  $ 1,442  $ 145,625

(1) Loans are net of unearned income of $ 161 million (2006: $113 million).
(2) Includes gross loans of $ 14.2 billion (2006: $7.3 billion) denominated in U.S. dollars and of $ 2.8 billion (2006: $2.5 billion) denominated in other foreign currencies.
(3)  Includes $185 million (2006: $292 million), including a non-recourse portion of approximately $ 2 million (2006: $79 million), relating to loans to certain individuals while employed by CIBC to fi nance a 

portion of their participation in funds which make private equity investments on a side-by-side basis with CIBC and its affi liates. These loans are secured by the borrowers’ interest in the funds. Of these, 
$1 40 million (2006: $205 million) relate to individuals who are no longer employed by CIBC.

n/a Not appliciable due to the adoption of the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards.

Loan Maturities
Residual term to contractual maturity

$ millions, as at October 31 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years 5 to 10 years Over 10 years 2007 Total
Residential mortgages  $   9,206  $   71,152  $   9,128  $   2,178  $   91,664
Personal   13,271   14,989   608   345    29,213
Credit card   2,357   6,764   –   –    9,121
Business and government   15,240   10,552   6,697   1,610    34,099
  $   40,074  $   103,457  $   16,433  $   4,133  $   164,097
Sensitivity of loans due after one year to changes in interest rates      

Fixed interest rates   $   39,861  $   9,916  $   1,249  $   51,026
Floating interest rates    63,596   6,517   2,884   72,997

   $  103,457  $   16,433  $   4,133  $   124,023

Allowance for Credit Losses
Specifi c Allowance

Residential mortgages Personal Credit card Business and government Total specifi c allowance
$ millions, as at or for the year
ended October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Balance at beginning of year  $  13  $ 18  $ 17  $  245  $ 262  $ 237  $  105  $ 101  $ 133  $  181  $ 282  $ 416  $  544  $ 663  $ 803
Provision for credit losses   6 6 7   280 341 378   294 238 283   51 27 88    631   612   756
Write-offs   (7) (12) (7)   (377) (393) (376)   (331) (282) (363)   (146) (179) (255)    (861)   (866)   (1,001)
Recoveries   – – –   26 21 23   55 47 60   66 50 41   147   118   124
Transfer from general(1)   – – –   5 11 –   – – –   – – –    5   11   –
Other(2)   18 1 1   28 3 –   (1) 1 (12)   42 1 (8)    87   6   (19)
Balance at end of year(3)  $   30  $ 13  $ 18  $   207  $ 245  $ 262  $  1 2 2  $ 105  $ 101  $  1 94  $ 181  $ 282  $  5 53  $ 544  $ 663

(1) Related to student loan portfolio.
(2) Includes $117 million related to the FirstCaribbean acquisition during the year.
(3) Allowance on letters of credit (2007: nil; 2006: $2 million; 2005: $2 million) is included in other liabilities.

General Allowance
Residential mortgages Personal Credit card Business and government Total general allowance

$ millions, as at or for the year 
ended October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Balance at beginning of year  $ 12  $ 19  $ 22  $ 380  $ 349  $ 285  $ 102  $ 106  $ 209  $ 406  $ 501  $ 509  $ 900  $ 975  $ 1,025
Provision for (reversal of) 

credit losses   (6)   (7)   (3)   (15)   42   64   35   (4)   (103)   (42)   (95)   (8)    (28)   (64)   (50)
Transfer to specifi c(1)   –   –   –   (5)   (11)   –   –   –   –   –   –   –    (5)   (11)   –
Other(2)   5   –   –   8   –   –   –   –   –   10   –   –   23   –   –
Balance at end of year  $ 1 1  $ 12  $ 19  $ 3 68  $ 380  $ 349  $ 1 37  $ 102  $ 106  $  374  $ 406  $ 501  $  890  $ 900  $ 975

(1) Related to student loan portfolio.
(2) Related to the FirstCaribbean acquisition during the year.
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Impaired Loans
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Gross 
amount

Specifi c 
allowance

Net 
total

Gross
amount

Specifi c 
allowance

Net 
total

Residential mortgages  $   219  $   30  $   189  $ 118  $ 13  $ 105
Personal(1)   274   207    67   268   245   23
Credit card(1)   –   122    (122)   –   105   (105)
Business and government   370   194    176   244   179   65

Total impaired loans(2)  $   863  $   553  $   310  $ 630  $ 542  $ 88

(1)  Specifi c allowances for large numbers of homogeneous balances of relatively small amounts are established by reference to historical ratios of write-offs to balances in arrears and to balances outstanding; 
this may result in negative net impaired loans.

(2) Average balance of gross impaired loans totalled $908 million (2006: $811 million).

Net Interest Income after Provision for Credit Losses
$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005
Interest income  $  15,781  $ 13,269  $ 11,256
Interest expense   11,223   8,834   6,319

Net interest income    4,558   4,435   4,937
Provision for credit losses   603   548   706

Net interest income after provision for credit losses  $  3,955  $ 3,887  $ 4,231

As at October 31, 2007, other past due loans totalled $ 60 million 
(2006: $45 million) all of which were in Canada. Other past due 
loans, excluding credit card loans and government-guaranteed 
loans, are loans where repayment of principal or payment of interest 
is contractually in arrears between 90 and 180 days. These loans 
have not been classifi ed as impaired loans because they are both 
fully secured and in the process of collection. If the number of days 
in arrears reaches 180, the loans become impaired notwithstanding 
the security held.

As at October 31, 2007, the interest entitlements on loans 
classified as impaired totalled $ 73 million (2006: $46 million; 
2005: $64 million), of which $ 40 million (2006: $45 million; 2005: 
$58 million) were in Canada and $ 33 million (2006: $1 million; 2005: 
$6 million) were outside Canada. During the year, interest recognized 
on loans before being classifi ed as impaired totalled $ 62 million 
(2006: $56 million; 2005: $63 million), of which $ 51 million (2006: 
$56 million; 2005: $62 million) was in Canada and $ 11 million (2006: 
nil; 2005: $1 million) was outside Canada.

Note 6 Securitizations and Variable Interest Entities

Securitizations
Residential mortgages
We securitize insured fi xed- and variable-rate residential mortgages 
through the creation of mortgage-backed securities under the 
Canada Mortgage Bond Program. Beginning in 2006, we also 
started securitizing uninsured fi xed-rate mortgages to a QSPE. Upon 
sale of these assets, a net gain or loss is recognized in income from 
securitized assets. We retain responsibility for servicing the mortgages 
and recognize revenue as these services are provided.

Commercial mortgages
We securitize certain commercial mortgages through a trust that 
issues securities. We retain no benefi cial interest in these mortgages, 
but we continue to service these mortgages and recognize revenue 
as these services are provided.

Credit cards
We securitize credit card receivables to a QSPE. We maintain the credit 
card client servicing responsibilities for the securitized receivables and 
recognize revenue as services are provided.

The following table summarizes our securitization and sales 
activity:

$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005
Residential
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages

Residential
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages Cards

Residential 
mortgages Cards

Securitized  $  13,768(1)  $ 357  $ 10,314(1)  $ 380  $ 381  $ 10,178  $ 2,345(2)

Sold(3)   7,017(1)   357   7, 826(1)   380   381   7,876   2,345(2)

Net cash proceeds   6,963   346   7,779   389   381   7,842   2,345
Retained interest(4)   111   –   127   –   32   170   210
Gain on sale, net of transaction costs   41   (1)   27   7   1   32   18
Retained interest assumptions (%)        
Weighted-average remaining life (in years)  3.8  –  3.7  –  0.2  4.1  0.2
Prepayment/payment rate  11.0 – 39.0  –  11.0 – 39.0  –  43.0  12.0 – 39.0  43.9
Discount rate  4.0 – 4.9  –  3.5 – 4.8  –  9.0  2.6 – 4.2  9.0
Expected credit losses  0.0 – 0.1  –  0.0 – 0.1  –  3.5  –  3.7

(1) Includes $249 million (2006: $1,158 million) of uninsured fi xed-rate mortgages securitized to a QSPE.
(2) Net of $350 million related to the wind-down of a previous securitization.
(3) Assets securitized and not sold are reported as FVO securities (2006 and 2005: investment securities) on the consolidated balance sheet and stated at fair value.
(4)  Retained interests arising from sale of securitized assets are reported as AFS securities (2006 and 2005: investment securities) on the consolidated balance sheet. Impairment write-down of retained 

interests for the year amounted to $ 2 million (2006: $31 million; 2005: $24 million).
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$ millions, for the year ended October 31
Residential 
mortgages

Commercial 
mortgages Cards

2007 Proceeds from new securitizations  $  6,963  $  346  $ –
Proceeds reinvested in revolving securitizations   –   –    27,553
Servicing fees received    57   –   88
Other cash fl ows received on retained interests   189   –   459

2006 Proceeds from new securitizations  $ 7,779  $ 389  $ 381
Proceeds reinvested in revolving securitizations   –   –   21,954
Servicing fees received   48   –   87
Other cash fl ows received on retained interests   165   –   474

2005 Proceeds from new securitizations  $ 7,842  $ –  $ 2,345
Proceeds reinvested in revolving securitizations   –   –   11,957
Servicing fees received   37   2   46
Other cash fl ows received on retained interests   142   –   271

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006
Residential 
mortgages  Cards

Residential 
mortgages  Cards

Amortized cost of retained interests  $  264(1)  $  317  $ 236  $ 336
Fair value of retained interests   267(1)   320   247   341
Weighted-average remaining life (in years)   2.5   0.2   2.6   0.2
Prepayment/payment rate  7.0 – 36.0%  41.8%(2)  7.0 – 39.0%  43.0%(2)

Impact on fair value of a 10% adverse change  (7)  (2)  (11)  (2)
Impact on fair value of a 20% adverse change  (15)  (3)  (21)  (4)

Expected credit losses  0.0 – 0.1%  3.4%  0.0 – 0.1%  3.5%
Impact on fair value of a 10% adverse change  –  (3)  –  (3)
Impact on fair value of a 20% adverse change  –  (6)  –  (6)

Residual cash fl ows discount rate (annual rate)  4.6 – 5.0%  6.5%  4.3 – 5.1%  9.0%
Impact on fair value of a 10% adverse change  ( 1)  –  (1)  –
Impact on fair value of a 20% adverse change   (2)  –  (2)  –

(1) Includes $52 million of investment in one of our securitization vehicles, which has been excluded from the assumptions noted in the table.
(2) Monthly payment rate.

The following table summarizes certain cash fl ows as a result of securitization activity:

Key economic assumptions used in measuring the fair value of 
retained interests in securitizations and the sensitivity of the current 
fair value of residual cash fl ows to changes in those assumptions are 
set out in the table below.

The sensitivities are hypothetical and should be viewed with 
caution, as changes in fair value based on variations in assumptions 

generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of the 
change in assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. 
Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair 
value of the retained interests is calculated without changing any 
other assumptions. Changes in one factor may result in changes in 
another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities.

% of outstanding loans, as at October 31 2007 2006
Residential 
mortgages  Cards

Residential 
mortgages  Cards

Actual and projected credit losses  0.0 – 0.1%  3.4% 0.0 – 0.1%  3.5%

Static pool credit losses include actual incurred and projected credit losses divided by the original balance of securitized loans. The following 
table summarizes our expected static pool credit losses:
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$ millions, as at or for the year ended October 31 2007 2006

Type of loan

Total 
principal 

amount of 
loans

Impaired 
and other 

past due 
loans

Net
write-offs(1)

Total 
principal 

amount of 
loans

Impaired and 
other past 
due loans

Net
write-offs(1)

Residential mortgages  $  116,721  $  235  $  9  $ 101,254  $ 144  $ 13
Personal   29,213   312   351   28,052   284   372
Credit card   13,372   27   425   11,722   33   384
Business and government(2)   34,774   379   80   30,779   250   129

Total loans reported and securitized(3)    194,080    953    865   171,807   711   898

Less: loans securitized             
Residential mortgages   25,057   3   2   19,896   3   1
Credit card   4,251   27   149   4,469   33   149
Business and government(2)   675   –   –   375   –   –

Total loans securitized    29,983    30    151   24,740   36   150
Total loans reported on the consolidated balance sheet  $  164,097  $  923  $  714  $ 147,067  $ 675  $ 748

(1) Represents write-offs in the current year net of recoveries on previously written-off loans.
(2) Includes commercial mortgages and investment-grade loans.
(3) Includes loans outstanding and loans that have been securitized, which we continue to manage.

The following table summarizes the loan principal, impaired and other past due loans and net write-offs for total loans reported on our 
consolidated balance sheet and loans securitized:

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

AFS securities  $ 10  $ –
Investment securities   –   12
Trading securities   50   56
Residential mortgages   4   15

 $ 64  $ 83

$ billions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Total 
assets

Maximum 
exposure 

to loss
Total 

assets

Maximum 
exposure 

to loss
CIBC sponsored multi-seller conduits  $ 16.4  $ 15.1(1)  $ 14.4  $ 13.4(1)

CIBC structured CDO vehicles   1.5   0.4   1.1   0.2(2)

Third-party structured vehicles   4.4   1.8   3.8   1.5(3)

(1)  Includes $0.3 billion (2006: $0.3 billion) of liquidity commitments that exceed the current size of the conduits.
(2) Excludes $0.6 billion of exposure that is hedged with third parties.
(3) Excludes $1.8 billion of exposure that is hedged with third parties.

Variable interest entities
VIEs that are consolidated
Since we were considered the primary benefi ciary of certain VIEs, we 
consolidated total assets and liabilities of approximately $64 million 
as at October 31, 2007 (2006: $83 million).

The table below provides further details on the assets that 
support the obligations of the consolidated VIEs.

the liabilities (the obligation to deliver CIBC common shares to the 
participants) of the trusts offset each other in the treasury shares 
section of the consolidated balance sheet.

VIEs where we have a signifi cant interest, but are not 
consolidated
We have signifi cant interests in VIEs where we are not considered 
the primary benefi ciary and thus do not consolidate. We may provide 
these VIEs liquidity facilities, hold their notes, or act as counterparty to 
derivative contracts. These VIEs include several multi-seller conduits in 
Canada, which we sponsor, and CDOs for which we act as structuring 
and placement agents and for which we may manage collateral on 
behalf of investors.

Securities issued by entities established by Canada Housing 
and Mortgage Corporation, Federal National Mortgage Association 
(Fannie Mae), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie 
Mac), Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae), 
and Student Loan Marketing Association (Sally Mae) are among our 
holdings that are not considered signifi cant interests in the entities.

Maximum exposure to loss are amounts net of hedges. The 
maximum exposure comprises the fair value for investments, the 
notional amounts for liquidity and credit facilities, the notional amounts 
less accumulated fair value losses for written credit derivatives on VIE 
reference assets, and the positive fair value for all other derivative 
contracts with VIEs. Excluded hedged positions amount to $34.1 
billion (2006: $24.7 billion).

Investors in the consolidated VIEs have recourse only to the assets of 
the VIEs and do not have recourse to our general credit, except where 
we have provided liquidity facilities, credit enhancements or are a 
counterparty to a derivative transaction involving the VIE.

In addition, we were considered the primary beneficiary of 
certain compensation trusts with assets of approximately $419 million 
(2006: $400 million) as represented by 4.1 million CIBC common 
shares as at October 31, 2007 (2006: 4.6 million CIBC common 
shares). However, the consolidation of these trusts does not have 
a signifi cant impact as both the assets (CIBC common shares) and 
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Note 8 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

$ millions, for the year ended October 31
CIBC Retail 

Markets
CIBC World 

Markets
Corporate 
and Other

CIBC 
Total

2007 Balance at beginning of year  $ 883  $ 56  $ 43  $ 982
Acquisitions   1,061(1)   10   –    1,071
Adjustments(2)   (202)   (4)   –    (206)
Balance at end of year  $  1,742  $  62  $ 43  $  1,847

2006 Balance at beginning of year  $ 883  $ 57  $ 6  $ 946
Acquisitions   –   –   37(3)   37
Adjustments(2)   –   (1)   –   (1)
Balance at end of year  $ 883  $ 56  $ 43  $ 982

(1)  Includes the acquisition of FirstCaribbean (Note  3).
(2) Includes foreign currency translation adjustments.
(3) Includes the acquisition of the remaining non-controlling interest in INTRIA Items Inc. (INTRIA).

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006
Gross 

carrying 
amount

Accumulated
amortization(1)

Net
carrying 
amount(2)

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Accumulated
amortization(1)

Net
carrying 
amount(2)

Finite-lived other intangible assets
Customer relationships  $  123  $  74  $  49  $ 121  $ 65  $ 56
Core deposit intangibles(3)   231   27   204   –   –   –
Contract based(4)   51   33    18   50   30   20

   405    134    271   171   95   76
Indefi nite-lived other intangible assets
Contract based(4)   116   –    116   116   –   116
Brandname(5)   19   –   19   –   –   –

   135   –    135   116   –   116

Total other intangible assets  $  540  $  134  $  406  $ 287  $ 95  $ 192

(1) Amortization of other intangible assets for the year amounted to $ 39 million (2006: $29 million; 2005: $12 million).
(2) Includes foreign currency translation adjustments.
(3) A core deposit intangible asset was acquired as part of the FirstCaribbean acquisition (Note 3).
(4) Includes certain contract-based assets purchased as part of the INTRIA acquisition.
(5) Brandname was acquired as part of the FirstCaribbean acquisition (Note 3).

We completed our annual impairment testing on goodwill and other intangible assets and determined that no impairment write-downs were 
required.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

The components of other intangible assets are as follows:

Note 7 Land, Buildings and Equipment

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Cost(1)
Accumulated
amortization(2)

Net book
value

Net book
value

Land(3)  $  224  $ –  $  224  $ 238
Buildings(3)   900   279   621   640
Computer equipment and software   2,219   1,733   486   419
Offi ce furniture and other equipment   759   350   409   486
Leasehold improvements   599   361   238   249

 $  4,701  $  2,723  $  1,978  $ 2,032

(1) Includes $ 175 million (2006: $242 million) of work in progress not subject to amortization.
(2) Amortization of buildings, furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements for the year amounted to $ 214 million (2006: $206 million; 2005: $214 million).
(3) Land and buildings include amounts of $ 153 million (2006: $182 million) and $ 354 million (2006: $433 million), respectively, for which we are deemed to have ownership for accounting purposes.

$ millions, as at October 31 2007

2008  $ 38
2009   36
2010   34
2011   32
2012   30

The total estimated amortization expense relating to fi nite-lived other intangible assets for each of the next fi ve years is as follows:
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Note 9 Other Assets

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Accrued interest receivable  $  1,177  $ 1,089
Accrued benefi t asset (Note  21)   1,057   1,037
Brokers’ client accounts   620   594
Current income tax receivable   79   –
Future income tax asset (Note  22)   297   619
Other prepayments and deferred items   707   978
Investment in limited partnerships(1)   –   615
Equity-accounted investments   279   1,096
Cheques and other items in transit, net   512   1,189
Derivative collateral receivable   3,010   1,710
Derivatives held for ALM, not carried at fair value (Note 2)(2)   –   959
Accounts receivable   722   645
Other   467   426

 $  8,927  $ 10,957

(1) Classifi ed as AFS securities under the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards applicable from November 1, 2006. See Note 1 for further details.
(2) As of November 1, 2006, classifi ed as derivative instruments and carried at fair value. See Note 1 for additional details. 

Note 10 Deposits(1)(2)

Payable on a fi xed date(3)

$ millions, as at October 31

Payable 
on

demand(4)

Payable 
after

notice(5)
Within
1 year

1 to
2 years

2 to
3 years

3 to
4 years

4 to
5 years

Over
5 years

2007
Total

2006
Total

Personal  $  5,885  $  37,602  $  31,930  $  7,266  $  4,306  $  1,842  $  1,984  $  957  $  91,772  $ 81,829
Business and government   24,613   7,030    74,246   7,078   2,500   2,181   4,990   3,240    125,878   107,468
Bank   1,609   4    10,612   1   1,018   –   –   778    14,022   13,594

 $  32,107  $  44,636  $  116,788  $  14,345  $  7,824  $  4,023  $  6,974  $  4,975  $  231,672  $ 202,891
Comprises:         

Held at amortized cost                  $  230,026  $ 202,891
Designated at fair value                    1,646   n/a

Total deposits include:                     
Non-interest-bearing deposits                     

In domestic offi ces                  $  22,354  $ 22,292
In foreign offi ces                   2,374   395

Interest-bearing deposits                     
In domestic offi ces                   151,000   129,657
In foreign offi ces                   55,588   46,991

U.S. federal funds purchased                   356   3,556

                 $  231,672  $ 202,891

(1) Includes deposits of $ 62.6 billion (2006: $54.3 billion) denominated in U.S. dollars and deposits of $ 9.8 billion (2006: $11.2 billion) denominated in other foreign currencies.
(2) Net of own deposits purchased by CIBC $690 million (2006: $477 million).
(3) Include all deposits, which mature on a specifi ed date. These deposits are generally term deposits, guaranteed investment certifi cates and similar instruments.
(4) Include all deposits for which we do not have the right to require notice of withdrawal. These deposits are generally chequing accounts.
(5) Include all deposits for which we can legally require notice of withdrawal. These deposits are generally savings accounts.
n/a Not applicable due to the adoption of the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards.

Note 11 Other Liabilities

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006
Accrued interest payable  $  1,932  $ 2,243
Accrued benefi t liability (Note 21)   890   872
Gold and silver certifi cates   223   47
Brokers’ client accounts   2,759   2,766
Derivative collateral payable   1,841   1,396
Deferred gain on sale of real estate properties(1)   28   47
Other deferred items   229   112
Negotiable instruments   1,213   1,824
Current income tax liability   339   188
Future income tax liability (Note 22)   42   –
Derivatives held for ALM, not carried at fair value (Note 2)(2)   –   1,053
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   1,628   1,539
Other   2,604   2,629

 $  13,728  $ 14,716

(1) The deferred gain is being recognized in income each year over the approximate 10-year average term of the leases relating to properties that we sold and leased back in 2000.
(2) As of November 1, 2006, classifi ed as derivative instruments and carried at fair value. See Note 1 for additional details.
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Note 12 Trading Activities

Trading Assets and Liabilities
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006 
Assets
Debt securities  $  24,318  $ 28,493
Equity securities   34,461   33,838

Total securities (Note 4)    58,779   62,331

Business and government loans    n/a   3,641(1)

Derivative instruments (Note 14)    22,690   16,805

 $  81,469  $ 82,777

Liabilities
Obligations related to securities sold short  $  12,552  $ 12,716
Derivative instruments (Note 14)    24,208   16,891

 $  36,760  $ 29,607

(1) Trading loans which were designated at fair value upon the adoption of the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards.
n/a Not appliciable due to the adoption of the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards.

(Loss) Income from Trading Activities
$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005
Trading (loss) income consists of:

Interest income  $  2,817  $  2,525  $  1,962
Interest expense   3,455   2,969   1,943

Net interest (expense) income    (638)    (444)    19
Non-interest income   328   1,129   801

 $  (310)  $  685  $ 8 20
Trading income by product line:

Interest rates  $  318  $ 156  $ 198
Foreign exchange   190   163   169
Equities(1)   9   79   225
Commodities   26   39   31
Structured credit and other   (853)   248(2)   197(2)

 $  (310)  $ 685  $ 820

(1) Includes $ 2 million (2006: $28 million; 2005: $156 million) of non-controlling interests in VIEs.
(2) Includes trading loans which were designated at fair value upon the adoption of the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards.

The following tables present the assets and liabilities and income 
related to trading activities.

Trading income comprises net interest income and non-interest 
income. Net interest income arises from interest and dividends related 
to trading assets and liabilities other than derivatives, and is reported 
net of interest expense and income associated with funding these 
assets and liabilities. Non-interest income includes unrealized gains 

and losses on security positions held, and gains and losses that are 
realized from the purchase and sale of securities. Non-interest income 
also includes realized and unrealized gains and losses on trading 
derivatives .

Trading income excludes underwriting fees and commissions on 
securities transactions, which are shown separately in the consolidated 
statement of operations.

Note 13 Financial Instruments Designated at Fair Value (FVO)

Financial instruments designated at fair value include the following 
instruments that (i) would otherwise be recognized in income at 
amortized cost causing significant measurement inconsistencies 
with the hedging derivatives and securities sold short carried at fair 
value; or (ii) are managed on a fair value basis in accordance with 
a documented trading strategy and reported to key management 
personnel on that basis.

 Loans that were previously accounted for as trading including loans • 

hedged by or hedging total return swaps and credit derivatives as 
well as secondary traded loans that are intended to be sold within 
six months. 

Certain securities and deposit liabilities hedged by derivatives such • 

as interest rate swaps, seller swaps and other asset swaps.

The following tables present the designated FVO assets and liabilities, 
their hedges, and the related income from these fi nancial instruments. 
Net interest income arises from interest and dividends related to the 
FVO assets and liabilities, and is reported net of interest expense and 
income associated with funding these assets and liabilities. Non-
interest income includes unrealized gains and losses on the FVO 
assets and liabilities and related hedging derivatives and securities 
sold short.
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Designated FVO Assets and Liabilities
$ millions, as at October 31 2007
FVO assets
Debt securities  $  10,291
Business and government loans   3,025

 $  13,316
FVO liabilities   
Business and government deposits  $  1,154
Bank deposits    492

 $  1,646

Economic hedging assets and liabilities of FVO fi nancial instruments
$ millions, as at October 31 2007
Assets
Derivative instruments (Note  14)  $  179

 $  179
Liabilities   
Derivative instruments (Note  14)  $  211
Obligations related to securities sold short    536

 $  747

FVO and Related Hedges Income
$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007
Interest income  $  620
Interest expense(1)    567
Net interest income    53
Non-interest income   

FVO fi nancial instruments    (70)
Economic hedges(2)    226

   156
 $  209

(1) Includes $17 million on obligations related to securities sold short hedging the FVO fi nancial instruments.
(2) Comprises derivative instruments held to economically hedge FVO fi nancial instruments.

Loans designated at fair value
The drawn credit exposure of FVO loans is noted in the table above. 
The undrawn credit exposure related to FVO loans is $53 million. 
The cumulative change in fair value of the FVO loans attributable to 
changes in credit risk amounted to a  loss of $ 68 million.

The notional amount of the derivatives hedging the credit 
risk was $ 3.0 billion. The cumulative change in fair value of these 
derivatives attributable to changes in credit risk since the loans were 
fi rst designated amounted to a gain  of $ 70 million.

The changes in the fair value of the FVO loans attributable to 
changes in credit risk have been calculated by determining the credit 

spread implicit in the fair value of bonds issued by entities with similar 
characteristics.

Deposits designated at fair value
As at October 31, 2007, the carrying amount of FVO deposits was 
$ 14 million lower than the amount if the deposits were carried on a 
contractual settlement amount.

The cumulative change in fair value attributable to changes in 
CIBC’s credit risk amounted to a gain  of $ 7 million.

The change in fair value attributable to changes in CIBC’s credit 
risk has been calculated by reference to the change in the credit 
spread implicit in the market value of CIBC’s deposits.

Note 14 Derivative Instruments

As explained in Note 1, in the normal course of business, we use 
various derivative instruments in the course of trading and for ALM 
purposes. These derivatives limit, modify or give rise to varying degrees 
and types of risk.

$ millions, as at October 31 2007
Assets Liabilities

Trading (Note 1 2)  $  22,690  $  24,208
Designated accounting hedges (Note  15)   625   347
Economic hedges(1)     

Economic hedges of FVO fi nancial 
assets and liabilities (Note 1 3)   179   211

Other economic hedges   581   1,922
 $  24,075  $  26,688

(1)  Comprises derivatives not part of qualifying hedging relationships for accounting purposes under 
the CICA handbook section 3865.
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Derivatives used by CIBC
The majority of our derivative contracts are over-the-counter 
transactions that are privately negotiated between CIBC and the 
counterparty to the contract. The remainder are exchange traded 
contracts transacted through organized and regulated exchanges and 
consist primarily of options and futures.

Interest rate derivatives
Forward rate agreements are over-the-counter contracts that 
effectively fi x a future interest rate for a period of time. A typical 
forward rate agreement provides that at a pre-determined future 
date, a cash settlement will be made between the counterparties 
based upon the difference between a contracted rate and a market 
rate to be determined in the future, calculated on a specifi ed notional 
principal amount. No exchange of principal amount takes place.

Interest rate swaps are over-the-counter contracts in which two 
counterparties agree to exchange cash fl ows over a period of time 
based on rates applied to a specifi ed notional principal amount. 
A typical interest rate swap would require one counterparty to 
pay a fi xed market interest rate in exchange for a variable market 
interest rate determined from time to time with both calculated 
on a specifi ed notional principal amount. No exchange of principal 
amount takes place.

Interest rate options are contracts in which one party (the 
purchaser of an option) acquires from another party (the writer 
of an option), in exchange for a premium, the right, but not the 
obligation, either to buy or sell, on a specifi ed future date or within 
a specifi ed time, a specifi ed fi nancial instrument at a contracted 
price. The underlying fi nancial instrument will have a market price 
which varies in response to changes in interest rates. In managing 
our interest rate exposure, we act both as a writer and purchaser 
of these options. Options are transacted both over-the-counter and 
through exchanges.

Interest rate futures are standardized contracts transacted on an 
exchange. They are based upon an agreement to buy or sell a specifi ed 
quantity of a fi nancial instrument on a specifi ed future date, at a 
contracted price. These contracts differ from forward rate agreements 
in that they are in standard amounts with standard settlement dates 
and are transacted on an exchange.

Foreign exchange derivatives
Foreign exchange forwards are over-the-counter contracts in which 
one counterparty contracts with another to exchange a specifi ed 
amount of one currency for a specifi ed amount of a second currency, 
at a future date or range of dates.

Swap contracts comprise foreign exchange swaps and cross-
currency interest rate swaps. Foreign exchange swaps are transactions 
in which a foreign currency is simultaneously purchased in the spot 
market and sold in the forward market, or vice-versa. Cross-currency 
interest rate swaps are transactions in which counterparties exchange 
principal and interest fl ows in different currencies over a period of 
time. These contracts are used to manage both currency and interest 
rate exposures.

Foreign exchange futures contracts are similar in mechanics 
to foreign exchange forward contracts but differ in that they are in 
standard currency amounts with standard settlement dates and are 
transacted on an exchange.

Credit derivatives
Credit derivatives are over-the-counter contracts designed to transfer 
the credit risk in an underlying fi nancial instrument (usually termed as a 
reference asset) from one counterparty to another. The most common 
credit derivatives are credit default swaps (referred to as option 
contracts) and total return swaps (referred to as swap contracts). In 
option contracts, an option purchaser acquires credit protection on a 
reference asset or group of assets from an option writer in exchange 
for a premium. The option purchaser may pay the agreed premium at 
inception or over a period of time. The credit protection compensates 
the option purchaser for any deterioration in value of the reference 
asset upon the occurrence of certain credit events such as bankruptcy 
or failure to pay. Settlement may be cash based or physical, requiring 
the delivery of the reference asset to the option writer. In swap 
contracts, one counterparty agrees to pay or receive from the other 
cash amounts based on changes in the value of a reference asset or 
group of assets, including any returns such as interest earned on these 
assets in exchange for amounts that are based on prevailing market 
funding rates. These cash settlements are made regardless of whether 
there is a credit event. Certain swap contracts include an additional 
feature whereby the payer of the total return swap (party with the 
reference asset) has the right to sell the reference asset to CIBC at par 
at which point the contract terminates.

Equity derivatives
Equity swaps are over-the-counter contracts in which one counterparty 
agrees to pay, or receive from the other, cash amounts based on 
changes in the value of a stock index, a basket of stocks or a single 
stock. These contracts sometimes include a payment in respect of 
dividends.

Equity options give the purchaser of the option, for a premium, 
the right, but not the obligation, to buy from or sell to the writer of 
an option, an underlying stock index, basket of stocks or single stock 
at a contracted price. Options are transacted both over-the-counter 
and through exchanges.

Equity index futures are standardized contracts transacted on 
an exchange. They are based on an agreement to pay or receive a 
cash amount based on the difference between the contracted price 
level of an underlying stock index and its corresponding market price 
level at a specifi ed future date. There is no actual delivery of stocks 
that comprise the underlying index. These contracts are in standard 
amounts with standard settlement dates.

 Precious metal and other commodity derivatives
We also transact in other derivative products, including commodity 
forwards, futures, swaps and options, such as precious metal and 
energy-related products in both over-the-counter and exchange 
markets.

Notional amounts
The following table presents the notional amounts of derivative 
instruments.

The notional amounts are not recorded as assets or liabilities as 
they represent the face amount of the contract to which a rate or price 
is applied to determine the amount of cash fl ows to be exchanged. In 
most cases, notional amounts do not represent the potential gain or 
loss associated with market risk or credit risk of such instruments.
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Risk
In the following sections, we discuss the risks related to the use of 
derivatives and how we manage these risks.

Market risk
Derivative instruments, in the absence of any compensating upfront 
cash payments, generally have no or small market values at inception. 
They obtain value, positive or negative, as relevant interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates, equity, commodity, credit prices or indices 
change, such that the previously contracted terms of the derivative 
transactions have become more or less favourable than what can be 

Notional Amounts
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Residual term to contractual maturity

Less than
1 year

1 to
5 years

Over
5 years

Total
notional
amounts Trading ALM Trading ALM

Interest rate derivatives
Over-the-counter

Forward rate agreements  $  31,067  $  536  $  952  $  32,555  $  30,248  $  2,307  $ 29,834  $ 85
Swap contracts   171,652   325,147   112,745    609,544   437,411   172,133   466,316   130,536
Purchased options   6,591   18,778   15,512    40,881   40,706   175   31,844   2,785
Written options   10,378   13,808   9,760    33,946   30,652   3,294   43,222   2,583

   219,688    358,269    138,969    716,926    539,017    177,909   571,216   135,989

Exchange traded
Futures contracts   50,094   12,423   238    62,755   59,228   3,527   107,060   8,209
Purchased options   9,565   709   –    10,274   10,274   –   38,860   –
Written options   10,718   4,346   –    15,064   15,064   –   47,931   –

   70,377    17,478    238    88,093    84,566    3,527   193,851   8,209

Total interest rate derivatives    290,065    375,747    139,207    805,019    623,583    181,436   765,067   144,198

Foreign exchange derivatives             
Over-the-counter             

Forward contracts   74,465   3,072   719    78,256   59,581   18,675   54,897   8,098
Swap contracts   16,351   34,197   16,075    66,623   55,774   10,849   59,677   18,064
Purchased options   2,293   426   327    3,046   3,046   –   3,508   –
Written options   2,364   425   232    3,021   2,994   27   3,654   92

   95,473    38,120    17,353    150,946    121,395    29,551   121,736   26,254

Exchange traded             
Futures contracts   2   –   –    2   2   –   –   –

Total foreign exchange derivatives    95,475    38,120    17,353    150,948    121,397    29,551   121,736   26,254

Credit derivatives
Over-the-counter     

Swap contracts(1)   1,289   2,291   9,737    13,317   12,868   449   2,177   –
Purchased options   7,066   23,594   54,290    84,950   76,557   8,393   55,943   8,246
Written options(2)   2,012   21,720   43,551    67,283   67,180   103   59,585   184

Total credit derivatives    10,367    47,605    107,578    165,550    156,605    8,945   117,705   8,430

Equity derivatives(3)             
Over-the-counter   31,005   9,129   1,266    41,400   41,112   288   42,829   379
Exchange traded   24,354   12,793   30    37,177   37,072   105   52,482   119

Total equity derivatives    55,359    21,922    1,296    78,577    78,184    393   95,311   498

Precious metal derivatives(3)     

Over-the-counter   659   266   –    925   925   –   1,046   47

Exchange traded   3   –   –    3   3   –   32   2

Total precious metal derivatives    662    266   –    928    928   –   1,078   49

Other commodity derivatives(3)             
Over-the-counter   7,720   8,352   576    16,648   16,648   –   23,447   92
Exchange traded   2,291   1,448   7    3,746   3,411   335   4,070   15

Total other commodity derivatives    10,011    9,800    583    20,394    20,059    335   27,517   107

 $  461,939  $  493,460  $  266,017  $  1,221,416  $  1,000,756  $  220,660  $ 1,128,414  $ 179,536

(1) Comprises credit protection bought $2,797 million and credit protection sold $10,520 million.
(2) ALM written options are reported as fi nancial guarantees in Note 2 4.
(3) Comprises forwards, futures, swaps and options.

negotiated under current market conditions for contracts with the 
same terms and the same remaining period to expiry. The potential for 
derivatives to increase or decrease in value as a result of the foregoing 
factors is generally referred to as market risk.

Market risk arising through trading activities is managed in order 
to mitigate risk, where appropriate, and with a view to maximizing 
trading revenue. To further manage risks, we may enter into contracts 
with other market makers or may undertake cash market hedges. 
There is no correlation between the high notional values of contracts 
to which we are a party and the net market and credit risks to which 
we are exposed.
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Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its 
contractual obligations and the risk that prevailing market conditions 
are such that we would incur a loss in replacing the defaulted 
transaction. We limit the credit risk of derivatives traded over-the-
counter by dealing with counterparties that are creditworthy, and 
by actively pursuing risk mitigation opportunities through the use of 
multi-product derivative master netting agreements, collateral and 
other credit mitigation techniques.

We negotiate derivative master netting agreements with 
counterparties with which we have signifi cant credit risk through 
derivatives activities. Such agreements provide for the simultaneous 
close out and netting of all transactions with a counterparty in an 
event of default. A  number of these agreements also provide for the 
exchange of collateral between parties in the event that the mark-to-
market value of outstanding transactions between the parties exceeds 
an agreed threshold. Such agreements are used both to accommodate 
business with less creditworthy counterparties and to help contain the 
build-up of credit exposure resulting from multiple deals with more 
active counterparties. Credit risk on exchange traded futures and 
options is limited, as these transactions are standardized contracts 
executed on established exchanges each of which is associated with 
a well-capitalized clearing house that assumes the obligations of 
both counterparties and guarantees their performance. All exchange 
traded contracts are subject to initial margins and generally to daily 
settlement of variation margins.

Written options generally have no credit risk for the writer if the 
counterparty has already performed in accordance with the terms of 
the contract through payment of the premium at inception. Written 
options will, however, have some credit risk to the extent of any 
unpaid premiums.

The following table summarizes our credit exposure arising 
from derivative instruments except for those that are traded on 
an exchange and subject to daily margining requirements. The 
calculation of risk-weighted amount is prescribed by OSFI. The current 
replacement cost is the estimated cost to replace all contracts which 
have a positive market value, representing an unrealized gain to CIBC. 
The replacement cost of an instrument is dependent upon its terms 
relative to prevailing market prices, and will fl uctuate as market prices 
change and as the derivative approaches its scheduled maturity.

The credit equivalent amount is the sum of the current 
replacement cost and the potential credit exposure. The potential 
credit exposure is an estimate of the amount by which the current 
replacement cost could increase over the remaining term of each 
transaction, based on a formula prescribed by OSFI. The credit 
equivalent amount is then multiplied by standard counterparty risk-
weighting factors prescribed by OSFI that are adjusted for the impact 
of collateral and guarantees to arrive at the risk-weighted amount. 
The risk-weighted amount is used in determining the regulatory 
capital requirements for derivatives.

Credit Risk
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Current replacement cost(1) Credit
equivalent

amount(2)

Risk-
weighted

amount

Current replacement cost(1) Credit 
equivalent

amount(2)

Risk-
weighted

amountTrading ALM Total Trading ALM Total

Interest rate derivatives
Forward rate agreements  $  9  $ –  $  9  $  27  $  12  $ 11  $ 1  $ 12  $ 13  $ 5
Swap contracts   5,197   864    6,061   9,252   2,073   6,428   933   7,361   10,617   2,217
Purchased options   535   2    537   863   189   645   20   665   860   211

   5,741    866    6,607    10,142    2,274   7,084   954   8,038   11,490   2,433

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward contracts   2,127   137    2,264   2,974   847   511   38   549   1,161   384
Swap contracts   5,204   277    5,481   8,559   1,477   3,739   120   3,859   7,574   1,463
Purchased options   162   –    162   231   78   98   –   98   179   54

   7,493    414    7,907    11,764    2,402   4,348   158   4,506   8,914   1,901

Credit derivatives(1)

Swap contracts   77   –    77   1,484   635   48   –   48   263   114
Purchased options   4,333   –    4,333   13,148   5,722   93   –   93   6,948   3,013
Written options(3)   157   –    157   157   59   197   –   197   197   45

   4,567   –    4,567    14,789    6,416   338   –   338   7,408   3,172

Equity derivatives(4)   1,604   10    1,614   3,867   939   2,077   19   2,096   4,262   1,345

Precious metal derivatives(4)   48   –    48   80   21   83   –   83   117   51

 Other commodity derivatives(4)   1,328   –   1,328   2,914   1,126   1,400   35   1,435   3,734   1,450

   20,781    1,290    22,071    43,556    13,178   15,330   1,166   16,496   35,925   10,352
Less:  effect of master 

netting agreements   (10,736)   –    (10,736)   (18,175)   (4,672)   (10,799)   –   (10,799)   (18,962)   (5,222)

 $  10,045  $  1,290  $  11,335  $  25,381  $  8,506  $ 4,531  $ 1,166  $ 5,697  $ 16,963  $ 5,130

(1)  ALM credit derivatives with a replacement cost of $95 million (2006: $40 million), are given fi nancial guarantee treatment for credit risk capital purposes and are excluded from the table above. In addition, 
exchange traded instruments with a replacement cost of $1,910 million (2006: $1,475 million) are excluded in accordance with the guidelines of OSFI.

(2)  Sum of current replacement cost and potential credit exposure, adjusted for the impact of collateral amounting to $ 1,667 million (2006: $1,37 3 million). The collateral comprises cash $ 1,398 million (2006: 
$1,2 78 million), government securities $ 173 million (2006: $ 80 million) and other instruments $ 96 million (2006: $1 5 million).

(3) Comprises credit protection sold. The amount represents the fair value of contracts for which fees are received over the life of the contracts.
(4) Comprises forwards, swaps and options.
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Note 15 Designated Accounting Hedges

$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007
Fair value hedges(1)  $  (18)
Cash fl ow hedges(2)    2

(1) Recognized in net interest income.
(2) Recognized in other non-interest income.

$ millions, as at October 31 2007
Derivatives 

notional 
amount

Carrying value

Positive Negative
Fair value hedges  $  72,601  $  346  $  344
Cash fl ow hedges    4,193    155    2
NIFO hedges    4,924    124    1

 $  81,718  $  625  $  347

The following table presents the hedge ineffectiveness gains (losses) 
recognized in the consolidated statement of operations:

Portions of derivative gains (losses) that by designation were 
excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness for fair value 
and cash fl ow hedging activities are included in the consolidated 
statement of operations and are not signifi cant for the year ended 
October 31, 2007.

The following table presents notional amounts and carrying 
value of our hedging-related derivative instruments:

In addition, foreign currency denominated deposit liabilities of 
$ 163 million and $ 13,223  million have been designated as fair value 
hedges of foreign exchange risk and NIFO hedges, respectively.

Note 16 Subordinated Indebtedness

Terms of Subordinated Indebtedness
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Earliest date redeemable

Interest rate % Maturity date
At greater of Canada 
Yield Price(1) and par At par

Denominated in 
foreign currency

Par
value

Carrying
value(2)

Carrying
value(2)

Floating(3)  August 14, 2012  August 14, 2007 US$ 300 million  $ –  $ –  $ 337
4.75(4)  January 21, 2013  January 20, 2003 January 21, 2008   250    249   250
5.89(4)  February 26, 2013  February 26, 1998 February 26, 2008   89(5)    89   120
4.25(4)  June 1, 2014  May 6, 2004 June 1, 2009   750    747   750
4.50(4)  October 15, 2014  September 14, 2004 October 15, 2009   500    496   500
9.65  October 31, 2014  November 1, 1999    250    322   250

Floating(6)  March 10, 2015  March 10, 2010 US$ 200 million   188   188   –
3.75(4)  September 9, 2015  September 9, 2005 September 9, 2010   1,300    1,300   1,300
4.55(4)  March 28, 2016  March 28, 2006 March 28, 2011   1,080(7)    1,068   1,300
Fixed(9)  March 23, 2017   September 23, 2012 TT$ 195 million   30   30   –

Floating(10)  June 22, 2017   June 22, 2012 E 200 million   274   274   –
8.70  May 25, 2029(8)      25    37   25

11.60  January 7, 2031  January 7, 1996    200    200   200
10.80  May 15, 2031  May 15, 2021    150    150   150
8.70  May 25, 2032(8)      25    36   25
8.70  May 25, 2033(8)      25    36   25
8.70  May 25, 2035(8)      25    37   25

Floating(11)  July 31, 2084   July 27, 1990 US$  198 million(12)   187   187   222
Floating(13)  August 31, 2085   August 20, 1991 US$ 103 million   98   98   116

     $  5,446  $  5,544  $ 5,595
Subordinated debt held for trading purposes      (18)    (18)   –

     $  5,428  $  5,526  $ 5,595

(1) Canada Yield Price: a price calculated at the time of redemption to provide a yield to maturity equal to the yield of a Government of Canada bond of appropriate maturity plus a pre-determined spread.
(2) Beginning November 1, 2006, pursuant to adoption of the fi nancial instruments standards, the carrying value of fair value hedged subordinated indebtedness includes a basis adjustment. 

Refer to Note 1 for additional details on the basis adjustment. Prior to November 1, 2006, the carrying value was the same as the par value.
(3) Redeemed for cash on August 14, 2007. Issued by CIBC World Markets plc and guaranteed by CIBC on a subordinated basis. Interest rate is based on the three-month US$LIBOR plus 0.35% until the 

earliest date redeemable by CIBC World Markets plc and, thereafter, on the three-month US$LIBOR plus 1.35%.
(4) Interest rate is fi xed at the indicated rate until the earliest date redeemable at par by CIBC and, thereafter, at the three-month Canadian dollar bankers’ acceptance rate plus 1.00%.
(5) On August 27, 2007, pursuant to our offer, the holders of $31 million of debentures elected to convert their holdings to deposit notes issued by CIBC.
(6) Issued by FirstCaribbean. Interest rate is based on the three-month US$LIBOR plus 0.70% until March 10, 2010, thereafter, at the three-month US$LIBOR plus 1.95%.
(7) $220 million of this issue was repurchased for cash during the year.
(8) Not redeemable prior to maturity date.
(9) Guaranteed Subordinated Term Notes in Trinidad and Tobago dollars issued by FirstCaribbean International Bank (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited, a subsidiary of FirstCaribbean, and guaranteed on a 

subordinated basis by FirstCaribbean. FirstCaribbean International Bank (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited may redeem all or a portion of the notes on, but not after, September 23, 2012 by repaying the principal 
amount plus a penalty of 0.5% of the principal amount of the notes being redeemed.

(10) Issued by CIBC World Markets plc and guaranteed by CIBC on a subordinated basis. Interest rate is based on the three-month Euribor plus 0.20% until the earliest date redeemable by CIBC World Markets 
plc and, thereafter, on the three-month Euribor plus 0.70%.

(11) Interest rate is based on the six-month US$LIBOR plus 0.25%.
(12) US$18 million of this issue was repurchased for cash during 2006.
(13) Interest rate is based on the six-month US$LIBOR plus 0.125%.

The debt issues included in the table below are unsecured 
obligations of CIBC and its subsidiaries and are subordinated to the 
claims of depositors and other creditors as set out in their terms. 
Foreign currency denominated indebtedness either funds foreign 

currency denominated assets (including net investments in foreign 
operations) or is combined with cross-currency swaps to provide 
Canadian dollar equivalent funding. All redemptions are subject 
to regulatory approval.

(9)
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$ millions, as at October 31 2007
Within 1 year  $ –
1 to 2 years   –
2 to 3 years   –
3 to 4 years   –
4 to 5 years   –
Over 5 years   5,526

 $  5,526

The aggregate contractual maturities of our subordinated indebtedness are outlined in the following table:

Note 17 Preferred Share Liabilities and Share Capital

Outstanding Shares and Dividends Paid
$ millions, except 
per share amounts, 
as at or for the 
year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Shares outstanding Dividends paid Shares outstanding Dividends paid Shares outstanding Dividends paid

No. of shares Amount Amount
$ per 
share No. of shares Amount Amount

$ per 
share No. of shares Amount Amount

$ per 
share

Class A Preferred Shares
Classifi ed as liabilities

Series 19  8,000,000  $ 200  $ 10  $ 1.24  8,000,000  $ 200  $ 10  $ 1.24  8,000,000  $ 200  $ 10  $ 1.24
Series 20  –   –   –   –  –   –   –   – –   –   6  US 1.29
Series 21  –   –   –   –  –   –   –   – –   –   9   1.13
Series 22  –   –   –   –  –   –   –   – –   –   6  US 1.18
Series 23  16,000,000   400   21   1.33  16,000,000   400   21   1.33  16,000,000   400   21   1.33

   600   31     600   31     600   52   

Classifi ed as equity

Series 18  12,000,000  $ 300  $ 16  $ 1.38  12,000,000  $ 300  $ 16  $ 1.38  12,000,000  $ 300  $ 16  $ 1.38
Series 24  –   –    6   0.38  16,000,000   400   24   1.50  16,000,000   400   24   1.50
Series 25  –   –    18    1.13  16,000,000   400   24   1.50  16,000,000   400   24   1.50
Series 26  10,000,000   250   14   1.44  10,000,000   250   14   1.44  10,000,000   250   14   1.44
Series 27  12,000,000   300   17   1.40  12,000,000   300   17   1.40  12,000,000   300   17   1.40
Series 28(1)  2,500   –(2)   –(2)   0.08  3,058   –(2)   –(2)   0.08   17,658(3)   –(2)   –(2)   0.08
Series 29  13,232,342   331   18   1.35  13,232,342   331   18   1.35  13,232,342   331   18   1.35
Series 30  16,000,000   400   19   1.20  16,000,000   400   19   1.20  16,000,000   400   12   0.77
Series 31  18,000,000   450   21   1.13  –   –   –   –  –   –   –   –
Series 32  12,000,000   300   10   0.80  –   –   –   –  –   –   –   –

   2,331    139     2,381   132      2,381   125   
Total preferred shares   $ 2,931  $  170    $ 2,981  $ 163  $ 2,981  $ 177   
Common shares(4)  334,988,579  $  3,137  $  1,044  $ 3.11  335,976,647  $ 3,045  $ 924  $ 2.76  334,007,626  $ 2,952  $ 902  $ 2.66

(1)  On November 25, 2005, we announced our offer to repurchase for cancellation all outstanding Class A Series 28 Preferred Shares at a price of $10.00 per share. The offer will expire on the earlier of June 
17, 2009 or the date the offer is withdrawn by CIBC. During the year, we repurchased 558 (2006: 14,600) shares under this offer.

(2) Due to rounding.
(3)  Over the course of 2005, on three conversion dates, 13.2 million Class A Series 28 Preferred Shares were converted into Class A Series 29 Preferred Shares, together with the exercise of the same number 

of Series 29 Purchase Warrants and the receipt of $15 per warrant, resulting in total capital for the Class A Series 29 Preferred Shares of $331 million. The total paid up share capital of the converted Class 
A Series 28 Preferred Shares was correspondingly reduced by $133 million.

(4) Includes treasury shares.

Preferred shares
CIBC is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A Preferred 
Shares and Class B Preferred Shares without nominal or par value 
issuable in series, provided that for a class of preferred shares the 
maximum aggregate consideration for all outstanding shares of that 
class at any time does not exceed $10 billion. There are no Class B 
Preferred Shares currently outstanding.

Common shares
CIBC is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares 
without nominal or par value, provided that the maximum aggregate 
consideration for all outstanding common shares at any time does 
not exceed $15 billion.
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Terms of Class A Preferred Shares
Conversion for common shares

Quarterly
dividends per share(1)

Specifi ed 
redemption date

Cash redemption 
price per share

CIBC’s 
conversion date

Shareholders’ 
conversion date

Series 18  $ 0.343750 October 29, 2012 $ 25.00 not convertible not convertible

Series 19  $ 0.309375 April 30, 2008 $ 25.75 April 30, 2008 April 30, 2013
 April 30, 2009 25.60 
 April 30, 2010 25.45 
 April 30, 2011 25.30 
 April 30, 2012 25.15 
 April 30, 2013 25.00 

Series 23  $ 0.331250 October 31, 2007 $ 25.75 October 31, 2007 July 31, 2011
 October 31, 2008 25.50 
 October 31, 2009 25.25 
 October 31, 2010 25.00 

Series 26  $ 0.359375 April 30, 2008 $ 26.00 April 30, 2008 not convertible
 April 30, 2009 25.75 
 April 30, 2010 25.50 
 April 30, 2011 25.25 
 April 30, 2012 25.00 

Series 27  $ 0.350000 October 31, 2008 $ 26.00 October 31, 2008 not convertible
 October 31, 2009 25.75 
 October 31, 2010 25.50 
 October 31, 2011 25.25 
 October 31, 2012 25.00 

Series 28  $ 0.02 June 17, 2009 $ 10.00 not convertible not convertible

Series 29  $ 0.337500 May 1, 2010 $ 26.00 May 1, 2010 not convertible
 May 1, 2011 25.75 
 May 1, 2012 25.50 
 May 1, 2013 25.25 
 May 1, 2014 25.00 

Series 30  $ 0.300000 April 30, 2010 $ 26.00 not convertible not convertible
 April 30, 2011 25.75 
 April 30, 2012 25.50 
 April 30, 2013 25.25 
 April 30, 2014 25.00 

Series 31  $ 0.293750 January 31, 2012 $ 26.00 not convertible not convertible
 January 31, 2013 25.75 
 January 31, 2014 25.50 
 January 31, 2015 25.25 
 January 31, 2016 25.00 

Series 32  $ 0.281250 April 30, 2012 $ 26.00 not convertible not convertible
 April 30, 2013 25.75 
 April 30, 2014 25.50 
 April 30, 2015 25.25 
 April 30, 2016 25.00 

(1) Quarterly dividends are adjusted for the number of days during the quarter that the share is outstanding at the time of issuance and redemption.

Common shares repurchased
On April 30, 2007, the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) accepted 
our notice of intention to commence a normal course issuer bid. 
Purchases under the bid commenced on May 2, 2007 and concluded 
on October 31, 2007. Under this bid, we repurchased and cancelled 
approximately  3.1  million shares at an average price of $ 99.54 for a 
total amount of $ 306  million.

Subsequent to year-end, on  November 9, 2007 the TSX accepted 
our notice of intention to commence a new normal course issuer bid. 
Purchases under this bid will conclude on the earlier of the termination 
of the bid, the date on which purchases under the bid have been 
completed, or October 31, 2008. Under this bid, from time to time, 
we may purchase for cancellation up to  9 million common shares.

During 2005, we repurchased 16.2 million common shares at an 
average price of $72.64 for a total amount of $1.2 billion. No shares 
were repurchased during 2006.

Preferred share rights and privileges
Class A Preferred Shares
Each series of Class A Preferred Shares bears quarterly non-cumulative 
dividends and is redeemable for cash by CIBC on or after the 
specifi ed redemption dates at the cash redemption prices indicated 
in the following table. Certain series provide CIBC, or CIBC and the 
shareholders, with the right to convert the shares to CIBC common 
shares on or after a specifi ed conversion date. Each share is convertible 

into a number of common shares determined by dividing the then 
applicable cash redemption price by 95% of the average common share 
price (as defi ned in the relevant short form prospectus or prospectus 
supplement), subject to a minimum price of $2.00 per share. If 
shareholders exercise their conversion right, we have the right, subject 
to OSFI’s consent, to elect to redeem for cash any shares tendered for 
conversion or to arrange for their cash sale to another purchaser.
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Shares reserved for issue
As at October 31, 2007,  15,753,852 common shares (2006: 
17,677,700) were reserved for future issue pursuant to stock option 
plans.

Restrictions on the payment of dividends
 Under Section 79 of the Bank Act (Canada), a bank, including CIBC, 
is prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends on its preferred 
or common shares if there are reasonable grounds for believing that 
the bank is, or the payment would cause it to be, in contravention 
of any capital adequacy or liquidity regulation or any direction to the 
bank made by OSFI.

In addition, our ability to pay common share dividends is also 
restricted by the terms of the outstanding preferred shares. These 
terms provide that we may not pay dividends on our common shares at 
any time without the approval of holders of the outstanding preferred 
shares, unless all dividends to preferred shareholders that are then 
payable have been declared and paid or set apart for payment.

Capital
Objectives, policies and procedures
Our objective is to employ a strong and effi cient capital base. We 
manage capital in accordance with policies established by the Board. 
These policies relate to capital strength, capital mix, dividends 
and return of capital, and the unconsolidated capital adequacy of 
regulated entities. Each policy has associated guidelines, and capital 
is monitored continuously for compliance.

Each year a capital plan and three-year outlook are established, 
which encompass all the associated elements of capital: forecasts of 
sources and uses, maturities, redemptions, new issuance, corporate 
initiatives and business growth. The capital plan is stress-tested in 
various ways to ensure that it is suffi ciently robust under all reasonable 
scenarios. All of the elements of capital are monitored throughout the 
year, and the capital plan is adjusted as appropriate.

There were no significant changes made in the objectives, 
policies and procedures during the year.

Regulatory requirements
Our regulatory capital requirements are determined in accordance 
with guidelines issued by OSFI. The OSFI guidelines evolve from the 
framework of risk-based capital standards developed by the Bank for 
International Settlements (BIS).

BIS standards require that banks maintain minimum Tier 1 and 
 Total capital ratios of 4% and 8%, respectively. OSFI has established 
that Canadian deposit-taking fi nancial institutions maintain Tier  1 and 
 Total capital ratios of at least 7% and 10%, respectively. During 
the year, we have complied in full with all of our regulatory capital 
requirements.

Regulatory capital
Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, less certain 
deductions.

Tier 1 capital comprises common shares excluding short trading 
positions in our own shares, retained earnings, preferred shares, 
non-controlling interests, contributed surplus, and foreign currency 
translation adjustments. Goodwill is deducted from Tier 1 capital. Tier 
2 capital comprises subordinated debt and the lesser of the general 
allowance for credit losses or 0.875% of risk-weighted assets.

Our capital ratios and assets-to-capital multiple were as follows:

Note 18 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Foreign currency translation adjustments  $  (1,087)  $ (442)
Net unrealized losses on AFS securities    (66)(1)   n/a
Net gains on cash fl ow hedges   61(2)   n/a

 $  (1,092)  $ (442)

(1) Includes $ 127 million of cumulative loss related to AFS securities measured at fair value.
(2)  A net gain of $ 11 million, deferred in AOCI, as at October 31, 2007, is expected to be reclassifi ed to net income during the next 12 months. Remaining amounts will be reclassifi ed to net income over 

periods up to  six years thereafter.
n/a Not applicable due to the adoption of the new CICA fi nancial instruments standards.

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Tier 1 capital  $  12,379  $ 11,935
Total regulatory capital   17,758   16,583
Risk-weighted assets   127,424   114,780
Tier 1 capital ratio 9.7% 10.4%
Total capital ratio 13.9% 14.5%
Assets-to-capital multiple 19.0x 18.0x

Basel II
In 2004, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision issued new 
rules for the calculation of regulatory capital, which are effective from 
November 1, 2007 onwards. For further details, see the “Management 
of Risk” section in the MD&A.
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Note 19 Interest Rate Sensitivity

Based on earlier of maturity or repricing date of interest-sensitive instruments

$ millions, as at October 31
Immediately 

rate sensitive
Within 

3 months
3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Over 
5 years

Not interest 
rate sensitive Total

2007 Assets
Cash and deposits with banks  $  226  $  7,859  $  4,318  $  237  $ –  $  1,107  $  13,747

Effective yield     4.99%  5.25%  5.24%  –     
AFS securities   792   5,507   1,064   3,989   4,609   1,469    17,430

Effective yield     4.46%  4.48%  4.32%  4.20%    
Trading securities   3,087   9,421   2,404   4,783   4,609   34,475    58,779

Effective yield     4.93%  4.66%  4.61%  5.29%    
FVO securities   –   184   168   9,708   231   –   10,291

Effective yield     6.37%  4.20%  4.36%  5.70%    
Securities borrowed or purchased under 

resale agreements   –   30,089   3,931   –   –   –    34,020
Effective yield     4.48%  4.44%  –   –     

Loans   94,256   13,107   13,458   35,048   4,149   2,636    162,654
Effective yield     6.40%  5.41%  5.38%  5.74%    

Other   –   27,341   –   –   –   17,916    45,257
Structural assumptions   (5,952)   1,229   3,546   2,978   –   (1,801)   –
Total assets  $  92,409  $  94,737  $  28,889  $  56,743  $  13,598  $  55,802  $  342,178
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Deposits  $  70,041  $  85,827  $  31,561  $  16,504  $  2,918  $  24,821  $  231,672

Effective yield     4.52%  4.10%  3.84%  4.19%    
Obligations related to securities sold short   –   202   464   4,306   4,211   3,954    13,137

Effective yield     5.32%  4.26%  4.13%  4.39%    
Obligations related to securities lent or sold under 

repurchase agreements   679   28,191   74   –   –   –    28,944
Effective yield     4.37%  4.05%  –   –     

Subordinated indebtedness   –   897   170   3,641   818   –    5,526
Effective yield     5.11%  5.78%  4.22%  10.17%    

Preferred share liabilities   –   29   19   552   –   –    600
Effective yield     5.18%  5.18%  5.18%  –     

Other   –   28,908   23   308   1,999   31,061    62,299
Structural assumptions   (7,426)   6,296   18,173   15,263   –   (32,306)   –
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $  63,294  $  150,350  $  50,484  $  40,574  $  9,946  $  27,530  $  342,178
On-balance sheet gap  $  29,115  $  (55,613)  $  (21,595)  $  16,169  $  3,652  $  28,272  $ –
Off-balance sheet gap(1)   –   2,396   10,865   (6,229)   (7,032)   –   –
Total gap  $  29,115  $  (53,217)  $  (10,730)  $  9,940  $ (3,380)  $  28,272  $ –
Total cumulative gap  $  29,115  $ (24,102)  $  (34,832)  $  (24,892)  $  (28,272)  $ –  $ –
Gap by currency               
On-balance sheet gap               

Canadian currency  $  32,204  $  (45,884)  $  (20,013)  $  14,032  $  (2,529)  $  22,190  $ –
Foreign currencies   (3,089)   (9,729)   (1,582)   2,137   6,181   6,082   –

Total on-balance sheet gap   29,115   (55,613)   (21,595)   16,169   3,652   28,272   –
Off-balance sheet gap(1)               

Canadian currency   –   (1,210)   8,660   (6,392)   (1,058)   –   –
Foreign currencies   –   3,606   2,205   163   (5,974)   –   –

Total off-balance sheet gap   –   2,396   10,865   (6,229)    (7,032)   –   –
Total gap  $  29,115  $  (53,217)  $ (10,730)  $ 9,940  $  (3,380)  $  28,272  $ –

2006 Gap by currency        
On-balance sheet gap        

Canadian currency  $ 37,108  $ (34,709)  $ (24,012)  $ 8,754  $ (3,668)  $ 16,527  $ –
Foreign currencies   (7,360)   (15,907)   (1,487)   1,853   9,853   13,048   –

Total on-balance sheet gap   29,748   (50,616)   (25,499)   10,607   6,185   29,575   –

Off-balance sheet gap               
Canadian currency   –   (23,923)   25,988   (2,356)   291   –   –
Foreign currencies   –   (203)   9,595   (441)   (8,951)   –   –

Total off-balance sheet gap   –   (24,126)   35,583   (2,797)   (8,660)   –   –

Total gap  $ 29,748  $ (74,742)  $ 10,084  $ 7,810  $ (2,475)  $ 29,575  $ –
Total cumulative gap  $ 29,748  $ (44,994)  $ (34,910)  $ (27,100)  $ (29,575)  $ –  $ –

(1) Includes derivative instruments which are reported on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value .

The table below details our exposure to interest rate risk resulting from the mismatch, or gap, between fi nancial assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet 
instruments. On- and off-balance sheet fi nancial instruments have been reported on the earlier of their contractual repricing date or maturity date. 
Certain contractual repricing dates have been adjusted according to management’s estimates for prepayments and early redemptions. Weighted-
average effective yields are based on the earlier of contractual repricing date or maturity date of the underlying instrument.

We manage our interest rate gap by imputing a duration to certain assets and liabilities based on historical and forecasted trends in core 
balances. The repricing profi le of these assets and liabilities has been incorporated in the table below under structural assumptions.
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Stock option plans
We have two stock option plans: Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP) 
and Non-Offi cer Director Stock Option Plan (DSOP).

Under the ESOP, stock options are periodically granted to selected 
employees. Options provide the employee with the right to purchase 
CIBC common shares from CIBC at a fi xed price not less than the 
closing price of the shares on the trading day immediately preceding 
the grant date. In general, the options vest evenly over a four-year 
period and expire 10 years from the grant date. Certain options vest 
on the attainment of specifi ed performance conditions.

Up to 50% of options relating to the ESOP granted prior to 
2000 can be exercised as SARs. SARs can be exchanged for a cash 
amount equal to the excess of the weighted-average price of the 
common shares on the TSX on the trading day immediately preceding 
the day the SARs are exercised over the option strike price.

Under the DSOP, each director who was not an officer or 
employee of CIBC or any of our subsidiaries was provided with the 
right to purchase CIBC common shares from CIBC at a fi xed price 
equal to the fi ve-day average of the closing price per share on the TSX 
for the fi ve trading days preceding the date of the grant. The options, 
which are not eligible for SARs, vested immediately and expire on 
the earlier of (a) 60 months after the date the director ceases to be a 
member of the Board of Directors, or (b) 10 years from the grant date. 
In January 2003, the Board of Directors determined that no further 
options would be granted under the DSOP.

A maximum of 42,834,500 common shares may be issued under 
our stock option plans.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted 
during 2007 has been estimated at $   14.11 (2006: $9.85; 2005: 
$9.56) using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following 
weighted-average assumptions were used to determine the fair value 
of options on the date of grant:

For the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Weighted-average assumptions
Risk-free interest rate 4.09% 4.20% 4.13%
Expected dividend yield 3.91% 4.88% 4.84%
Expected share price volatility 18.65% 19.50% 20.13%
Expected life 6 years 6 years 7 years

their eligible earnings withheld to purchase CIBC common shares 
and receive a matching employer contribution subject to each plan’s 
provisions. All contributions are used by the plans’ trustees to purchase 
common shares in the open market. FirstCaribbean operates its own 
employee share purchase plan in which contributions are used by the 
plan trustee to purchase FirstCaribbean common shares in the open 
market. Our contribution is expensed as incurred and totalled $ 30 
million in 2007 (2006: $28 million; 2005: $28 million).

Restricted Share Program
Under our Restricted Share Program (RSP), share equivalents are 
awarded under the following compensation plans:

Restricted Share Awards
Under our Restricted Share Award (RSA) Plan, which began in 2000, 
certain key employees are granted awards to receive CIBC common 
shares. Additionally, RSAs may be awarded as special grants. The 
funding for these awards is paid into a trust, which purchases CIBC 
common shares in the open market. In general, RSAs vest one-third 
annually or at the end of three years. The common shares held in the 
trust are generally distributed within a three-year period, beginning 
one year after the year of the grant. Compensation expense in respect 
of RSAs totalled $240 million in 2007 (2006: $235 million; 2005: 
$244 million).

Other restricted share plans
In  the past,  grants were made under two other restricted share 
programs, specifi cally the Stock Participation Plan (SPP) and Special 
Incentive Program (SIP).  The fi nal SPP grants were made in respect 
of 2004. SIP award units were granted only once, in 2000.

Under both programs, certain key employees were granted 
awards to receive CIBC common shares. The funding for these awards 
was paid into a trust, which purchased CIBC common shares in the 
open market.

   SIP awards relating to some of the key employees vested and 
were distributed as at October 31, 2003, the date the plan expired. 
For other key employees, the value of awards was converted into 
Retirement Special Incentive Program Deferred Share Units (RSIP DSUs). 
Each RSIP DSU represents the right to receive one CIBC common 
share and additional RSIP DSUs in respect of dividends earned by 
the CIBC common shares held by the trust. RSIP DSUs  met time- and 
performance-based vesting conditions on October 31, 2003, and will 
be distributed in the form of CIBC common shares upon retirement 
or termination of employment.

SPP awards vested at the end of three years and the common 
shares held in the trust were distributed after vesting.  SPP awards 
granted in prior years were fully vested as at October 31, 2007.

Compensation expense net of forfeitures in respect of both plans 
was nil for 2007 (2006: $(3) million; 2005: $(5) million) .

Performance Share Unit Program
Under the Performance Share Unit (PSU) program, which was 
introduced in 2005, certain key executives are granted awards to 
receive CIBC common shares or an equivalent cash value. PSUs vest at 
the end of three years. The fi nal number of PSUs that vest will range 
from 75% to 125% of the initial number awarded based on CIBC’s 
return on equity performance relative to the average of the other major 

Compensation expense in respect of stock options and SARs totalled 
$   20 million in 2007 (2006: $30 million; 2005: $5 million). A liability in 
respect of SARs is recorded in other liabilities and totalled $  50 million 
as at October 31, 2007 (2006: $66 million; 2005: $63 million).

Employee Share Purchase Plan
Under our Canadian Employee Share Purchase Plan, qualifying 
employees can choose each year to have up to 10% of their eligible 
earnings withheld to purchase CIBC common shares. We match 50% 
of the employee contribution amount, up to a maximum contribution 
of 3% of eligible earnings, depending upon length of service and 
job level, subject to a ceiling of $2,250 annually. CIBC contributions 
vest after employees have two years of continuous participation in 
the plan, and all subsequent contributions vest immediately. Similar 
employee share purchase plans exist in other regions globally, where, 
each year, qualifying employees can choose to have a portion of 

Note 20 Stock-based Compensation
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Canadian banks. Compensation expense in respect of PSUs totalled 
$9 million in 2007 (2006: $11 million; 2005: $5 million). A liability in 
respect of PSUs is recorded in other liabilities and totalled $24 million 
as at October 31, 2007 (2006: $16 million; 2005: $5 million).

Directors’ plans
Members of our Board of Directors who are not offi cers or employees 
of CIBC may elect to receive the annual amount payable by CIBC 
under the Director Deferred Share Unit/Common Share Election Plan 
as either Deferred Share Units (DSUs) or CIBC common shares.

The members may also elect, under the Non-Offi cer Director 
Share Plan, to receive all or a portion of their cash remuneration in 
the form of cash, CIBC common shares or DSUs. For purposes of 
this plan, cash remuneration includes the cash component of the 
director retainer, meeting attendance fees, non-resident attendance 

fees, committee chair retainers, committee member retainers and the 
Chairman of the Board retainer.

The value of DSUs credited to a director is payable when he 
or she is no longer a director or employee of CIBC and, in addition, 
for directors subject to section 409A of the United States Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the director is not providing 
any services to CIBC or any member of its controlled group as an 
independent contractor. In addition, under the Director Deferred 
Share Unit/Common Share Election Plan, the value of DSUs is payable 
when the director is no longer related to, or affi liated with, CIBC as 
defi ned in the Income Tax Act (Canada).

Compensation expense in respect of these plans totalled 
$    3 million (2006: $3 million; 2005: $3 million). A liability in respect 
of DSUs is recorded in other liabilities and totalled $ 8 million as at 
October 31, 2007 (2006: $8 million; 2005: $6 million).

Stock Option Plans
As at or for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Number
of stock
options

Weighted-
average
exercise

price

Number
of stock
options

Weighted-
average
exercise

price

Number
of stock
options

Weighted-
average
exercise

price

Outstanding at beginning of year  8,93 4,231  $ 47.84  10,992,741  $ 45.28  13,424,875  $ 41.96
Granted  419,418  96.32  419,658  76.49  976,813  72.27
Exercised  (1,753,648)  43.43  (2,262,168)  40.84  (2,866,907)  40.62
Forfeited/cancelled  (193,318)  58.84  (111,376)  58.32  (129,181)  49.77
Exercised as SARs  (170,200)  39.22  (104,624)  34.29  (412,859)  31.92
Outstanding at end of year   7,236,483  $ 51.63  8,934,231  $ 47.84  10,992,741  $ 45.28
Exercisable at end of year  6,060,063  $ 45.85  7,367,737  $ 44.05  8,593,165  $ 41.87
Available for grant  8,517,369   8,743,469   9,051,751  

Stock Options Outstanding and Vested
As at October 31, 2007 Stock options outstanding Stock options vested

Range of exercise prices
Number

outstanding

Weighted-
average

contractual
life

remaining

Weighted-
average
exercise

price
Number

outstanding

Weighted-
average
exercise

price
Exercisable

as SARs

$ 31.70 – $ 39.85  2,391,068  1.85  $ 38.01  2,391,068  $ 38.01  589,955
$ 40.35 – $ 49.94  1,795,808  3.58  43.51  1,795,808  43.51  203,150
$ 50.33 – $ 57.19  1,488,283  3.90  54.19  1,488,283  54.19  –
$ 65.59 – $ 69.68  7,761  6.48  67.71  3,999  68.67  –
$ 70.00 – $ 74.62  798,201  7.34  72.08  302,708  72.52  –
$ 75.80 – $ 84.69  344,482  8.11  76.31  78,197  76.36  –
$ 96.25 – $ 102.07  410,880  9.12  96.32  –  –  –

  7,236,483  4.02  $ 51.63   6,060,063  $ 45.85  793,105

Note 21 Employee Future Benefi ts

We sponsor pension plans for eligible employees. These plans include 
registered funded defined benefit pension plans, supplemental 
unfunded arrangements, which provide pension benefi ts in excess of 
statutory limits, and defi ned contribution plans. The pension plans are 
predominantly non-contributory, but some participants contribute to 
their respective plans so as to receive higher pension benefi ts. These 
benefi ts are, in general, based on years of service and compensation 
near retirement. We also provide certain health-care, life insurance 
and other benefi ts to eligible employees and pensioners. In addition, 
we continue to sponsor a long-term disability plan which provides 

benefi ts to disabled employees who became disabled prior to June 
1, 2004.

We measure our accrued benefi t obligations and the fair value of 
plan assets for accounting purposes as at September 30 each year.

The following tables present the financial positions of the 
employee defi ned benefi t pension plans and other benefi t plans for 
Canada, U.S., U.K., and our FirstCaribbean subsidiaries. Other minor 
plans operated by some of our subsidiaries are not considered material 
and are not included in these disclosures.
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Pension benefi t plans Other benefi t plans

$ millions, as at or for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Accrued benefi t obligation
Balance at beginning of year  $  3,760  $ 3,577  $ 2,956  $ 942  $ 947  $ 788

Adjustment for inclusion of FirstCaribbean plans   196   –   –   5   –   –
Current service cost   141   123   94   17   32   24
Employee contributions   7   7   7   –   –   –
Interest cost on accrued benefi t obligation   211   191   186   40   46   46
Benefi ts paid   (193)   (197)   (161)   (52)   (50)   (50)
Foreign exchange rate changes   (47)   (1)   (21)   (4)   (1)   (2)
Actuarial losses (gains)   16   65   475   (29)   (32)   143
Net transfer out   –   (7)   –   –   –   –
Plan amendments   (48)   2   25   (152)   –   (2)
Curtailment loss   –   –   16   –   –   –

Balance at end of year  $  4,043  $ 3,760  $ 3,577  $  767  $ 942  $ 947

Plan assets

Fair value at beginning of year  $  3,683  $ 3,290  $ 2,826  $ 80  $ 100  $ 121
Adjustment for inclusion of FirstCaribbean plans   287   –   –   –   –   –
Actual return on plan assets   256   317   405   –   5   11
Employer contributions   139   274   231   31   25   18
Employee contributions   7   7   7   –   –   –
Benefi ts paid   (193)   (197)   (161)   (52)   (50)   (50)
Foreign exchange rate changes   (58)   (1)   (18)   –   –   –
Net transfer out   –   (7)   –   –   –   –

Fair value at end of year  $  4,121  $ 3,683  $ 3,290  $  59  $ 80  $ 100

Funded status (defi cit)  $ 78  $ (77)  $ (287)  $  (708)  $ (862)  $ (847)
Unamortized net actuarial losses   825   906   1,053   171   209   252
Unamortized past service costs (gains)   9   65   71   (191)   (59)   (67)
Unamortized transitional asset   –   –   –   2   2   3

Accrued benefi t asset (liability)    912   894   837    (726)   (710)   (659)
Valuation allowance   (19)   (19)   (17)   –   –   –
Accrued benefi t asset (liability), net of valuation allowance  $  893  $ 875  $ 820  $  (726)  $ (710)  $ (659)

Pension benefi t plans Other benefi t plans

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Accrued benefi t asset (liability), net of valuation allowance, recorded in:
Other assets (Note  9)  $  1,057  $ 1,037  $ 977  $ –  $ –  $ –
Other liabilities (Note 1 1)   (164)   (162)   (157)   (726)   (710)   (659)
Accrued benefi t asset (liability), net of valuation allowance  $  893  $ 875  $ 820  $  (726)  $ (710)  $ (659)

The accrued benefi t asset (liability), net of valuation allowance, included in other assets and other liabilities is as follows:

Included in the accrued benefi t obligation and fair value of the plan assets at year-end are the following amounts in respect of plans with accrued 
benefi t obligations in excess of fair value of assets:

Pension benefi t plans Other benefi t plans

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Accrued benefi t obligation

Unfunded plans  $  189  $ 182  $ 168  $  621  $ 765  $ 751
Funded plans    132   262   3,396    146   177   196

   321   444   3,564    767   942   947
Fair value of plan assets   117   240   3,259   59   80   100

Funded status (defi cit)  $  (204)  $ (204)  $ (305)  $  (708)  $ (862)  $ (847)
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Pension benefi t plans Other benefi t plans

$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Current service cost  $  141  $ 123  $ 94  $  17  $ 32  $ 24
Interest cost on accrued benefi t obligation   211   191   186   40   46   46
Actual return on plan assets   (256)   (317)   (405)   –   (5)   (11)
Plan amendments   (48)   2   25   (152)   –   (2)
Actuarial losses (gains)   16   65   475   (29)   (32)   143
Curtailment losses   –   –   17   –   –   –
Benefi t plan expense, before adjustments to recognize the 

long-term nature of employee future benefi t costs  $  64  $ 64  $ 392  $  (124)  $ 41  $ 200
Adjustments to recognize the long-term nature of employee future benefi t costs

Difference between actual and expected return on plan assets   $ 9(1)  $ 114(1)  $ 216(1)    $ (4)(2)  $ –(2)  $ 4(2)

Difference between actuarial (gains) losses arising and 
actuarial (gains) losses amortized     58(3)   33(3)   (418)(3)     37(4)   43(4)   (135)(4)

Difference between plan amendment costs arising and 
plan amendment costs amortized     54(5)   6(5)   (18)(5)     132(6)   (7)(6)   (5)(6)

   121   153   (220)    165   36   (136)
Change in valuation allowance   –   2   1   –   –   –
Defi ned benefi t plan expense recognized  $  185  $ 219  $ 173  $  41  $ 77  $ 64

(1) Expected return on plan assets of $ 247 million (2006: $203 million; 2005: $189 million),  subtracted from actual return on plan assets of $ 256 million (2006: $317 million; 2005: $405 million).
(2) Expected return on plan assets of $ 4 million (2006: $5 million; 2005: $7 million),  subtracted from actual return on plan assets of nil (2006: $5 million; 2005: $11 million).
(3) Actuarial (gains) losses amortized of $ 74 million (2006: $98 million; 2005: $57 million), less actual actuarial (gains) losses incurred of $ 16 million (2006: $65 million; 2005: $475 million).
(4) Actuarial (gains) losses amortized of $ 8 million (2006: $11 million; 2005: $8 million), less actual actuarial (gains) losses incurred of $ (29) million (2006: $(32) million; 2005: $143 million).
(5) Amortization of plan amendments of $ 6 million (2006: $8 million; 2005: $7 million), less actual plan amendments of $ (48) million (2006: $2 million; 2005: $25 million).
(6) Amortization of plan amendments of $ (20) million (2006: $(7) million; 2005: $(7) million), less actual plan amendments of $ (152) million (2006: nil; 2005: $(2) million).

Benefi t changes
2007
Effective November 1, 2006, the plan providing medical, dental, and 
life insurance benefi ts to Canadian employees retiring subsequent 
to December 31, 2008, was amended to provide a choice of benefi t 
coverage and to limit the CIBC subsidy to cost levels established in 
2009, when the plan changes are implemented. Any future increases in 
medical and dental benefi t costs for this group of retirees will be borne 
by the retirees. This amendment resulted in a reduction in liability. 

Effective May 30, 2007, our Canadian defi ned benefi t pension 
plans were amended with respect to our restructuring support program. 
For employees who receive notice of termination or retirement under 

designated support programs, on or after November 1, 2009, the 
pension benefi ts will be limited to the standard provisions of the plan. 
This amendment resulted in a reduction in liability.

2006 and 2005
There were no material changes to the terms of our defi ned benefi t 
pension plans or other benefi t plans in 2006 or 2005.

Benefi t plan assets
The weighted-average asset allocation and target allocation by asset 
category of our defi ned benefi t pension plans and other funded 
benefi t plans are as follows:

The net defi ned benefi t plan expense is as follows:

Pension benefi t plans Other benefi t plans
Actual allocation
as at October 31

Target
allocation

Actual allocation
as at October 31

Target
allocation

Asset category 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008
Equity securities(1)   53%  53%  50%   20%  29%  10%
Debt securities(1)   42  42  42   80  71  90
Real estate   5  5  4  –  –  –
Infrastructure(2)  –  –  4  –   –  –

  100%  100%   100%   100%  100%   100%

(1) Pension benefi t plans include CIBC securities of $ 21 million (2006: $7 million), representing  0.6% of total plan assets (2006: 0.2%). Other benefi t plans do not include any CIBC securities.
(2) Consists of investments in essential public assets, including transportation, communications, energy, education and health-care projects.

The investment policy for benefi t plan assets is to optimize the risk-
return relationship using a global portfolio of various asset classes 
diversifi ed by market segment, economic sector and issuer. The goal 
is to secure our registered pension plans and long-term disability 
plan obligations, maximizing the investment returns while not 
compromising the security of the respective plans, in a cost-effective 
manner. Plan assets are managed by external investment managers 
and CIBC Global Asset Management Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary 
of CIBC, and within established ranges, are rebalanced as required to 
the target asset mix.

Plan assumptions
The discount rate assumption used in determining pension and post-
retirement benefi t obligations and net benefi t expense refl ects the 
market yields, as of the measurement date, on high-quality debt 
instruments with cash fl ows that match expected benefi t payments.

For the Canadian plans, the expected rate of return on plan assets 
assumption is reviewed annually by management, in conjunction with 
our actuaries. The assumption is based on expected returns for the 
various asset classes, weighted by the portfolio allocation. Anticipated 
future long-term performance of individual asset categories is 
considered, refl ecting expected future infl ation and real yields on 
fi xed income securities and equities.



 CIBC Annual Accountability Report 2007 123

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Pension benefi t plans Other benefi t plans

Weighted-average assumptions 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Accrued benefi t obligation as at October 31
Discount rate at end of the period  5.6% 5.3% 5.2%  5.5% 5.1% 5.1%
Rate of compensation increase  3.6% 3.5% 3.5%  3.5% 3.5% 3.2%

Net benefi t plan expense for the years ended October 31
Discount rate at beginning of the period  5.3% 5.2% 6.2%  5.1% 5.1% 6.0%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets  6.5% 6.5% 7.0%  5.5% 6.0% 6.5%
Rate of compensation increase  3.5% 3.5% 3.5%  3.5% 3.2% 3.2%

The assumed health-care cost trend rates are as follows:

For the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005
Health-care cost trend rates assumed for next year   6.8% 10.0% 7.8%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline  4.5% 4.5% 4.5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2014 2014 2012

$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005
Defi ned contribution pension plans  $  20  $ 15  $ 14 
Government pension plans(1)    76   74   75 

 $ 96  $ 89  $ 89 

(1) Includes Canada Pension Plan, Quebec Pension Plan, and U.S. Federal Insurance Contributions Act.

One percentage-point increase One percentage-point decrease

$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Effect on total benefi t plan expense  $  5  $ 11  $ 13  $  (4)  $ (8)  $ (12)
Effect on accrued benefi t obligation   60   111   125   (49)   (79)   (97)

A one percentage-point change in assumed health-care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

Pension benefi t plans Other benefi t plans Total

$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Defi ned benefi t plans  $ 64  $ 66  $ 393  $ (124)  $ 41  $ 200  $ (60)  $ 107  $ 593
Defi ned contribution and other plans   96   89   89   –   –   –    96   89   89

 $  160  $ 155  $  482  $ (124)  $ 41  $ 200  $  36   $ 196   $ 682 

Pension benefi t plans Other benefi t plans

$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Funded plans  $  128  $ 263  $ 223  $ –  $ –  $ 3
Benefi ciaries of unfunded plans   11   11   8   31   25   15
Defi ned contribution pension plans   20   15   14   –   –   –

 $  159  $ 289  $ 245  $  31  $ 25  $ 18

Cash fl ows 
Cash contributions
The most recent actuarial valuation of the principal defi ned benefi t pension plan for funding purposes was as at October 31, 2006. The next 
actuarial valuation of the plan will be required as at a date not later than October 31, 2009. For the long-term disability plan, the most recent 
actuarial valuation was performed as at October 31, 2004. Total cash contributions for employee future benefi t plans consist of:

In the U.S., U.K., and Caribbean regions, procedures similar to those in Canada are used to develop the expected long-term rate of return 
on plan assets, taking into consideration local market conditions and the specifi c allocation of plan assets.

The assumptions used to determine the accrued benefi t obligation and the benefi t plan expense are as follows:

Defi ned contribution and other plans
We also maintain defi ned contribution plans for certain employees. The total expense recognized for the defi ned contribution plan is as 
follows:

Expenses if recognized as they arose
The total expense arising for the defi ned benefi t pension plans, defi ned contribution pension plans, government pension plans and other benefi t 
plans if we had recognized all costs and expenses as they arose is as follows:
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$ millions
Pension 

benefi t plans
Other benefi t 

plans

2008  $  179  $  61
2009   186   60
2010   193   60
2011   201   60
2012   211   60
2013 – 2017   1,228   300

The minimum contributions for 2008 are anticipated to be $ 25 million for defi ned benefi t pension plans and $ 35 million for other benefi t plans. 
These estimates are subject to change since contributions are affected by various factors, such as market performance, regulatory requirements, 
and management’s ability to change funding policy.

Benefi t payments
The following benefi t payments, which refl ect expected future services, as appropriate, are expected to be paid either by CIBC or from 
the trust funds:

Note 22 Income Taxes

Total Income Taxes
$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005
Consolidated statement of operations
Provision for income taxes – Current  $  178  $ 284  $ 537

– Future   346   356   252

   524   640   789

Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
OCI    1,059   268   (120)
Accounting policy changes   (4)(1)   –   11(2)

Other    (18)   (5)   (11)

   1,037   263   (120)

 $  1,561  $ 903  $ 669

(1) Represents the transitional adjustment on adoption of the CICA handbook sections 3855, 3865, 1530 and 3251. See Note 1 for additional information.
(2) Represents the effect of implementing the CICA AcG-15, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”.

Components of Income Tax
$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Current income taxes
Federal  $  799  $ 357  $ 192
Provincial   400   192   107
Foreign   8   (14)   162

   1,207   535   461

Future income taxes
Federal   147   81   23
Provincial   68   36   12
Foreign   139   251   173

  354   368   208

 $  1,561  $ 903  $ 669

Future income tax balances are included in other assets (Note  9) 
and other liabilities (Note 11) and result from temporary differences 
between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts on the consolidated balance sheet.

The combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax 
rate varies each year according to changes in the statutory rates 
imposed by each of these jurisdictions and according to changes in 
the proportion of our business carried on in each province. We are 
also subject to Canadian taxation on income of foreign branches. 

Earnings of foreign subsidiaries would generally only be subject to 
Canadian tax when distributed to Canada. Additional Canadian taxes 
that would be payable if all foreign subsidiaries’ retained earnings 
were distributed to the Canadian parent as dividends are estimated 
at $ 302 million (2006: $567 million; 2005: $420 million).

The effective rates of income tax in the consolidated statement 
of operations are different from the combined Canadian federal and 
provincial income tax rate of 34.8% (2006: 34.8%; 2005: 35.0%) as 
set out in the following table:
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Reconciliation of Income Taxes
$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005
Combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax 

rate applied to income before income taxes  $ 1,340  34.8%  $ 1,155 34.8%  $ 324 35.0%
Income taxes adjusted for the effect of:

Earnings of foreign subsidiaries   (402) (10.4)   (267) (8.1)   (159) (17.2)
Tax-exempt income   (197) (5.1)   (150) (4.5)   (124) (13.4)
Tax-exempt gains   (70) (1.8)   (2) (0.1)   (43) (4.7)
Non-controlling interest portion of VIE income   (2) (0.1)   (10) (0.2)   (55) (5.9)
Net realized foreign exchange gains on investments 

in foreign operations   22 0.6   31 0.9   203 21.9
Non-tax effected litigation provisions   (25) (0.7)   9 0.3   699 75.4
Other   (142) (3.7)   (126) (3.8)   (56) (6.0)

Income taxes in the consolidated statement of operations  $ 524 13.6%  $ 640 19.3%  $ 789 85.1%

Sources of Future Income Tax Balances
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006
Future income tax assets

Tax loss carryforwards  $  342  $ 649
Provisions   312   398
Allowance for credit losses    344   380
Unearned income   93   83
Buildings and equipment   40   57
Pension and employee benefi ts   25   24
 Securities revaluation   83    –
Other    43    60

   1,282   1,651
Valuation allowance (VA)    (80)   (107)

  1,202   1,5 44
Future income tax liabilities   

Lease receivables   510   631
Pension and employee benefi ts   71   82
Buildings and equipment   57   60
Goodwill   59   55
 Securities revaluation   86    34
 Foreign currency   48    14
Other   116    49

   947   925

Net future income tax asset net of VA  $  255  $ 619

Note 23 Earnings (Loss) per Share

$ millions, except per share amounts, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Basic EPS
Net income (loss)  $  3,296  $ 2,646  $ (32)
Preferred share dividends and premiums   (171)   (132)   (125)

Net income (loss) applicable to common shares  $  3,125  $ 2,514  $ (157)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (thousands)   336,092   335,135   339,263
Basic EPS  $ 9.30  $ 7.50  $ (0.46)

Diluted EPS
Net income (loss) applicable to common shares  $  3,125  $ 2,514  $ (157)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (thousands)    336,092   335,135   339,263
Add: stock options potentially exercisable(1) (thousands)   3,224   3,225   3,646

Weighted-average diluted common shares outstanding(2) (thousands)    339,316   338,360   342,909

Diluted EPS(3)  $  9.21  $ 7.43  $ (0.46)

(1)  Excludes average options outstanding of  4,565 with a weighted-average exercise price of $ 100.45; average options outstanding of 9,894 with a weighted-average exercise price of $84.69; and average 
options outstanding of 460,560 with a weighted-average exercise price of $73.08 for the years ended October 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, as the options’ exercise prices were greater than 
the average market price of CIBC’s common shares. Also excluded are average options outstanding of 112,778 with a weighted-average exercise price of $37.60 for the year ended October 31, 2005 as 
these options are performance based and the vesting criteria for these options had not been achieved.

(2) Convertible preferred shares and preferred share liabilities have not been included in the calculation since we have the right to redeem them for cash prior to the conversion date.
(3) In case of a loss, the effect of stock options potentially exercisable on diluted earnings (loss) per share is anti-dilutive; therefore, basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share are the same.

 In 2007, the repatriation of capital and retained earnings from our 
foreign operations resulted in a $22 million (2006: $47 million) increase 
in income tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations 
arising from the reversal of related accumulated balances in the 
“Foreign currency translation adjustments” component of AOCI.

In 2005, we recorded a $297 million tax benefi t relating to the 
Enron-related litigation settlements. There continues to be signifi cant 
uncertainty associated with the ultimate tax benefi ts to be realized 
on the settlements. In 2005, the repatriation of capital and retained 
earnings from our foreign operations resulted in a $375 million 
increase in income tax expense arising from the reversal of related 
accumulated balances in the foreign currency translation adjustments 
component of shareholders’ equity. A related $67 million future tax 
asset arising from 2004 foreign exchange losses and a $59 million 
reversal of a portion of the valuation allowance relating to the future 
tax asset from our U.S. operations were recognized.

Included in the tax loss carryforwards amount is a $ 74 million 
(2006: $128 million) future tax asset related to Canadian capital 
losses, which have no expiry date .

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006
Net future income tax asset net of 

VA recorded in:    
Other assets (Note 9)  $ 297  $ 619
Other liabilities (Note 11)   (42)   –

 $ 255  $ 619
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Note 24 Commitments, Guarantees, Pledged Assets and Contingent Liabilities

Commitments
Off-balance sheet credit-related arrangements
Credit-related arrangements are generally off-balance sheet 
instruments and are typically entered into to meet the fi nancing 
needs of clients. In addition, there are certain exposures for which 
we could be obligated to extend credit, that are not recorded on 
the consolidated balance sheet. Our policy of requiring collateral or 
other security to support credit-related arrangements and the types of 
security held is generally the same as for loans. The contract amounts 
shown below for credit-related arrangements represent the maximum 
amount of additional credit that we could be obligated to extend. The 
contract amounts also represent the credit risk amounts should the 
contracts be fully drawn, the counterparties default and any collateral 
held proves to be of no value. As many of these arrangements will 
expire or terminate without being drawn upon, the contract amounts 
are not necessarily indicative of future cash requirements or actual 
risk of loss.

Credit-related Arrangements
Contract amounts

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Securities lending(1)(2)  $ 69,221  $ 61,593
Unutilized credit commitments(3)   40,735   39,267
Backstop liquidity facilities   17,278   16,733
Standby and performance letters of credit   6,353   6,094
ALM credit derivatives written options(4)   103   184
Documentary and commercial letters of 

credit   169   90
Other   353   374

 $  134,212  $ 124,335

(1)  Includes the full contract amount of custodial client securities totalling $ 51.7 billion (2006: $44.6 
billion) lent by CIBC Mellon Global Securities Services Company.

(2)  Excludes securities lending of $ 4.9 billion (2006: $5.4 billion) for cash because it is reported on 
the consolidated balance sheet as obligations related to securities lent or sold under repurchase 
agreements.

(3)  Includes irrevocable lines of credit totalling $30.1  billion (2006: $28.4 billion), of which 
$    18.5 billion (2006: $14.8 billion) will expire in one year or less, and excludes personal lines of 
credit and credit card lines, which are revocable at our discretion at any time.

(4)  Represents notional amount of ALM credit derivatives written options which are also reported 
as derivatives in Note  14.

Securities lending
Securities lending represents our credit exposure when we lend our 
own or our clients’ securities to a borrower and the borrower defaults 
on the redelivery obligation. The borrower must fully collateralize the 
security lent at all times.

Unutilized credit commitments
Unutilized credit commitments include the undrawn portion of lending 
facilities that we have approved to meet the business requirements of 
clients, as well as undrawn commitments in our mortgage business. 
These lines are subject to review at least annually, and may include 
various conditions that must be satisfi ed prior to drawdown. The 
credit risk associated with these lines arises from the possibility that a 
commitment will be drawn down as a loan. The amount of collateral 
obtained, if deemed necessary, is based on our credit evaluation of 
the borrower, and may include a charge over the present and future 
assets of the borrower.

Backstop liquidity facilities
We provide irrevocable backstop liquidity facilities primarily to ABCP 
conduits. We are the financial services agent for some of these 
conduits, while other conduits are administered by third parties. 
 Commencing September 17, 2007, the liquidity facilities for our 
 sponsored ABCP programs for Crisp Trust, Franchise Trust  , Franchise 
Trust II, Macro Trust, Safe Trust, Smart Trust and Sound Trust require 
us to provide  funding, subject to the satisfaction of certain  limited 
conditions with respect to the conduits, to fund non-defaulted assets. 
 Prior to September 17, 2007, we provided liquidity facilities in the 
event that funding for such conduits  became unavailable as a result 
of a general market disruption.

Standby and performance letters of credit
These represent an irrevocable obligation to make payments to third 
parties in the event that clients are unable to meet their contractual 
fi nancial or performance obligations. The credit risk associated with 
these instruments is essentially the same as that involved in extending 
irrevocable loan commitments to clients. The amount of collateral 
obtained, if deemed necessary, is based on our credit evaluation of 
the borrower and may include a charge over present and future assets 
of the borrower.

ALM credit derivatives written options
Credit default swaps for ALM purposes are written to create synthetic 
loan exposures to a reference borrower, to manage credit portfolio 
diversifi cation. The notional amount of these contracts is included 
in the table above. The notional amount represents the maximum 
amount at risk in the event of a default of the reference borrower.

Documentary and commercial letters of credit
Documentary and commercial letters of credit are short-term 
instruments issued on behalf of a client, authorizing a third party, 
such as an exporter, to draw drafts on CIBC up to a specifi ed amount, 
subject to specifi c terms and conditions. We are at risk for any drafts 
drawn that are not ultimately settled by the client; however, the 
amounts drawn are collateralized by the related goods.

Long-term commitments for leases
CIBC has obligations under non-cancellable leases for buildings and 
equipment.

Future minimum lease payments for all lease commitments for 
each of the fi ve succeeding years and thereafter are as follows:

Lease Commitments(1)(2)(3)(4)

$ millions, as at October 31, 2007

2008 $    277
2009 256
2010 237
2011 206
2012 174
2013 and thereafter 1,192

(1)  Total rental expense (excluding servicing agreements) in respect of buildings and equipment 
charged to the consolidated statement of operations was $ 357 million (2006: $337 million; 
2005: $409 million).

(2)  Includes future minimum lease commitments under sale-leaseback amounting to $ 35 million in 
2008, $ 26 million in 2009, $ 25 million in 2010, $ 21 million in 2011, $ 20 million in 2012 and 
$ 205 million in 2013 and thereafter.

(3)  We sublet some of our premises and expect to receive $47 million from third-party tenants on 
the sub-leases. Our lease commitments in the table above are gross of the sub-lease income.

(4)  Includes $ 28 million of assigned lease commitments in connection with our sale of the U.S. 
private client and asset management division to Oppenheimer in 2003. We remain contingently 
liable under the terms of the leases that have been assigned to Oppenheimer in the event of an 
Oppenheimer default.
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Other commitments
As an investor in merchant banking activities, we enter into 
commitments to fund external private equity funds and investments in 
equity and debt securities at market value at the time the commitments 
are drawn. In connection with these activities, we had commitments 
to invest up to $ 299 million as at October 31, 2007 (2006: $355 
million).

Guarantees
Guarantees include contracts that contingently require the guarantor 
to make payments to a guaranteed party based on (a) changes in an 
underlying economic characteristic that is related to an asset, liability 
or an equity security of the guaranteed party; (b) failure of another 
party to perform under an obligating agreement; or (c) failure of a 
third party to pay its indebtedness when due. The following table 
summarizes significant guarantees issued and outstanding as at 
October 31:

Standby and performance letters of credit
Standby and performance letters of credit represent written 
undertakings that back fi nancial and performance obligations of the 
client. These guarantees convey similar credit risk characteristics as 
loans. We may collateralize standby and performance letters of credit 
by various forms, including cash, securities and other assets pledged. 
The term of these guarantees may vary with the majority of them 
expiring within one year.

Credit derivatives written options
Credit derivatives written options represent an indirect guarantee 
of indebtedness of another party or the market value of a reference 
asset as they require us to transfer funds to a counterparty upon the 
occurrence of specifi ed events related to the credit worthiness of a 
reference obligor or the market value of a reference asset. For these 
types of derivatives, determination of our counterparties’ underlying 
exposure related to the obligor or reference asset (outside of the 
derivative contract) is not required in order to classify the derivative 
as a guarantee. The term of these contracts may vary with the majority 
of them expiring over fi ve years.

Other derivative written options
Derivative contracts include written options on interest rate, foreign 
exchange, equity, commodity, and other, which provide the holder the 
right to purchase or sell an underlying item for a pre-determined price. 
The derivative would be considered a guarantee if the counterparty 
held an asset, liability or equity security related to the underlying in 
the derivative contract. We do not track the intention or holdings of 
a given counterparty when writing an option, and as a result, the 
maximum potential liability for derivative contracts that may meet 
the defi nition of a guarantee is unavailable. We generally hedge our 
exposure to these contracts by entering into a variety of offsetting 
derivative contracts and security positions. The term of these contracts 
are generally within one to fi ve years.

Other indemnifi cation agreements
In the ordinary course of operations, we enter into contractual 
arrangements under which we may agree to indemnify the 
counterparty to such arrangement from any losses relating to a 
breach of representations and warranties, a failure to perform certain 
covenants, or for claims or losses arising from certain external events 
as outlined within the particular contract. This may include, for 
example, losses arising from changes in tax legislation, litigation or 
claims relating to past performance. In addition, we have entered into 
indemnifi cation agreements with each of our directors and offi cers to 
indemnify those individuals, to the extent permitted by law, against 
any and all claims or losses (including any amounts paid in settlement 
of any such claims) incurred as a result of their service to CIBC. In 
most indemnities, maximum loss clauses are generally not provided 
for, and as a result, no defi ned limit of the maximum potential liability 
exists. We believe that the likelihood of the conditions arising to 
trigger obligations under these contract arrangements is remote. 
Historically, any payments made in respect of these contracts have 
not been signifi cant. No amounts related to these indemnifi cations, 
representations and warranties are refl ected within the consolidated 
fi nancial statements as at October 31, 2007.

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006
Maximum 

potential future 
payment(1)

Maximum 
potential future 

payment(1)

Securities lending with 
indemnifi cation(2)  $ 43,287  $ 37,921

Standby and performance letters 
of credit   6,353   6,094

Credit derivatives written options   67,283   59,769
Other derivative written options See narrative See narrative
Other indemnifi cation 

agreements See narrative See narrative 

(1)  The total collateral available relating to these guarantees was $53.7 billion (2006: $48.9 
billion).

(2)  Securities lending with indemnifi cation is the full contract amount of custodial client securities 
lent by CIBC Mellon Global Securities Services Company.

As many of these guarantees will expire or terminate without being 
drawn upon and do not take into consideration the possibility of 
recovery by means of recourse provisions or from collateral held or 
pledged, the maximum potential future payment amounts are not 
indicative of future cash requirements or credit risk, and bear no 
relationship to our expected losses from these arrangements. As at 
October 31, 2007, we had a liability of $4.0 billion (including credit 
derivatives written options of $4.0 billion) (2006: $43 million) on our 
consolidated balance sheet related to the guarantees noted above 
(excluding other derivative written options). For other derivative 
written options, we had a liability of $5.6 billion (2006: $5.4 billion), 
including $631 million (2006: $16 million) related to total return 
swaps. For total return swaps with notional amount of approximately 
$6.5 billion (2006: $3.8 billion) and a fair value of approximately 
$(470) million (2006: $6 million), we can be called upon to purchase 
the reference assets at par with the simultaneous termination of the 
swap contracts. See narrative for additional details on other derivative 
written options.

Securities lending with indemnifi cation
As part of our custodial business, indemnifi cations may be provided 
to security lending clients to ensure that the fair value of securities 
lent will be returned in the event that the borrower fails to return 
the indemnifi ed securities, and collateral held is insuffi cient to cover 
the fair value of those securities. The term of these indemnifi cations 
varies, as the securities loaned are recallable on demand.
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Pledged assets
In the ordinary course of business, we pledge our own or may sell or 
re-pledge third-party assets against liabilities, or to facilitate certain 
activities. The following table presents the sources and uses of pledged 
assets and collateral:

Securities collateral
Client securities collateral available for sale or repledge is received in 
connection with securities lending, securities borrowed or purchased 
under resale agreements, margin loans and to collateralize derivative 
contracts. Client securities collateral may be sold or re-pledged by 
CIBC in connection with securities borrowed, lent or sold under 
repurchase agreements, for margin loans, as collateral for derivative 
transactions or delivered to cover securities sold short.

Contingent liabilities
CIBC is a party to a number of legal proceedings, including regulatory 
investigations, in the ordinary course of its business. While there exists 
an inherent diffi culty in predicting the outcome of such matters, based 
on current knowledge and consultation with legal counsel, we do not 
expect that the outcome of any of these matters, individually or in 
aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated 
financial position. However, the outcome of any such matters, 
individually or in aggregate, may be material to our operating results 
for a particular year.

Enron
In 2005, CIBC  recorded a provision (included within “Non-interest 
expenses – other”) of $2.83 billion pre-tax ($2.53 billion after-tax) to 
cover two large Enron-related settlements and to reserve against a 
number of additional Enron-related actions pending at the time. Since 
2005, the vast majority of those additional Enron-related actions have 
been fi nally resolved or settled in principle, and any likely exposure 
from remaining Enron-related actions is not expected to exceed the 
current reserve.  

 Hedge funds
In 2005, CIBC reached settlements with the SEC and the Offi ce of 
the New York State Attorney General (NYAG) with respect to matters 
involving CIBC’s dealings with certain hedge funds that engaged in 
the market timing of mutual funds. In 2005, we accrued $108 million 
to cover the settlements, which was allocated equally to CIBC Retail 
Markets and CIBC World Markets business lines.  

$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Sources of pledged assets and collateral
CIBC assets

Deposits with banks  $  27  $ –
Securities   24,648   23,775
Other assets   3,010   1,710

   27,685   25,485
Client assets

Collateral received and available for sale or 
repledged(1)   106,216   89,825

Not sold or repledged   16,307   5,978

   89,909   83,847

 $  117,594  $ 109,332
Uses of pledged assets and collateral

Securities lent(2)  $  69,221  $ 61,593
Obligations related to securities lent or sold 

under repurchase agreements   28,944   30,433
Obligations related to securities sold short   13,137   13,788
Margins for exchange traded futures and 

options, and collateralized derivative 
transactions   5,543   2,443

Foreign governments and central banks(3)   181   547
Clearing systems, payment systems and 

depositories(3)   568   528

 $  117,594  $ 109,332

(1)  Includes the full contract amount totalling $ 54.3 billion (2006: $47.2 billion) of collateral received 
for custodial client securities lent by CIBC Mellon Global Securities Services Company.

(2)  Includes the full contract amount of custodial client securities totalling $ 51.7 billion (2006: 
$44.6 billion) lent by CIBC Mellon Global Securities Services Company.

(3)  Includes assets pledged in order to participate in clearing and payment systems and depositories 
or to have access to the facilities of central banks in foreign jurisdictions.
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Note 26 Related-party Transactions

In the ordinary course of business, we provide banking services and 
enter into transactions with related parties on terms similar to those 
offered to non-related parties. Related parties include directors, senior 
offi cers and their affi liates(1), joint ventures and investments accounted 
for under the equity method. Loans to these related parties are based 
on market terms and conditions. We offer a subsidy on annual fees and 
preferential interest on credit card balances to senior offi cers which is 
the same as offered to any of our employees.

Directors, senior offi cers and their affi liates(1)

As at October 31, 2007, loans to directors and their affi liates totalled 
$ 46 million (2006: $28 million), letters of credit and guarantees 
totalled $ 11 5 million (2006: $120 million) and the undrawn credit 
commitments totalled $ 218 million (2006: $292 million).

As at October 31, 2007, loans to senior officers and their 
affi liates totalled $ 13 million (2006: $21 million), letters of credit 
and guarantees totalled $75 million (2006: nil) and undrawn credit 
commitments totalled $ 119 million (2006: $4 million).

We offer various stock-based compensation plans to senior 
offi cers and directors. See Note  20 for details.

Joint ventures
CIBC is a 50/50 joint venture partner with CIT Financial Ltd. in CIT 
Business Credit Canada Inc., which is engaged in asset-based lending 
in Canada. As at October 31, 2007, our loans to and common 
share investment in the joint venture totalled $ 409 million (2006: 
$313 million) and $ 1 million (2006: $1 million), respectively, which 
are eliminated upon proportionate consolidation. In addition, as at 
October 31, 2007, we had letters of credit and guarantees of $ 141 
million (2006: $126 million) and undrawn credit commitments of 
$ 74 million (2006: $68 million) to the joint venture. The loans were 
made to the joint venture under a Master Funding agreement, under 

Note 25 Concentration of Credit Risk

Credit Exposure by Country of Ultimate Risk
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Canada
United 
States

Other 
countries Total Canada

United 
States

Other 
countries Total

On-balance sheet
Major assets(1)(2)(3)  $  248,476  $  43,439  $  37,105  $  329,020  $ 213,546  $ 47,265  $ 29,010  $ 289,821

Off-balance sheet         
Credit-related arrangements         
Lines of credit         

Financial institutions  $  20,340  $  1,557  $  817  $  22,714  $ 18,449  $ 1,982  $ 2,333  $ 22,764
Governments    3,900   –    14    3,914   3,419   –   –   3,419
Other    26,818    2,249    2,318    31,385   25,984   2,846   987   29,817

   51,058    3,806    3,149    58,013   47,852   4,828   3,320   56,000

Other credit-related arrangements(4)

Financial institutions   63,021   7,143   341    70,505   54,718   7,635   460   62,813
Governments   16   –   4   20   13   –   201   214
Other   3,657   489   1,528   5,674   3,280   789   1,239   5,308

   66,694    7,632    1,873    76,199   58,011   8,424   1,900   68,335

 $   117,752  $  11,438  $  5,022  $  134,212  $ 105,863  $ 13,252  $ 5,220  $ 124,335
Derivative instruments
By counterparty type

Financial institutions(5)  $  4,461  $  6,165  $  6,564  $  17,190  $ 2,671  $ 3,670  $ 5,988  $ 12,329
Governments   2,211   –   –    2,211   1,764   –   –   1,764
Other   2,024   448   198    2,670   1,548   622   233   2,403

   8,696    6,613    6,762    22,071   5,983   4,292   6,221   16,496
Less: effect of master netting agreements   (4,030)   (2,916)   (3,790)    (10,736)   (3,419)   (3,417)   (3,963)   (10,799)

 $  4,666  $  3,697  $  2,972  $  11,335  $ 2,564  $ 875  $ 2,258  $ 5,697

(1)  Major assets consist of cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with banks, interest-bearing deposits with banks, loans, securities, securities borrowed or purchased under resale agreements, customers’ 
liability under acceptances, and derivative instruments market valuation, after deduction of allowance for credit losses.

(2) Includes Canadian currency of $ 254.8 billion (2006: $218.5 billion) and foreign currencies of $ 74.2 billion (2006: $71.3 billion).
(3)  Includes loans and acceptances, net of allowance for credit losses, totalling $ 170.7 billion (2006: $151.9 billion). No industry or foreign jurisdiction accounts for more than 10% of this amount in either 

2007 or 2006.
(4) Includes the full contract amount of custodial client securities totalling $ 51.7 billion (2006: $44.6 billion) lent by CIBC Mellon Global Securities Services Company.
(5)  Includes positive fair values of $3.3 billion (2006: nil), notional amounts of $7.6 billion (2006: $2.3 billion), with U.S. fi nancial guarantors hedging our derivative contracts relating to the U.S. subprime 

residential mortgage market. Management has assessed the credit exposure relating to these contracts in determining their fair value. Market and economic conditions relating to these counterparties 
may change in the future, which could result in signifi cant future losses.

Concentrations of credit exposure may arise with a group of counterparties that have similar economic characteristics or are located in the 
same geographic region. The ability of such counterparties to meet contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changing economic, 
political or other conditions.

The amounts of credit exposure associated with our on- and off-balance sheet fi nancial instruments are summarized in the following table:

(1)  Affi liates include spouses, children under 18 and supported family members (“dependants”) of 
directors and senior offi cers. It also includes entities over which directors, senior offi cers and their 
dependants have signifi cant infl uence. Signifi cant infl uence can be exerted by: greater than 10% 
voting interest; entities in which they have a management contract; entities in which they have 
positions of management authority/senior positions; entities in which they are a general partner; 
and trusts in which they are trustees or substantial benefi ciaries.
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Note 27 Segmented and Geographic Information

CIBC has two strategic business lines: CIBC Retail Markets which 
services retail customers and CIBC World Markets which services 
wholesale customers. These strategic business lines are supported by 
Corporate and Other.

CIBC Retail Markets comprises CIBC’s retail and wealth 
management businesses. We provide a full range of financial 
products and services to individual and small business clients, as well 
as investment management services globally to retail and institutional 
clients. 

CIBC World Markets is the wholesale and corporate banking arm 
of CIBC, providing a range of integrated credit and capital markets, 
investment banking, and merchant banking products and services 
to clients in key fi nancial markets in North America and around the 
world. We provide capital solutions and advisory expertise across 
a wide range of industries as well as research for our corporate, 
government and institutional clients.

These business lines are supported by fi ve functional groups – 
Administration, Technology and Operations; Corporate Development; 
Finance; Legal and Regulatory Compliance; and Risk Management . 
The activities of these functional groups are included within Corporate 
and Other with their revenue, expenses and balance sheet resources 
generally being allocated to the business lines. Corporate and Other 
also includes CIBC Mellon joint ventures, and other income statement 
and balance sheet items, including the general allowance, not directly 
attributable to the business lines. The general allowance applicable 
to FirstCaribbean is determined locally and is included in CIBC Retail 
Markets.

During the year, we moved the Treasury function from Treasury 
and Risk Management into Finance. 

During 2006, we merged the Administration and Technology 
and Operations functional groups and renamed it “Administration, 
Technology and Operations”. We also moved certain administrative 
functions from this group into a new “Legal and Regulatory 
Compliance” functional group.

Results for our operating segments are based on our internal 
fi nancial reporting systems. The assets and liabilities of the segments 
are transfer priced, using a funding methodology that best refl ects their 
nature and term, at wholesale market rates. Non-interest expenses are 
attributed to the segment to which they relate. Indirect expenses are 
allocated to the segments based on appropriate criteria.

To measure and report the results of operations of the two 
strategic business lines, we use a Manufacturer/Customer Segment/
Distributor Management Model. The model uses certain estimates and 
allocation methodologies in the preparation of segmented fi nancial 
information. Under this model, internal payments for sales and trailer 
commissions and distribution service fees are made among the 
business lines. Periodically, the sales and trailer commission rates paid 
to segments for certain products are revised and applied prospectively. 
Revenue, expenses and balance sheet resources relating to certain 
activities are fully allocated to other business lines. Management uses 
this model to assess the performance of our customer segments, 
products and delivery channels.

which the joint venture borrows money equally from both of its joint 
investors. Interest is charged at prime on Canadian dollar loans and 
at Base Rate (Canada) for U.S. dollar loans.

CIBC is a 50/50 joint venture partner with The Bank of New York 
Mellon in two joint ventures: CIBC Mellon Trust Company (CMT), 
which provides trust services; and CIBC Mellon Global Securities 
Services Company, which provides custodial and asset services, both 
in Canada. As at October 31, 2007, our common share investments in 
the joint ventures totalled $ 99 million (2006: $99 million), which are 

eliminated upon proportionate consolidation.  In addition, CIBC holds 
client overdraft balances on behalf of CMT of $6 million (2006: nil).

Equity-accounted entities
As at October 31, 2007, investments in and loans to equity-accounted 
entities totalled $ 279  million (2006: $1,096 million)(1) and the 
undrawn investment and credit commitments totalled $ 15 million 
(2006: $37 million).

(1)  Includes $790 million of our investment in FirstCaribbean. During the year, we purchased a 
controlling interest in FirstCaribbean (Note  3).



 CIBC Annual Accountability Report 2007 131

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Results by Business Line and Geographic Distribution

$ millions, for the year ended October 31

CIBC 
Retail 

Markets

CIBC 
World 

Markets
Corporate 
and Other

CIBC 
Total Canada(1)

United
States(1)  Caribbean(1)

Other
countries(1)

2007 Net interest income  $  4,614  $  (385)  $  329  $  4,558  $ 3,155  $ 70  $ 1,198  $ 135
Non-interest income   4,861   2,394   253    7,508   6,185   1,453   425   (555)
Intersegment revenue(2)    (224)   230   (6)   –   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a
Total revenue    9,251    2,239    576    12,066    9,340    1,523    1,623    (420)
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses   653   (30)   (20)    603   620   (11)   16   (22)
Amortization(3)    109   19   125   253   180   25   43   5
Other non-interest expenses    5,208   1,864   287   7,359   6,039   732   312   276
Income before income taxes and 

non-controlling interests    3,281    386    184    3,851    2,501    777    1,252    (679)
Income taxes   674   (219)   69    524   534   228   61   (299)
Non-controlling interests   27   4   –    31   –   4   27   –
Net income (loss)  $  2,580  $  601  $  115  $  3,296  $ 1,967  $  545  $  1,164  $  (380)
Average assets(4)  $  214,940  $  112,959  $  621  $  328,520  $ 239,206  $ 35,913  $ 28,473  $ 24,928

2006 Net interest income  $ 4,401  $ (213)  $ 247  $ 4,435  $ 3, 654  $  143  $ 51 7  $  121
Non-interest income   3,943   2,651   322   6,916    5,052   1,2 84    300    280
Intersegment revenue(2)   (217)   222   (5)   –   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a

Total revenue   8,127   2,660   564   11,351    8,706   1, 427   817    401
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses   651   (39)   (64)   548   603   (48)   (1)   (6)
Amortization(3)   80   21   134   235   203   26   1   5
Other non-interest expenses   4,908   2,020   325   7,253    6,094    856   3 1    272
Income before income taxes and 

non-controlling interests   2,488   658   169   3,315   1, 806   5 93   78 6   1 30
Income taxes   630   9   1   640   4 21   17 8   6    35
Non-controlling interests   –   3   26   29   –   29   –   –

Net income  $ 1,858  $ 646  $ 142  $ 2,646  $ 1,3 85  $ 38 6  $ 78 0  $  95
 Average assets(4)  $ 187,790  $ 102,874  $ 613  $ 291,277  $ 216,500  $ 43,739  $ 12,685  $ 18,353

2005 Net interest income  $ 4,445  $ 279  $ 213  $ 4,937  $ 4,1 48  $ 371  $ 306  $ 11 2
Non-interest income   3,958   2,883   720   7,561    5,541   1,379   296   34 5
Intersegment revenue(2)   (218)   222   (4)   –   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a

Total revenue   8,185   3,384   929   12,498   9, 689   1,750   602   45 7
Provision for (reversal of) credit losses   772   (17)   (49)   706   73 7   (17)   –   (1 4)
Amortization(3)   89   23   114   226   193   26   2   5
Other non-interest expenses   5,062   5,126(5)   451   10,639   6,24 8   4,0 79(5)   33   279
Income (loss) before income taxes and 

non-controlling interests   2,262   (1,748)   413   927   2,51 1   (2,33 8)   567   18 7
Income taxes   689   (148)   248   789   84 2   (184)   72   5 9
Non-controlling interests   –   71   99   170   34   136   –   –

Net income (loss)  $ 1,573  $ (1,671)  $ 66  $ (32)  $ 1,63 5  $ (2,29 0)  $ 495  $ 12 8
Average assets(4)  $ 185,145  $ 103,018  $ 682  $ 288,845  $ 207,983  $ 48,168  $ 12,281  $  20,413

(1) Net income (loss) and average assets are allocated based on the geographic location where they are recorded.
(2) Intersegment revenue represents internal sales commissions and revenue allocations under the Manufacturer/Customer Segment/Distributor Management Model.
(3) Includes amortization of buildings, furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements and other intangible assets.
(4) Assets are disclosed on an average basis as this measure is most relevant to a fi nancial institution and is the measure reviewed by management.
(5) Includes $2.83 billion provision for Enron-related litigation.
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Note 28 Reconciliation of Canadian and United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

CIBC’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Canadian GAAP. The following table summarizes 
the more signifi cant differences that would result if U.S. GAAP were 
applied in the preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements. 

We have not included a consolidated statement of cash fl ows prepared 
under U.S. GAAP because the differences from the consolidated 
statement of cash fl ows prepared under Canadian GAAP are not 
material.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet
$ millions, as at October 31 2007 2006

Canadian 
GAAP Adjustments U.S. GAAP

Canadian 
GAAP Adjustments U.S. GAAP

ASSETS
Cash and non-interest-bearing deposits with banks  $ 1,457  $ –  $ 1,457  $ 1,317  $ –  $ 1,317
Interest-bearing deposits with banks   12,290   –   12,290   10,536   –   10,536
Securities       

Trading   58,779   10,903   69,682   62,331   1,368   63,699
AFS   17,430   (1,218)   16,212   –   20,828   20,828
FVO   10,291   (10,291)   –   –   –   –
Investment   –   –   –   21,167   (21,167)   –

Securities borrowed or purchased under resale 
agreements   34,020   –   34,020   25,432   –   25,432

Loans   162,654   170   162,824   145,625   2   145,627
Other       

Derivative instruments   24,075   –   24,075   17,122   889   18,011
Customers’ liability under acceptances   8,024   –   8,024   6,291   –   6,291
Land, buildings and equipment   1,978   –   1,978   2,032   –   2,032
Goodwill   1,847   –   1,847   982   –   982
Other intangible assets   406   –   406   192   18   210
Other assets   8,927   707   9,634   10,957   (567)   10,390

 $ 342,178  $ 271  $ 342,449  $ 303,984  $ 1,371  $ 305,355
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Deposits  $ 231,672  $ (1,038)  $ 230,634  $ 202,891  $ (4,349)  $ 198,542
Other       

Derivative instruments   26,688   –   26,688   17,330   1,045   18,375
Acceptances   8,249   –   8,249   6,297   –   6,297
Obligations related to securities sold short   13,137   418   13,555   13,788   1,301   15,089
Obligations related to securities lent or sold under 

repurchase agreements   28,944   –   28,944   30,433   –   30,433
Other liabilities   13,728   1,214   14,942   14,716   3,383   18,099

Subordinated indebtedness   5,526   –   5,526   5,595   –   5,595
Preferred share liabilities   600   (600)   –   600   (600)   –
Non-controlling interests   145   –   145   12   –   12
Shareholders’ equity       

Preferred shares   2,331   600   2,931   2,381   600   2,981
Common shares   3,133   (80)   3,053   3,064   (92)   2,972
Treasury shares   4   –   4   (19)   –   (19)
Contributed surplus   96   (96)   –   70   –   70
Retained earnings   9,017   402   9,419   7,268   92   7,360
AOCI       

Foreign currency translation adjustments   (1,087)   (100)   (1,187)   (442)   (78)   (520)
 Net unrealized  losses on AFS securities   (66)   (5)   (71)   –   (29)   (29)
Net gains on cash fl ow hedges   61   –   61   –   157   157
Additional pension obligation   –   –   –   –   (59)   (59)
Unrecognized post  retirement obligations   –   (444)   (444)   –   –   –

 $ 342,178  $ 271  $ 342,449  $ 303,984  $ 1,371  $ 305,355
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations
$ millions, except share and per share amounts, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Net income (loss) as reported  $ 3,296  $ 2,646  $ (32)

Net-interest income       
Preferred share liabilities   31   31   66

Non-interest income       
Trading revenue   215   –   –
FVO revenue   (156)   –   –
Capital repatriation   –   (23)   (301)
Derivative instruments and hedging activities   239   11   57
Equity accounting   (1)   36   (15)
Valuation adjustments   (10)   (2)   (6)
Insurance reserves and deferred acquisition costs   (15)   (31)   –
Other   –   2   73

Non-interest expenses       
Employee future benefi ts   40   (27)   15
Stock-based compensation   92   260   (7)

Adjustment related to the application of the effective interest rate method(1)   50   –   –
Net change in income taxes due to the above noted items   (156)   (58)   357
Change in accounting policy, net of income taxes(2)   –   36   –

  329   235   239

Net income based on U.S. GAAP   3,625   2,881   207
Preferred share dividends and premiums   (202)   (163)   (191)
Net income applicable to common shareholders  $ 3,423  $ 2,718  $ 16
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding (thousands)   336,092   335,135   339,263
Add: stock options potentially exercisable(3)   3,591   3,709   4,261
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding (thousands)   339,683   338,844   343,524
Basic EPS  $ 10.18  $ 8.11  $ 0.05
Diluted EPS  $ 10.08  $ 8.02  $ 0.05

(1) Refer to the section “Guidance for quantifying fi nancial statement misstatements” on page 134 for details.
(2) Represents the effect of implementing the Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS) 123 (revised 2004), “Share-based Payment”.
(3) For the portion of the awards for which the holder has the option to exercise in cash or shares, it is assumed that 70% of the awards will be exercised for shares.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive  Income (Loss)
$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Net income based on U.S. GAAP $ 3,625 $ 2,881  $ 207

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments (667) (119) (25)
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on AFS securities(1) (42) 26 (435)
Gains (losses) on cash fl ow hedges (96) (25) 136
Change in additional pension obligation – (4) –

Total other comprehensive loss (805) (122) (324)

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 2, 820 $ 2,759  $ (117)

(1) Net of reclassifi cation adjustments for net realized gains (including other-than-temporary impairments) included in net income of $79 million (2006: $14 million; 2005: $332 million).

$ millions, for the year ended October 31 2007 2006 2005

Change in foreign currency translation adjustments $ (1,139)  $ (295)  $ (255)
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on AFS securities 11   (13)   236
Gains (losses) on cash fl ow hedges 52   14   (74)
Change in additional pension obligation –   2   (1)

$ (1,076)  $ (292)  $ (94)

The income tax (expense) benefi t allocated to each component of OCI is presented in the table below:
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A. Derivative instruments and hedging activities
The new Canadian GAAP derivative and hedge accounting standards 
became substantially harmonized with U.S. GAAP upon the adoption 
of the new Canadian GAAP financial instrument standards on 
November 1, 2006. However, U.S. GAAP reported earnings may 
continue to exhibit signifi cant volatility in any given period relative to 
Canadian GAAP because:

We continue to elect not to designate certain derivatives as hedges • 

for U.S. GAAP accounting purposes;
Canadian GAAP continues to permit the use of cash instruments • 

for certain foreign currency hedges, which are disallowed under 
U.S. GAAP; and
Our residential mortgage commitments are treated as der• iv atives 
carried at fair value only under Canadian GAAP.

Prior to November 1, 2006, there were additional differences in the 
accounting for derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting purposes 
as only U.S. GAAP had prescribed requirements for the accounting 
for fair value and cash fl ow hedges, including the requirement that all 
derivatives in an effective accounting hedge be carried at fair value. 
In addition, only U.S. GAAP required that all derivative instruments 
embedded in fi nancial instruments that are not clearly and closely 
related to the economic characteristics of the underlying host fi nancial 
instruments, be recognized at fair value in the consolidated fi nancial 
statements. Under Canadian GAAP prior to November 1, 2006, only 
embedded derivatives within equity-linked deposit contracts, were 
carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet with changes 
in fair value refl ected in current earnings.

B.  Guidance for quantifying fi nancial statement 
misstatements

As of November 1, 2006, CIBC adopted Staff Accounting Bulletin 
(SAB) 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when 
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements”, 
that describes the approach that should be used to quantify the 
materiality of a misstatement and provides guidance on how prior 
year misstatements, when they are identifi ed, should be considered 
in the current year fi nancial statements. SAB 108 requires registrants 
to quantify misstatements using both a balance sheet and an income 
statement approach and evaluate whether either approach results 
in quantifying a misstatement, when all relevant quantitative and 
qualitative factors are considered, as material to current or prior 
period financial statements. Based on SAB 108, an immaterial 
adjustment has been recognized to increase current year’s earnings 
by $50 million ($36 million after-tax) related to the application of the 
effective interest rate method.

C. Fair value option
Canadian GAAP provides an entity with the option to designate certain 
instruments on initial recognition as instruments that it will measure 
at fair value through the consolidated statement of operations. As 
U.S. GAAP will not provide for the concept of a fair value option 
until we adopt SFAS 159 “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets 
and Liabilities” in 2009 (see discussion below under “Future U.S. 
accounting policy changes” section), instruments to which we have 
applied the fair value option under Canadian GAAP receive different 
classifi cation under U.S. GAAP. Certain securities to which we apply 
the fair value option under Canadian GAAP are classifi ed as trading 
securities under U.S. GAAP. Certain traded loans under U.S. GAAP 
are also carried at fair value in Canadian GAAP under the fair value 

option. Other instruments to which we have applied the fair value 
option  under Canadian GAAP, such as certain deposit liabilities, are 
not currently at fair value under U.S. GAAP.

D. AFS securities
Under Canadian GAAP, prior to the implementation of the new 
fi nancial instrument standards on November 1, 2006, investment 
securities were carried at cost or amortized cost. U.S. GAAP requires 
these securities to be classifi ed as either HTM or AFS securities. Since 
November 1, 2006, accounting for AFS securities is consistent under 
both GAAPs.

E. Equity accounting adjustments
Effective November 1, 2003, the application of the equity method 
of accounting was substantially harmonized with U.S. GAAP for 
investments over which we exert signifi cant infl uence. Previously, we 
accounted for these investments on a cost basis. Both Canadian and 
U.S. GAAP now require the use of the equity method to account for 
such investments when the investor exerts signifi cant infl uence.

Under Canadian GAAP, certain of our investments in limited 
partnerships are accounted for on a cost basis. Canadian GAAP 
requires the use of the equity method of accounting when we exert 
signifi cant infl uence over the investee, whereas U.S. GAAP requires 
the use of the equity method to account for such investments when 
the equity interest is more than minor. We record an impairment 
loss on these investments when there is evidence of an other-than-
temporary decline in their value.

F. Variable interest entities
Effective November 1, 2004, we adopted the CICA AcG-15, 
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”, for the purpose of 
Canadian GAAP. Upon adoption of AcG-15, the Canadian GAAP 
accounting treatment of VIEs is now essentially harmonized with 
U.S. GAAP, under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
Interpretation Number (FIN) 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest 
Entities”.

G.  Determination of fair value and valuation 
adjustments

Under the new Canadian GAAP financial instruments standards 
effective November 1, 2006, trading securities must now be valued 
based on quoted bid or ask prices, while U.S. GAAP continues to 
require the use of quoted closing prices. In addition, certain valuation 
adjustments that continue to apply under Canadian GAAP are not 
permitted under U.S. GAAP.

H. Employee future benefi ts
For Canadian GAAP purposes, we retroactively adopted the 
accounting requirements for “Employee Future Benefi ts”. For U.S. 
GAAP purposes, we continue to recognize certain unamortized 
actuarial losses incurred prior to the adoption date of the Canadian 
standard on November 1, 2000. As a result, there will continue to be 
an adjustment to income until amounts, previously deferred under 
U.S. GAAP, have been fully amortized into income.

Under Canadian GAAP, an entity’s accrued benefi t asset is limited 
to the amount it can realize in the future by applying any surplus 
to reduce an entity’s contributions. The valuation allowance is not 
included under U.S. GAAP, resulting in an adjustment to U.S. GAAP 
income.
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In addition, actuarial gains and losses related to post-employment 
benefi ts are not permitted to be deferred under U.S. GAAP.

Prior to October 31, 2007, U.S. GAAP required that the 
unfunded accumulated benefi t obligation be recorded as additional 
minimum liability and the excess of the unfunded accumulated benefi t 
obligation over the unrecognized prior service cost be recorded in OCI 
for defi ned benefi t plans. The actuarial valuation of the accumulated 
benefi t obligation is based on current and past compensation levels 
and service rendered to date.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 158, “Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension Plan and Other Post-
retirement Plans – an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 
106 and 132(R)”. This statement does not change the current or 
future net income recognition related to post-retirement benefi t 
plans, but requires an entity to recognize the full over-funded or 
under-funded status of a defi ned benefi t post-retirement plan as an 
asset or liability in its consolidated balance sheet. As a result, the 
unamortized balances that were previously netted from the funded 
status are now reported as a component of AOCI and the concept of 
an additional minimum liability no longer applies. The statement also 
requires an entity to measure the funded status of a plan as of the 
date of its year-end consolidated balance sheet.

The requirement under SFAS 158 to recognize the funded status 
of a defi ned benefi t post-retirement plan was applied prospectively 
as at October 31, 2007 and as a result, other liabilities decreased 
by $180 million, other assets decreased by $565 million, and AOCI 
decreased by $385 million (net of tax of $189 million). The requirement 
to measure the plan assets and benefi t obligations as of the date of 
the entity’s year-end balance sheet is effective in 2009.

I. Stock-based compensation
Effective November 1, 2005, we adopted the SFAS 123 (revised 2004), 
“Share-based Payment” (123-R) using the modified prospective 
transition method. SFAS 123-R requires companies to measure and 
record compensation expense for stock options and other share-
based payments based on the instruments’ fair value on the grant 
date. The new standard requires the cost of awards to be recognized 
in the consolidated statement of operations over the vesting period. 
In addition, forfeitures are required to be estimated upfront in the 
year an award is granted.

We had prospectively adopted the fair value method of 
accounting as of November 1, 2001 under SFAS 123, “Accounting for 
Stock-based Compensation” and the CICA handbook section 3870, 
“Stock-based Compensation and Other Stock-based Payments”. 
Under Canadian GAAP and SFAS 123, we recognize compensation 
expense in the year of grant for past service awards regardless of 
the vesting provisions. However, SFAS 123-R requires the costs to be 
recognized over the vesting period of the award for awards granted 
in respect of periods commencing on or after November 1, 2005. 
We recognized forfeitures as they occurred under SFAS 123 as we 
currently do under Canadian GAAP, whereas, upon the adoption 
of SFAS 123-R in 2006 forfeitures are no w estimated. A cumulative 
adjustment for a change in accounting policy was recognized for 
estimated forfeitures on all unvested awards totalling $36 million 
after-tax. A compensation expense difference for estimated forfeitures 
will exist for all new awards granted subsequent to the adoption of 
SFAS 123-R.

Under Canadian GAAP, the cost of SARs is measured assuming 
that all options eligible for SARs are exercised for cash. Under U.S. 
GAAP, for SARs granted prior to the date of adoption of SFAS 123, 

the FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 28, “Accounting for SARs and 
Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans”, continues to apply, 
under which the accrual is determined as an estimate (based on 
past experience) of the proportion of stock options expected to be 
exercised for cash.

J. Liabilities and equity
Under Canadian GAAP, preferred shares that are convertible into a 
variable number of common shares at the option of the holder are 
presented as liabilities rather than as equity, and dividend payments 
and premiums on redemption arising from such preferred shares are 
treated as interest expense within the consolidated statement of 
operations rather than as dividends within the consolidated statement 
of changes in shareholders’ equity. Under U.S. GAAP, these preferred 
shares are reported within the balance sheet as equity, and related 
dividend payments and premiums on redemption of these preferred 
shares have no impact on U.S. GAAP earnings.

K. Capital repatriation
Certain of our subsidiaries have repatriated capital by returning capital 
and distributing dividends to the Canadian domestic entity. Canadian 
GAAP requires that a proportionate amount of gains and losses 
accumulated within the foreign currency translation adjustments 
account be recognized in earnings when there has been a reduction in 
the net investment of a self-sustaining foreign operation. U.S. GAAP 
prohibits such recognition except where the foreign operation has 
either been substantially or entirely liquidated. Recording the capital 
repatriation based upon U.S. GAAP resulted in no change to non-
interest income this year (2006: $23 million decrease), and a decrease 
in the tax expense by $22 million (2006: $27 million). This also  reduced 
the  “Foreign currency translation adjustments” component within 
AOCI by $100 million (2006: $78 million).

L. Income taxes
Under Canadian GAAP, tax rate changes are reflected in the 
measurement of the future income tax balances when they are 
considered substantively enacted. Under U.S. GAAP, only the enacted 
tax rates under current legislation are required to be used.

Under U.S. GAAP certain tax benefi ts associated with dividends 
on preferred shares classifi ed as equity must be included in income tax 
expenses as opposed to being included directly in equity.

M. Netting of fi nancial instruments
Under Canadian GAAP, two or more separate fi nancial instruments 
can be presented on a net basis if certain criteria are met. In addition 
to the same criteria, under U.S. GAAP, only fi nancial instruments with 
the same party can be presented on a net basis.

N. Insurance accounting
Policy benefi t liabilities and policy acquisition costs
Under U.S. GAAP, the liabilities for traditional term and accidental 
death insurance contracts are determined using the net level premium 
method, which includes assumptions for mortality, morbidity, policy 
lapses, surrenders, investment yields, policy dividends and direct 
operating expenses. These assumptions are not revised unless it 
is determined that existing deferred acquisition costs cannot be 
recovered. Under Canadian GAAP, the liabilities for insurance 
contracts are determined using the Canadian asset liability method, 
which incorporates assumptions for mortality, morbidity, policy lapses 
and surrenders, investments yields, policy dividends, operating and 
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policy maintenance expenses. To recognize the uncertainty in the 
assumptions underlying the calculation of the liabilities, a margin 
(provision for adverse deviations) is added to each assumption. These 
assumptions are reviewed at least annually and updated in response 
to actual experience and market conditions.

Under U.S. GAAP, the policy acquisition costs which vary with 
and are primarily related to the production of new business are 
deferred and amortized in proportion to the premium revenue. Under 
Canadian GAAP, the costs of acquiring new life insurance and annuity 
business are implicitly recognized as a reduction in insurance claims 
and policy benefi t liabilities.

O. Trade date accounting
For securities transactions, the trade date basis of accounting is 
used under U.S. GAAP for both the consolidated balance sheet 
and statement of operations. However, under Canadian GAAP, the 
settlement date basis of accounting is used for the consolidated 
balance sheet whereas the trade date basis of accounting is used for 
the consolidated statement of operations.

P. Accounting changes
We adopted the following accounting standards in 2007, none of 
which had a material impact to our consolidated fi nancial position or 
results of operations: 

SFAS 154, “Accounting Changes & Error Corrections” harmonized • 

U.S. GAAP with Canadian GAAP with respect to reporting a change 
in accounting estimate, a change in accounting policy, correcting 
an error in previously issued consolidated fi nancial statements, 
and reporting and disclosing accounting changes in interim-period 
information.
SFAS 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments • 

– an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140” allows 
any hybrid financial instrument that contains an embedded 
derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation under SFAS 133, 
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” 
to be carried at fair value in its entirety, with changes in fair value 
recognized in earnings. We did not elect to measure any hybrid 
fi nancial instrument at fair value.
SFAS 156, “Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets – an • 

amendment of FASB Statement 140” requires an entity to initially 
measure its servicing rights and obligations at fair value and either 
amortize the initial fair value over the service period or  revalue them 
each period at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in 
net income.
Emerging Issues Task Force Abstract (EITF) 04-5, “Determining • 

Whether a General Partner, or The General Partners as a Group, 
Controls a Limited Partnership or Similar Entity When The Limited 
Partners Have Certain Rights”, presumes that a general partner 
controls a limited partnership unless the presumption can be 
overcome. The EITF was effective after June 29, 2005, for all 
newly formed limited partnerships and for any pre-existing limited 
partnerships that modifi ed their partnership agreements after that 
date. The EITF was effective for general partners of all other limited 
partnerships on November 1, 2006.

Q. Future U.S. accounting policy changes
We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting the standards 
listed below:

Accounting for uncertainty in income taxes
In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty 
in Income Taxes – an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” 
that provides guidance on how to recognize and measure income 
tax benefi ts. This interpretation requires that an entity recognize in 
its consolidated fi nancial statements, the impact of a tax position, if 
that position is more likely than not to be sustained on examination 
by the taxing authorities, based on technical merits of the position. 
Tax benefi ts resulting from such a position should be measured as 
the maximum amount that is more likely than not on a cumulative 
basis to be sustained on examination. FIN 48 also provides guidance 
on derecognition, classifi cation, interest and penalties on income 
taxes and accounting in interim periods. The provisions of FIN 48 are 
effective beginning November 1, 2007, with the cumulative effect of 
the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to the 
November 1, 2007 opening retained earnings.

While we have not completed our evaluation of FIN 48, we do 
not expect the impact to be material.

Fair value measurement
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, “Fair Value 
Measurements”, which offers enhanced guidance for determining fair 
values to measure assets and liabilities. It provides a single defi nition 
of fair value, together with a framework for measuring it, and requires 
additional disclosure about the use of fair value to measure assets 
and liabilities. The statement specifi es a hierarchy whereby the fair 
value with the highest priority is a quoted price in an active market. 
Under the statement, fair value measurements are disclosed by level 
within that hierarchy. The statement will require the use of bid and ask 
prices as appropriate, rather than closing prices, for valuing securities. 
In addition, the statement will require that the “day-1” profi t on 
derivatives fair valued without the benefi t of observable market inputs 
be recognized in income rather than effectively deferred and then 
recognized on an appropriate basis over the life of the derivatives. 
SFAS 157 is effective beginning November 1, 2008.

Fair value option for fi nancial assets and liabilities
On February 15, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159, “The Fair Value 
Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities”, which provides an entity 
the option to report selected fi nancial assets and liabilities at fair value. 
Under this standard, entities may irrevocably elect to report fi nancial 
instruments and certain other items at fair value on a contract by 
contract basis with changes in value reported in earnings. SFAS 159 is 
effective beginning November 1, 2008.
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Note 29 Future Canadian Accounting Policy Changes

We will be required to adopt the following accounting standards for 
Canadian GAAP purposes in fi scal 2008:

Leveraged leases
In July 2006, the FASB issued a FASB Staff Position (FSP) FAS 13-2, 
“Accounting for a Change or Projected Change in the Timing of 
Cash Flows Relating to Income Taxes Generated by a Leveraged 
Lease Transaction”, which amends SFAS 13, “Accounting for Leases”, 
certain aspects of which are incorporated in the CICA Emerging Issues 
Committee Abstract (EIC) 46, “Leveraged Leases”. The FSP is effective 
beginning November 1, 2007.

The FSP requires that a change in the estimated timing of the 
cash fl ows relating to income taxes results in a recalculation of the 
timing of income recognition from the leveraged lease. We currently 
estimate that adopting the FSP will result in an after-tax non-cash 
charge to opening retained earnings of between $65 million to 
$95 million. An amount approximating the non-cash charge would 
then be recognized into income over the remaining lease terms.

Capital disclosures
In December 2006, the CICA issued a new handbook section 
1535, “Capital Disclosures”, which requires an entity to disclose  its 
objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. This new 
standard is effective beginning November 1, 2007.

Financial instruments
In December 2006, the CICA issued two new handbook sections 
3862, “Financial Instruments – Disclosures” and 3863, “Financial 
Instruments – Presentation”. These new standards are effective 
beginning November 1, 2007.

These sections replace the handbook section 3861, “Financial 
Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation”. These new sections enhance 
disclosure requirements on the nature and extent of risks arising from 
fi nancial instruments and how the entity manages those risks.




